

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled

INVESTIGATING FUNCTIONS OF GCN5 AND SNF1 IN HIS3 **ACTIVATION**

presented by

Yang Liu

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for the

Ph.D.

THESIS

2007

degree in

Genetics Program

Men-Major Professor's Signature

11/4/2006

Date

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

LIBRARY Michigan State University

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
		2/05 p:/CIRC/DateDue.indd-p.1

INVESTIGATING FUNCTIONS OF GCN5 AND SNF1 IN HIS3 ACTIVATION

By

Yang Liu

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Genetics Program

ABSTRACT

INVESTIGATING FUNCTIONS OF GCN5 AND SNF1 IN HIS3 ACTIVATION

By

Yang Liu

Gcn5p serves as the catalytic subunit of the SAGA histone acetyltransferase (HAT) complex and is critical for HIS3 activation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. To identify molecular functions that act downstream of or in parallel with Gcn5 protein, an EMS and a minitransposon derived mutagensis libraries were screened for suppressors that rescue the transcriptional defects of *HIS3* caused by a catalytically inactive mutant Gcn5p, the E173H mutant. A truncated Reg1 protein, Reg1(1-740), was found to be a dominant suppressor. The function of Reg1(1-740) protein requires an intact cis-acting element for the Gcn4 transcriptional activator, and doesn't change the canonical HAT activity of Gcn5p. Reg1 protein functionally and physically interacts with a histone H3 kinase, Snflp. Indeed, Snflp plays an important role for normal and Reg1(1-740)-dependent HIS3 activation. However, substituting the phosphorylation residue in H3, i.e. Ser10, with alanine or glutamate neither attenuates nor augments the suppression phenotypes. These results argue against an essential role of H3 phosphorylation in HIS3 expression. Both Reg1(1-740) and overexpressed Snf1p rescue the E173H allele of gcn5 selectively, suggesting physical interactions between Gcn5p and these two proteins. In vivo copurification experiments confirmed this notion. Moreover, Gcn5p is a substrate of Snf1 kinase in vitro and the phosphorylation of Gcn5p in vivo is dependent on the Snf1p. A quadruple mutation of Gcn5 (T203A/S204A/T211A/Y212A, TSTY/4A) that diminished

the *in vitro* phosphorylation also impairs *HIS3* transcription *in vivo*. Interstingly, this mutant, as well as the *snf1* Δ mutation, is suppressed by deleting *SPT3* or *SPT8*, suggesting that Snf1p and TSTY residues of Gcn5p function antagonized the inhibitory effects of Spt3p and Spt8p. Furthermore, Spt3 protein interacts with Gcn5 protein *in vitro*, which raises the possibility that Spt3p inhibits Gcn5p function by direct interaction and such inhibition is relieved by the Snf1p-mediated phosphorylation of Gcn5p or/and Spt3p. Our study might unravel an uncharacterized regulatory network intrinsic to the SAGA coactivator complex, of which the composition and molecular functions are well conserved in human cells.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Min-Hao Kuo for the unbelievable time and effort he spent on me during the last five years. Without his encouragement and support, all these work would not be accomplished. His guidance is a treasure for me for ever. I want to thank my thesis committee members, Dr. Triezenberg, Dr. Arnosti and Dr. Henry, for their valuable suggestions and comments in my research. I want to thank Jing, our lab mom, for her selfless help in my research and life. And thank to my best friend in the lab, Dave Almy. I'll never forget the pleasure and sadness we go through together. I also want to thank many lab members, Asha, Dawei, Jianjun, for their help in my research. I also want to thank peoples in Genetics program and Department of Biochemistry. And finally, I want to thank my family, my wife Weiwei, my son Max, my parents and parents-in-law.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER I: LITERATURE REVIEW	1

Part I: Post-translational modification of proteins	2
Part II: Histone modifications	7
Part III: SAGA and histone acetyltransferase	13
Part IV: Snf1	16
Part V: Research interest and significance	19
References	21

Abstract	36
Introduction	37
Materials and Methods	41
Results	47
Discussion	58
Acknowledgement	64
References	65
Tables	75
Figures	78

CHAPTER III: SNF1P ACTIVATES <i>HIS3</i> TRANSCRIPTION BY ANTAGONIZING THE INHIBITORY EFFECTS OF SPT3P AND SPT8P	
Abstract	95
Introduction	96
Materials and Methods	100
Results	105
Discussion	112
Future plan	115
Acknowledgement	117
References	118
Tables	123
Figures	125

References		159
References	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	139

138

139

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER II: HISTONE H3 SER10 PHOSPHORYLATION-INDEPENDENT FUNCTION OF SNF1 AND REG1 PROTEINS RESCUES A GCN5⁻ MUTANT IN HIS3 EXPRESSION

Table 1 Yeast strain list	75
Table 2 Plasmid construct list	77

CHAPTER III: SNF1P ACTIVATES *HIS3* TRANSCRIPTION BY ANTAGONIZING THE INHIBITORY EFFECTS OF SPT3P AND SPT8P

Table 1 Yeast strain list	123
Table 2 Plasmid list	124

APPENDIX: IDENTIFICATION OF SUPPRESSORS THAT BYPASS THE GCN5 REQUIREMENT BY SCREENING AN EMS MUTAGENESIS LIBRARY CREATED FROM A GCN5⁻ STRAIN

Table 1 Summary of screening	141
Table 2 Summary of spore analysis	149
Table 3 Summary of dominance test	153

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER II: HISTONE H3 SER10 PHOSPHORYLATION-INDEPENDENT FUNCTION OF SNF1 AND REG1 PROTEINS RESCUES A GCN5⁻ MUTANT IN HIS3 EXPRESSION

Figure 1 Identification of a BGR suppressor rescuing the gcn5 E173H mutant	
Figure 2 Characterization of the Reg1(1-740) BGR suppressor	80
Figure 3 The <i>BGR</i> suppressor is semidominant and selectively rescues the E173H defects of the GCN pathway	82
Figure 4 SNF1 is important for HIS3 expression and BGR phenotypes	85
Figure 5 H3 Ser10 phosphorylation is not required for the BGR phenotypes	87
Figure 6 Biochemical interactions of Gcn5/Snf1 and Gcn5/Reg1(1-740) proteins	88
Figure S1 Reg1(1-740) protein does not rescue <i>snf1</i> -3-AT hypersensitivity	91
Figure S2 Genetic interaction between Gcn5 and Snf1 for HIS3 expression	92

CHAPTER III: SNF1P ACTIVATES *HIS3* TRANSCRIPTION BY ANTAGONIZING THE INHIBITORY EFFECTS OF SPT3P AND SPT8P

Figure 1 Overproducing Snf1 protein causes Gcn5p hyperphosphorylation in vivo	125
Figure 2 The TSTY/4A mutation of Gcn5 was suppressed by deleting SPT3	127
Figure 3 Spt3p antagonizes Snf1p function in HIS3 activation	130
Figure 4 Both $gcn5TSTY/4A$ and $snfl \Delta$ are suppressed by deleting SPT8	132

13	3
•	13

I gale o Breet mendenon oetheen oenop and optop minimut minimut in ite	Figure	6 Direct	interaction	between	Gcn5p and	Spt3p		13:	5
--	--------	----------	-------------	---------	-----------	-------	--	-----	---

APPENDIX: IDENTIFICATION OF SUPPRESSORS THAT BYPASS THE GCN5 REQUIREMENT BY SCREENING AN EMS MUTAGENESIS LIBRARY CREATED FROM A GCN5⁻ STRAIN

Figure 1 HIS3-lacZ reporter expression in selected BGR mutants	142
Figure 2 Northern analyses of the bgr candidates	144
Figure 3A Strategy of dominance test	152
Figure 3 Dominance test	154
Figure 4 Complementation test	156

CHAPTER I

Literature Review

Literature review

Part I: Post-translational modification of proteins:

The phenotypes and the behavior of an organism are not only decided by the genetic information it contains, but are also largely affected by the environment. The posttranslational modification (PTM) of the gene products - proteins, is a strategy of the cell to adapt to the uncertain and frequently changing environment. There is a variety of protein PTMs in nature. Aside from protein degradation and restricted protease digestion, most easily observed modifications are adding a molecule covalently. These molecules can be very small, such as acetylation (lysine), phosphorylation (serine, threonine, tyrosine and histidine), methylation (lysine and arginine), nitrosylation (cysteine) and glycosylation (serine) etc., or relatively large, such as myristoylation (amino terminus), ubiquitylation (lysine) and sumoylation (lysine). These modifications might change the charge or the conformation of the protein, or in other cases, the attached group provides the better surface for the binding partners. In result, the activity or the cellular localization of the protein is altered. Post-translational modifications are involved in almost all cellular processes such as cell sorting, signal transduction, gene transcription, cell cycle regulation and DNA damage repair. The PTMs can be found almost everywhere in the cell, from the outer surface, to the very inside of the nucleus.

Cell surface: Glycosylation and environmental sensing

The first place to encounter extracellular environment change is the cell surface. These environmental factors may include small molecules like hormones and toxins or much larger particles like viruses, bacteria or other cells. Receptors located on the cell surface are sensors for those extracellular factors. However, the receptor per se is not sufficient for recognition. Carbohydrate groups, implanted by multiple glycosylation enzymes, are required for the function of receptors in most cases, and probably are the primary elements that interact with the outside signals (110). We can imagine that in the absence of or incorrect glycosylation will cause problems for cells in their toxin defense, cell-cell communication, and differentiation. Indeed, abnormal glycosylation patterns are known to be markers for, and in some cases the cause of, certain disease states including cancer (30). For exemple, in colonic cancer cells the mucin O-glycan chains, which are responsible for interactions between cancer cells and their microenvironment, are enriched in certain forms instead of a large range of structures (13). Moreover, different cancer cells display unique glycan epitopes, which could serve as targets for cancer diagnosis and treatment (19).

Cytoplasm: phosphorylation and signal transduction

Protein phosphorylation is probably the most common post-translational modification, as the protein kinases are the third largest protein family in the human genome and represent 2% of proteins (79). The roles of protein phosphorylation in signal transduction are evolutionarily conserved among eukaryotes and have been extensively studied over the

years. Adding or removing the phosphate group can serve as an ON/OFF switch in responding to chemical or physical stress. Good examples are the MAP kinase pathways, in which the phosphorylation of the target protein causes increased kinase activity, or elimination of phosphatase activity to deliver the signal to downstream targets (27). Ser/Thr phosphorylation is thought to play intramolecular roles, such as promoting the conformational change or taking part in the catalysis. On the other hand, tyrosine phosphorylation is more likely involved in intermolecular interactions. Accurate phosphorylation regulation of the MAPK cascades is important for cells keep normal functions, including gene expression, cell proliferation, cell survival and death, and cell motility (20). The MAPK pathway is activated in virtually all melanomas (95). The oncogenic activation of tyrosine kinases is a common feature in cancer (93).

Nucleus:

The eukaryotic nucleus is the major place that DNA replication, gene transcription and DNA damage repair happens. More and more proteins involved in those cellular processes have been shown to require post-translational modifications for proper function. Some examples related to gene activation will illustrate the importance of PTMs.

PTMs of activators: p53

The tumor suppressor protein p53 is the target of various post-translational modifications, which modulate p53 functions at different levels. There are at least 17 phosphorylation sites found in human p53 (12). Most of the known phosphorylation sites are located in the

N-terminus of the protein (Ser6, 9, 15, 20, 33, 37 and 46, and Thr18, and 81), within or close to the transactivation domain (12). Multiple kinases show redundancy and each kinase may target several sites. Serine 15 phosphorylation of p53 can be achieved by the function of ATM/ATR (105, 130), DNAPK (6), ERKs (114), and p38 kinase(71). Any of the above reactions will direct the cell to undergo apoptosis. Additionally, p38 kinase is able to mediate the phosphorylation of Ser33, Ser46, and Ser392. This phosphorylation causes either p53 stabilization or increased DNA-binding ability (12).

As a multifunctional protein, phosphorylation of p53, although quite complicated, is insufficient to regulate the complexity of the processes it controls. Some other PTMs, such as acetylation (146), ribosylation (140), ubiquitylation (14) and sumoylation (21) are also important features for accurate behavior of p53. Phosphorylation and acetylation generally result in activation of p53 (12). Sumoylation at lysine 386 was reported to repress gene transcription (83). These modifications are highly interactive. The ubiquitylation, which is the first step for p53 turnover, requires the deacetylation of p53 (59). Also, phosphorylation of several serines by CK1 requires that Ser15 is phosphorylated (106). The dysfunctional p53 proteins derived from incorrect modifications are always associated with different kinds of cancers.

Besides p53, many other transcriptional activators/repressors and coactivator/corepressors are targets of post-translational modifications. In humans, p300mediated acetylation of c-myc results in turn-over of c-myc (38). Phosphorylation of p300 by Akt kinase will increase its histone acetyltransferase activity and facilitates its gene activation function (56). In yeast, AMPK/Snf1 will remove the negative effect of Mig1 repressor from gene promoters by phosphorylation under nutrient limiting conditions (96).

Part II: Histone modifications

Eukaryotic DNA is packed into chromatin by wrapping around the histone octamers. Such a highly compact structure forms a barrier for the DNA or chromosome related regulatory processes. Four approaches have been found to temporarily or permanently alter the organization of chromatin structure to overcome such obstacle.

- 1. Histone variants. Such as H3.3 and H2A.Z, which are incorporated in a DNA synthesis independent manner (2, 47, 61, 144).
- 2. ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling (121).
- 3. DNA methylation (111).
- 4. Covalent histone modifications (see below)

The regulatory machineries ubiquitously utilize post-translational modifications to either alter the charge of the histones or to provide extra binding sites for regulators. It is hard to imagine how diverse and complicated the modification schemes are if a regulator needs to distinguish its target locus from millions of similar nucleosomes in the genome. Histone modification enzymes dynamically mark the nucleosomes with phosphorylation, methylation, acetylation, biotinylation and ubiquitylation etc., at different residues and in different combinations (29, 64, 99, 107). The histone modifications are also crossregulated to modulate the chromatin functions more precisely. For example, histone H3 S10 phosphorylation facilitates K9/K14 acetylation at the *INO1* promoter (76). The K4 methylation and K9/K14 acetylation of histone H3 correlate very well through different developmental stages at chicken β -globin locus (75). Rad6-mediated ubiquitination of K123 of histone H2B is a prerequisite for H3 K4 and K79 methylations and is important for telomeric silencing in *S. cerevisiae* (91, 127). A "histone code" hypothesis has been proposed, in which individual modifications or combination of modifications may extend the information potential of the genetic (DNA) code by recruiting different regulatory factors to the specifically modified chromatin loci (125)

To realize a "histone code", two classes of factors are required. The first class includes enzymes that generate or remove post-translational modifications. The second class includes proteins capable of interacting with histones bearing specific modifications.

The extensively studies on histone post-translational modifications vote "YES" to the above question. Here I will summarize the two classes of factors identified using the examples of histone methylation and phosphorylation. Histone acetylation will be discussed in the next part.

Histone methylation

Histone methylation occurs on the side-chain nitrogen atoms of lysine or arginine residues. Neither lysine nor arginine methylation alters the charge status of the residues. Such chemical natures support the assumption that the modification is a "mark" for recruiting regulatory factors but not affects the nucleosomal structure. Lysine can exist in mono-, di- or trimethylated forms, while arginine is able to accept up to two methyl

groups. In fact, different modification stages are reflected in different physiological functions (35, 80).

Histone arginine methylation can be conducted by several protein arginine methyltransferase (PRMTs). Among them, PRMT1 and CARM1 catalyze asymmetric dimethylation of H4 R3 to facilite transcriptional activation (126, 138). PRMT5, a human SWI/SNF chromatin remodeler associated protein, functions as a repressor by symmetrically methylating R8 of histone H3 (94). On the other hand, methyl groups can be removed from arginine residues of histones by PADI4-mediated deimination reaction to create a citrulline residue (28, 139). So far, no methylated arginine specific binding motif has been found. However, PRMT1 mediated H4 R3 methylation is essential and sufficient for histone acetylation at chicken β -globin region (55), which suggests a modification specific recognition mechanism involved.

Lysine methylations of histones are mainly detected in H3 and H4 (107). Several histone methyltransferases (HMTs) with the signature SET domain were identified in past 6 years. The first characterized HMT is Suv39h/Clr4 that conducts H3 K9 methylation (8, 67). Later, more H3 K9 HMTs were found, including G9a, ESET and EZH2 (31, 66, 129, 137, 143). Interestingly, G9a and ESET are di-methylases, whereas Suv39h is a tri-methylase. Consistent with their activity, Suv39h resides in heterochromatin, while G9a is largely localized to euchromatic regions and acts as either a transcriptional corepressor or coactivator (68, 92), implies the number of methyl-groups is important for the information read out. For instance, H3 K9 methylation is always linked to silenced

chromatin. The specific recognition of lysine 9 methylated histone H3 (mainly trimethylated) by the chromodomain of HP1 protein is a key step in heterochromatin formation (8, 67). Even mono- or di-methylated forms of K9 are usually associated with repressor complexes or inactivated chromatin (84, 98).

Opposite to K9, lysine 4 methylation of H3 usually correlates with activated chromatin, especially the tri-methylated form (41, 108). The H3 K4 HMTs also contain the SET domains. The activity and substrate specificity of K4 HMTs are largely dependent on the protein complexes they are assembled into (107). Set1 of the budding yeast creates permissive chromatin by adding the di-methyl mark (99). MLL1 HMT is associated with coactivator complexes and catalyzes the tri-methylation of K4 to aid gene transcription (32, 141). Chromodomain proteins can also read the methylated K4 code, as Chd1 from yeast and human is able to target K4 methylated H3 (43, 100, 120). WDR5, which contains WD40 repeats, is also shown to bind methylated K4 (141). However, these proteins can not distinguish tri-memethylation from di-methylated forms. Recently, several groups reported that the PHD finger of NURF and ING proteins specifically recognize trimethylated H3 lysine 4 (73, 97, 115, 142).

Methylation of many other lysines in H3 and H4 N-terminal domains or core domains is also important for physiological functions. Set2 mediated H3 K36 methylation is correlated with transcriptional elongation (87, 136). H3 K79 methylation, catalyzed by non-SET HMT Dot1, is a mark to set up chromatin domains (39, 85, 90, 132, 145). Set8 catalyzed methylation of lysine 20 of H4 is involved in chromatin condensation in mitotic regulation (26, 102).

In addition to methylation, lysine residues are the target for several other modifications, like acetylation, sumoylation, ubiquitylation and biotinylation, etc. (64, 103, 107). Indeed, these modifications may compete for the same residues, like lys9 of H3 is found in multiple modification forms (64, 103, 107). It raise the importance of reversal of the methylation. A few enzymes that remove methyl-group have been identified in last two years. LSD1 is an FAD-dependent amine oxidase and capable of using methylated K4 as substrate (116, 117). The transcriptional repressor JHDM3A demethylates trimethyl histone H3 lysine 9 and lysine 36 (26, 63).

Histone phosphorylation

Phosphorylation is another important feature of histones in chromatin. So far, only serines or threonines in histones are known to be phosphorylated. The phosphorylation sites are found in all of the 4 core histones (S1, T119, and S129 of H2A; S10, S14 and S33 of H2B; T3, S10, T11, S28 and S31 of H3; S1 of H4). Consistent with histone code hypothesis, phosphorylation of different residues results in different cellular regulations. For example, H4 S1 and H3 S10/S28 phosphorylations play important roles in mitosis (9, 22, 54). S14 of H2B is rapidly phosphorylated at sites of DNA double-strand breaks (40). Sterile 20 kinase mediated H2B Ser10 phosphorylation is induced during apoptosis and meiosis in *S. cerevisiae* (3, 4). H3 S10 phosphorylation is correlated with transcriptional

activation (1, 76). Many histone kinases have been identified to write the phosphorylation code. Apart from the Sterile 20 kinase for H2B S10 phosphorylation mentioned above, NHK-1 phosphorylates T119 of H2A (5); Ipl1/Aurora-B kinase is responsible for H3 S10/28 phosphorylation (54); S10 of H3 can be also phosphorylated by Snf1 (76), Rsk2 (109), and MSK1 (69). On the other hand, not many code erasers (phosphatases) have been reported, except the PP1/Glc7 that mediates dephosphorylation of S10 to counteract the Ipl1 kinase (54).

Little is known about the proteins or motifs that specifically interact with phosphorylated histones. *In vitro* studies using phosphorylated peptide indicates the 14-3-3 module is capable of binding phosphorylated histone H3 (78). An independent study using tethered-catalysis yeast two-hybrid system (46) also detected the yeast 14-3-3 proteins Bmh1 and Bmh2 in the screening for phosphorylated H3 associating protein (Guo, et al, unpublished), which support the hypothesis that 14-3-3 proteins are phosphorylation code readers.

Part III: SAGA and histone acetyltransferase

Histone acetylation is one of the best studied post-translational modifications. In the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, the amino-termini of all 4 core histones possess multiple conserved lysine residues that are acetylated *in vivo*, like K9, K14, K18, and K23 in H3; K5, K8, K12, and K16 in H4; K4 and K7 in H2A; K11 and K16 in H2B (99, 103). The covalent linkage at an acetylgroup with the ε -amino group of lysine residue not only alters the structure of the amino acid, but also neutralizes the positive charge. Based on sequence homology and architecture of the catalytic domain, histone acetyltransferases (HAT) can be divided into five superfamilies, Gcn5-related acetyltransferase (GNAT), MOZ-Ybf2/Sas3-Sas2-Tip60 (MYST) related HATs, p300/CBP HATs, the general transcriptional HATs, and the nuclear hormone-related HATs (17).

Most HATs existed in multisubunit protein complexes and that regulate gene transcription and other cellular processes. The MYST family member Esa1 is the HAT component of yeast NuA4 complex that plays roles in gene silencing, cell cycle progression and DNA repair of the double-strand break (7, 23, 24). The largest TFIID components, the Taf1 protein, mediates histone acetylation in higher eukaryotic organisms to facilite transcriptional initiation (34, 52, 86). In contrast, the Elp3 acetyltransferase of the elongator complex modulates the transcriptional elongation process (50). The Gcn5 histone acetyltransferase of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is the catalytic subunit of multiple coactivator complexes, e.g. ADA, SAGA, and SALSA (44, 122). The ADA complex contains Ada2, Ada3/Ngg1, Gcn5 and Ahc1 (36). This complex might regulate the basal expression of *HIS3* gene (Kuo and Almy, unpublished). The SAGA and SALSA complexes are very similar except the Spt7 subunit is truncated and the Spt8 subunit is missing in SALSA complex.

The yeast SAGA complex is a 1.8MDa protein complex that consists of at least 19 components. Based on the order of discovery, these components are divided into several groups. The first group is Suppressor of Ty (Spt) proteins, includes Spt3, Spt7, Spt8, and Spt20 (44). A subset of the TATA-binding protein (TBP) associating factors (TAFs, Taf5, Taf6, Taf9, Taf10, and Taf12), initially identified as components of the TFIID general transcription factor, composes the second group of proteins in SAGA (44, 45). Transcriptional adapters are another group of proteins, including Ada1/Hfi1, Ada2, Ada3/Ngg1, and Ada4/Gcn5 (11). Among them, Ada2, Ada3 and Gcn5 form a core module for HAT activity (123).

Other than acting as a HAT that acetylates chromatin to stimulate gene transcription, SAGA also possesses other important activities. The Spt3 and Spt8 subunits interact with TBP and either inhibit or activate TBP function in gene transcription (10, 33, 37, 113). Chd1 is a chromodomain-containing protein that recognizes lys4 methylated histone H3, which may aid the nucleosome specific recruitment (100). The Ubp8deubiquitylation activity was also found to copurify with SAGA complex (51, 58, 70). Moreover, the

newly found component of SAGA, Sgf73/Sca7, can be subject to polyglutamineexpansion, which is important for the complex to behave like an acetyltransferase (82). Several subunits play structural roles to maintain the integrity of the complex. Ada1/Hfi1, Spt7 and Spt20 are such backbone proteins (123). The second group of architectural proteins consists of a few essential TAFs. Mutations in *TAF5*, *TAF10*, and *TAF12* also affect SAGA composition and integrity (45). Finally, the largest subunit, Tra1, which is shared between SAGA and NuA4 complexes, is able to interact with the acidic transcription activators. Such activity is thought to be the mechanism for the coactivator recruitment to the gene promoter (7, 15, 42).

About 10% of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* genes are controlled by SAGA (57). Most SAGA target genes are related to stress response and are regulated (57). Interestingly, mutations of the Spt3 module and the Gcn5 module affect different classes of genes, implying that the function of SAGA is more than that of a HAT (57). In most cases SAGA plays a positive role in gene transcription. However, SAGA is found to repress the *ARG1* gene when cells were grown in rich media (101).

Part IV: Snf1

Sucrose non-fermenting 1 (Snf1) is the yeast homolog of the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) family that play essential roles in regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism and cellular stress responses (16, 49, 62). The AMPK family is widely conserved through all eukaryotic organisms (49). By sensing the cellular AMP:ATP concentration ratio, AMPK is activated to shut off energy consuming (anabolic) pathways and to stimulate energy generating (catabolic) pathways (16). The mammalian AMPK plays a central role in the regulation of energy balance at the whole body level by responding to hormonal and nutrient signals in the nervous system (62). Mutations in AMPK cause cardiac hypertrophy and arrhythmia (16). The prevalence of obesity and its associated diseases drive the AMPK energy gauge receiving rising attentions. Indeed, AMPK is becoming an important therapeutic target for type 2 diabetes (48).

The functional AMPK complex exists in a heterotrimer that. The α subunit is the catalytic component of the complex. There is only one α subunit in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, which is encoded by *SNF1* gene (49). Snf4 is the regulatory γ subunit and is essential for activating the kinase activity (18, 72). Moreover, the complex requires one of the three β subunits, Gal83, Sip1 or Sip2 to tether Snf1 and Snf4 together (60). The three β subunits show great functional redundancy as the *snf1*⁻ phenotypes can be only achieved with all three subunits deleted (112). Recent studies suggest that the selection of β subunit incorporation may affect the cellular localization of the Snf1 complex (135). Upon glucose limitation, Gal83 directs the Snf1 protein into the nucleus, and Snf1-Sip1

complex relocates around the vacuole, while the Sip2 associated kinase remains cytoplasmtic (135). Other than that, Gal83 has the ability to interact with the Sip4 transcriptional activator (133). Sip2 has been implicated to play a role in aging (74). Interestingly, the recent crystal structure of the Snf1 kinase domain indicates that Snf1 is able to form a homodimer (89, 104).

Snf1 is a 633 amino acid protein with a 330 residue kinase domain at the N-terminus. The C-terminal region contains a regulatory domain that interacts with other subunits of the complex. An auto-inhibition domain is located at residues 367-500. Once cells encounter glucose depletion or other stresses, the T210 residue in the activation loop of Snf1 is phosphorylated by one of the three upstream kinases, Sak1, Elm1 or Tos3, and subsequently a conformational change occurs to activate the kinase activity (53, 81, 88, 128). This activation process is inhibited by the Reg1/Glc7 protein phosphatase, as the T210 is constantly phosphorylated in the *reg1* Δ strain (81). The activated Snf1 will phosphorylate downstream targets with the consensus sequence (*Hyd*-X-Arg-X-X-Ser-X-X-X-*Hyd*), in which the arginine at the P-3 position is crucial (49).

Activation of the Snf1 kinase is a key step in regulating genes related to utilization of alternative carbon sources. However, only a few examples have been established to illustrate what the downstream events are upon the phosphorylation by Snf1. In one case, the phosphorylation of Mig1 disrupts the Mig1-Ssn6 repressor at the promoter and releases the repressor from DNA (131). In other cases, transcription might be stimulated by Snf1-mediated phosphorylation of activator, such as Cat8 and Sip4 (134). Snf1 is also

a histone modification enzyme that regulates transcription at the chromatin level (76). The Snf1 mediated phosphorylation of H3 serine 10 facilities the association of Gcn5 histone acetyltransferase. Such H3 S10 phosphorylation, together with Gcn5 mediated K14 acetylation are important for yeast *INO1* expression (25, 76, 77). Genetic and biochemical studies indicated Snf1 is able to active transcription by other mechanisms, such as interacting with mediator complex or TATA-binding protein directly (65, 118, 119).

Part V: Research interest and significance

The yeast Gcn5 and its histone acetyltransferase activity in gene transcription have been extensively studied. However, the events following Gcn5-mediated histone acetylation are elusive. Moreover, little is know about how histone acetylation facilities transcriptional initiation. Furthermore, Gcn5 is likely to do more things than a HAT, since the catalytic inactive mutant and deletion strains show different expression profile in genomic studies (57, 71). To address the above questions, we sought to isolate extragenic suppressors that allow yeast cells to activate transcription in the absence of HAT activity of Gcn5. Characterizing these suppressors, which represent the factors functionally downstream or in parallel with Gcn5, will help us find out the molecular mechanism of how Gcn5 and its mediated histone acetylation modulates the transcription.

Other than investigating the role of Gcn5 in regulating transcription, we are also curious about how Gcn5 is regulated. So far, the only known mechanism of regulating Gcn5 activity is that the recruitment of Gcn5 containing complex to target promoters by acidic activators. The HAT activity of mammalian histone acetyltransferase p300 is alleviated by Akt-mediated phosphorylation (56), which made us wondering whether Gcn5 is regulated in a similar way. Recent studies showed that Gcn5 is sumoylated in vivo, which raise the likelihood of cellular controlling of Gcn5 activity by post-translational modification, although the biological significance of Gcn5 sumoylation is not clear (124). In our primary studies, we found that a suppressor, Reg1(1-740), may regulate Gcn5 by modulating Snf1-mediated phosphorylation of Gcn5. Moreover, our studies indicate that Snf1 counteracts the function of Spt3, which is another SAGA component. Such observations suggest that Gcn5 is likely regulated in vivo via intra-complex mechanisms that mediated by Spt3, and by post-translational modifications, such as Snf1-mediated phosphorylation. As a conserved acetyltransferase across species, such regulations of Gcn5 may also exist in other higher eukaryotes. Similarly, given the importance of histone acetyltransferase in the regulation of a wide variety of genes in eukaryotes, the detailed genetics and biochemical studies of the prototype HAT Gcn5 will advance our understanding of the mechanisms of histone acetylation in gene regulation.

REFERENCES

- 1. **Agalioti, T., G. Chen, and D. Thanos.** 2002. Deciphering the transcriptional histone acetylation code for a human gene. Cell **111:381-92**.
- 2. Ahmad, K., and S. Henikoff. 2002. The histone variant H3.3 marks active chromatin by replication-independent nucleosome assembly. Mol Cell 9:1191-200.
- Ahn, S. H., W. L. Cheung, J. Y. Hsu, R. L. Diaz, M. M. Smith, and C. D. Allis. 2005. Sterile 20 kinase phosphorylates histone H2B at serine 10 during hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis in S. cerevisiae. Cell 120:25-36.
- 4. Ahn, S. H., K. A. Henderson, S. Keeney, and C. D. Allis. 2005. H2B (Ser10) phosphorylation is induced during apoptosis and meiosis in S. cerevisiae. Cell Cycle 4:780-3.
- Aihara, H., T. Nakagawa, K. Yasui, T. Ohta, S. Hirose, N. Dhomae, K. Takio, M. Kaneko, Y. Takeshima, M. Muramatsu, and T. Ito. 2004. Nucleosomal histone kinase-1 phosphorylates H2A Thr 119 during mitosis in the early Drosophila embryo. Genes Dev 18:877-88.
- 6. Al Rashid, S. T., G. Dellaire, A. Cuddihy, F. Jalali, M. Vaid, C. Coackley, M. Folkard, Y. Xu, B. P. Chen, D. J. Chen, L. Lilge, K. M. Prise, D. P. Bazett Jones, and R. G. Bristow. 2005. Evidence for the direct binding of phosphorylated p53 to sites of DNA breaks in vivo. Cancer Res 65:10810-21.
- Allard, S., R. T. Utley, J. Savard, A. Clarke, P. Grant, C. J. Brandl, L. Pillus, J. L. Workman, and J. Cote. 1999. NuA4, an essential transcription adaptor/histone H4 acetyltransferase complex containing Esa1p and the ATMrelated cofactor Tra1p. Embo J 18:5108-19.
- Bannister, A. J., P. Zegerman, J. F. Partridge, E. A. Miska, J. O. Thomas, R. C. Allshire, and T. Kouzarides. 2001. Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. Nature 410:120-4.
- Barber, C. M., F. B. Turner, Y. Wang, K. Hagstrom, S. D. Taverna, S. Mollah, B. Ueberheide, B. J. Meyer, D. F. Hunt, P. Cheung, and C. D. Allis. 2004. The enhancement of histone H4 and H2A serine 1 phosphorylation during mitosis and S-phase is evolutionarily conserved. Chromosoma 112:360-71.
- 10. Belotserkovskaya, R., D. E. Sterner, M. Deng, M. H. Sayre, P. M. Lieberman, and S. L. Berger. 2000. Inhibition of TATA-binding protein function by SAGA subunits Spt3 and Spt8 at Gcn4-activated promoters. Mol Cell Biol 20:634-47.

- Berger, S. L., B. Pina, N. Silverman, G. A. Marcus, J. Agapite, J. L. Regier, S. J. Triezenberg, and L. Guarente. 1992. Genetic isolation of ADA2: a potential transcriptional adaptor required for function of certain acidic activation domains. Cell 70:251-65.
- 12. **Bode, A. M., and Z. Dong.** 2004. Post-translational modification of p53 in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer **4:**793-805.
- 13. **Brockhausen, I.** 2006. Mucin-type O-glycans in human colon and breast cancer: glycodynamics and functions. EMBO Rep **7:**599-604.
- 14. Brooks, C. L., and W. Gu. 2006. p53 ubiquitination: Mdm2 and beyond. Mol Cell 21:307-15.
- Brown, C. E., L. Howe, K. Sousa, S. C. Alley, M. J. Carrozza, S. Tan, and J. L. Workman. 2001. Recruitment of HAT complexes by direct activator interactions with the ATM-related Tra1 subunit. Science 292:2333-7.
- 16. **Carling, D.** 2004. The AMP-activated protein kinase cascade--a unifying system for energy control. Trends Biochem Sci **29:18**-24.
- 17. Carrozza, M. J., R. T. Utley, J. L. Workman, and J. Cote. 2003. The diverse functions of histone acetyltransferase complexes. Trends Genet 19:321-9.
- Celenza, J. L., and M. Carlson. 1989. Mutational analysis of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae SNF1 protein kinase and evidence for functional interaction with the SNF4 protein. Mol Cell Biol 9:5034-44.
- 19. Chandrasekaran, E. V., J. Xue, S. Neelamegham, and K. L. Matta. 2006. The pattern of glycosyl- and sulfotransferase activities in cancer cell lines: a predictor of individual cancer-associated distinct carbohydrate structures for the structural identification of signature glycans. Carbohydr Res 341:983-94.
- 20. Chang, L., and M. Karin. 2001. Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. Nature 410:37-40.
- 21. Chen, L., and J. Chen. 2003. MDM2-ARF complex regulates p53 sumoylation. Oncogene 22:5348-57.
- 22. Cheung, W. L., F. B. Turner, T. Krishnamoorthy, B. Wolner, S. H. Ahn, M. Foley, J. A. Dorsey, C. L. Peterson, S. L. Berger, and C. D. Allis. 2005. Phosphorylation of histone H4 serine 1 during DNA damage requires casein kinase II in S. cerevisiae. Curr Biol 15:656-60.
- 23. Clarke, A. S., J. E. Lowell, S. J. Jacobson, and L. Pillus. 1999. Esa1p is an essential histone acetyltransferase required for cell cycle progression. Mol Cell Biol 19:2515-26.

- 24. Clarke, A. S., E. Samal, and L. Pillus. 2006. Distinct roles for the essential MYST family HAT Esa1p in transcriptional silencing. Mol Biol Cell 17:1744-57.
- Clements, A., A. N. Poux, W. S. Lo, L. Pillus, S. L. Berger, and R. Marmorstein. 2003. Structural basis for histone and phosphohistone binding by the GCN5 histone acetyltransferase. Mol Cell 12:461-73.
- Cloos, P. A., J. Christensen, K. Agger, A. Maiolica, J. Rappsilber, T. Antal, K. H. Hansen, and K. Helin. 2006. The putative oncogene GASC1 demethylates triand dimethylated lysine 9 on histone H3. Nature 442:307-11.
- 27. Cobb, M. H. 1999. MAP kinase pathways. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 71:479-500.
- Cuthbert, G. L., S. Daujat, A. W. Snowden, H. Erdjument-Bromage, T. Hagiwara, M. Yamada, R. Schneider, P. D. Gregory, P. Tempst, A. J. Bannister, and T. Kouzarides. 2004. Histone deimination antagonizes arginine methylation. Cell 118:545-53.
- 29. de la Cruz, X., S. Lois, S. Sanchez-Molina, and M. A. Martinez-Balbas. 2005. Do protein motifs read the histone code? Bioessays 27:164-75.
- 30. **Dennis, J. W., M. Granovsky, and C. E. Warren.** 1999. Glycoprotein glycosylation and cancer progression. Biochim Biophys Acta **1473:**21-34.
- Dodge, J. E., Y. K. Kang, H. Beppu, H. Lei, and E. Li. 2004. Histone H3-K9 methyltransferase ESET is essential for early development. Mol Cell Biol 24:2478-86.
- 32. Dou, Y., T. A. Milne, A. J. Tackett, E. R. Smith, A. Fukuda, J. Wysocka, C. D. Allis, B. T. Chait, J. L. Hess, and R. G. Roeder. 2005. Physical association and coordinate function of the H3 K4 methyltransferase MLL1 and the H4 K16 acetyltransferase MOF. Cell 121:873-85.
- 33. **Dudley, A. M., C. Rougeulle, and F. Winston.** 1999. The Spt components of SAGA facilitate TBP binding to a promoter at a post-activator-binding step in vivo. Genes Dev **13:**2940-5.
- Durant, M., and B. F. Pugh. 2006. Genome-wide relationships between TAF1 and histone acetyltransferases in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol 26:2791-802.
- 35. **Dutnall, R. N.** 2003. Cracking the histone code: one, two, three methyls, you're out! Mol Cell **12:3-4**.
- 36. Eberharter, A., D. E. Sterner, D. Schieltz, A. Hassan, J. R. Yates, 3rd, S. L. Berger, and J. L. Workman. 1999. The ADA complex is a distinct histone acetyltransferase complex in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol 19:6621-31.

- Eisenmann, D. M., C. Chapon, S. M. Roberts, C. Dollard, and F. Winston. 1994. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae SPT8 gene encodes a very acidic protein that is functionally related to SPT3 and TATA-binding protein. Genetics 137:647-57.
- 38. Faiola, F., X. Liu, S. Lo, S. Pan, K. Zhang, E. Lymar, A. Farina, and E. Martinez. 2005. Dual regulation of c-Myc by p300 via acetylation-dependent control of Myc protein turnover and coactivation of Myc-induced transcription. Mol Cell Biol 25:10220-34.
- 39. Feng, Q., H. Wang, H. H. Ng, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, K. Struhl, and Y. Zhang. 2002. Methylation of H3-lysine 79 is mediated by a new family of HMTases without a SET domain. Curr Biol 12:1052-8.
- 40. Fernandez-Capetillo, O., C. D. Allis, and A. Nussenzweig. 2004. Phosphorylation of histone H2B at DNA double-strand breaks. J Exp Med 199:1671-7.
- 41. Fingerman, I. M., C. L. Wu, B. D. Wilson, and S. D. Briggs. 2005. Global loss of Set1-mediated H3 Lys4 trimethylation is associated with silencing defects in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 280:28761-5.
- 42. **Fishburn, J., N. Mohibullah, and S. Hahn.** 2005. Function of a eukaryotic transcription activator during the transcription cycle. Mol Cell **18**:369-78.
- Flanagan, J. F., L. Z. Mi, M. Chruszcz, M. Cymborowski, K. L. Clines, Y. Kim, W. Minor, F. Rastinejad, and S. Khorasanizadeh. 2005. Double chromodomains cooperate to recognize the methylated histone H3 tail. Nature 438:1181-5.
- 44. Grant, P. A., L. Duggan, J. Cote, S. M. Roberts, J. E. Brownell, R. Candau, R. Ohba, T. Owen-Hughes, C. D. Allis, F. Winston, S. L. Berger, and J. L. Workman. 1997. Yeast Gcn5 functions in two multisubunit complexes to acetylate nucleosomal histones: characterization of an Ada complex and the SAGA (Spt/Ada) complex. Genes Dev 11:1640-50.
- 45. Grant, P. A., D. Schieltz, M. G. Pray-Grant, D. J. Steger, J. C. Reese, J. R. Yates, 3rd, and J. L. Workman. 1998. A subset of TAF(II)s are integral components of the SAGA complex required for nucleosome acetylation and transcriptional stimulation. Cell 94:45-53.
- 46. **Guo, D., T. R. Hazbun, X. J. Xu, S. L. Ng, S. Fields, and M. H. Kuo.** 2004. A tethered catalysis, two-hybrid system to identify protein-protein interactions requiring post-translational modifications. Nat Biotechnol **22:**888-92.
- 47. **Hake, S. B., and C. D. Allis.** 2006. Histone H3 variants and their potential role in indexing mammalian genomes: the "H3 barcode hypothesis". Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103:**6428-35.
- 48. Hardie, D. G. 2006. AMP-Activated Protein Kinase as a Drug Target. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.
- 49. Hardie, D. G., D. Carling, and M. Carlson. 1998. The AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase subfamily: metabolic sensors of the eukaryotic cell? Annu Rev Biochem 67:821-55.
- 50. Hawkes, N. A., G. Otero, G. S. Winkler, N. Marshall, M. E. Dahmus, D. Krappmann, C. Scheidereit, C. L. Thomas, G. Schiavo, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, and J. Q. Svejstrup. 2002. Purification and characterization of the human elongator complex. J Biol Chem 277:3047-52.
- 51. Henry, K. W., A. Wyce, W. S. Lo, L. J. Duggan, N. C. Emre, C. F. Kao, L. Pillus, A. Shilatifard, M. A. Osley, and S. L. Berger. 2003. Transcriptional activation via sequential histone H2B ubiquitylation and deubiquitylation, mediated by SAGA-associated Ubp8. Genes Dev 17:2648-63.
- 52. Hilton, T. L., Y. Li, E. L. Dunphy, and E. H. Wang. 2005. TAF1 histone acetyltransferase activity in Sp1 activation of the cyclin D1 promoter. Mol Cell Biol 25:4321-32.
- 53. Hong, S. P., F. C. Leiper, A. Woods, D. Carling, and M. Carlson. 2003. Activation of yeast Snf1 and mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase by upstream kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:8839-43.
- 54. Hsu, J. Y., Z. W. Sun, X. Li, M. Reuben, K. Tatchell, D. K. Bishop, J. M. Grushcow, C. J. Brame, J. A. Caldwell, D. F. Hunt, R. Lin, M. M. Smith, and C. D. Allis. 2000. Mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 is governed by Ipl1/aurora kinase and Glc7/PP1 phosphatase in budding yeast and nematodes. Cell 102:279-91.
- 55. **Huang, S., M. Litt, and G. Felsenfeld.** 2005. Methylation of histone H4 by arginine methyltransferase PRMT1 is essential in vivo for many subsequent histone modifications. Genes Dev **19:**1885-93.
- 56. **Huang, W. C., and C. C. Chen.** 2005. Akt phosphorylation of p300 at Ser-1834 is essential for its histone acetyltransferase and transcriptional activity. Mol Cell Biol **25**:6592-602.
- 57. **Huisinga, K. L., and B. F. Pugh.** 2004. A genome-wide housekeeping role for TFIID and a highly regulated stress-related role for SAGA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell **13:**573-85.
- 58. Ingvarsdottir, K., N. J. Krogan, N. C. Emre, A. Wyce, N. J. Thompson, A. Emili, T. R. Hughes, J. F. Greenblatt, and S. L. Berger. 2005. H2B ubiquitin protease Ubp8 and Sgf11 constitute a discrete functional module within the Saccharomyces cerevisiae SAGA complex. Mol Cell Biol 25:1162-72.

- 59. Ito, A., Y. Kawaguchi, C. H. Lai, J. J. Kovacs, Y. Higashimoto, E. Appella, and T. P. Yao. 2002. MDM2-HDAC1-mediated deacetylation of p53 is required for its degradation. Embo J 21:6236-45.
- 60. **Jiang, R., and M. Carlson.** 1997. The Snf1 protein kinase and its activating subunit, Snf4, interact with distinct domains of the Sip1/Sip2/Gal83 component in the kinase complex. Mol Cell Biol **17:**2099-106.
- 61. Jin, J., Y. Cai, B. Li, R. C. Conaway, J. L. Workman, J. W. Conaway, and T. Kusch. 2005. In and out: histone variant exchange in chromatin. Trends Biochem Sci 30:680-7.
- 62. Kahn, B. B., T. Alquier, D. Carling, and D. G. Hardie. 2005. AMP-activated protein kinase: ancient energy gauge provides clues to modern understanding of metabolism. Cell Metab 1:15-25.
- 63. Klose, R. J., K. Yamane, Y. Bae, D. Zhang, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, J. Wong, and Y. Zhang. 2006. The transcriptional repressor JHDM3A demethylates trimethyl histone H3 lysine 9 and lysine 36. Nature **442**:312-6.
- 64. Kobza, K., G. Camporeale, B. Rueckert, A. Kueh, J. B. Griffin, G. Sarath, and J. Zempleni. 2005. K4, K9 and K18 in human histone H3 are targets for biotinylation by biotinidase. Febs J **272**:4249-59.
- 65. **Kuchin, S., I. Treich, and M. Carlson.** 2000. A regulatory shortcut between the Snf1 protein kinase and RNA polymerase II holoenzyme. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **97**:7916-20.
- 66. Kuzmichev, A., K. Nishioka, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, and D. Reinberg. 2002. Histone methyltransferase activity associated with a human multiprotein complex containing the Enhancer of Zeste protein. Genes Dev 16:2893-905.
- 67. Lachner, M., D. O'Carroll, S. Rea, K. Mechtler, and T. Jenuwein. 2001. Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature **410**:116-20.
- 68. Lee, D. Y., J. P. Northrop, M. H. Kuo, and M. R. Stallcup. 2006. Histone H3 lysine 9 methyltransferase G9a is a transcriptional coactivator for nuclear receptors. J Biol Chem 281:8476-85.
- 69. Lee, E. R., K. W. McCool, F. E. Murdoch, and M. K. Fritsch. 2006. Dynamic Changes in Histone H3 Phosphoacetylation during Early Embryonic Stem Cell Differentiation Are Directly Mediated by Mitogen- and Stress-activated Protein Kinase 1 via Activation of MAPK Pathways. J Biol Chem 281:21162-72.

- Lee, K. K., L. Florens, S. K. Swanson, M. P. Washburn, and J. L. Workman.
 2005. The deubiquitylation activity of Ubp8 is dependent upon Sgf11 and its association with the SAGA complex. Mol Cell Biol 25:1173-82.
- 71. Lee, T. I., H. C. Causton, F. C. Holstege, W. C. Shen, N. Hannett, E. G. Jennings, F. Winston, M. R. Green, and R. A. Young. 2000. Redundant roles for the TFIID and SAGA complexes in global transcription. Nature **405**:701-4.
- 72. Leech, A., N. Nath, R. R. McCartney, and M. C. Schmidt. 2003. Isolation of mutations in the catalytic domain of the snf1 kinase that render its activity independent of the snf4 subunit. Eukaryot Cell 2:265-73.
- 73. Li, H., S. Ilin, W. Wang, E. M. Duncan, J. Wysocka, C. D. Allis, and D. J. Patel. 2006. Molecular basis for site-specific read-out of histone H3K4me3 by the BPTF PHD finger of NURF. Nature 442:91-5.
- 74. Lin, S. S., J. K. Manchester, and J. I. Gordon. 2003. Sip2, an N-myristoylated beta subunit of Snf1 kinase, regulates aging in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by affecting cellular histone kinase activity, recombination at rDNA loci, and silencing. J Biol Chem 278:13390-7.
- 75. Litt, M. D., M. Simpson, M. Gaszner, C. D. Allis, and G. Felsenfeld. 2001. Correlation between histone lysine methylation and developmental changes at the chicken beta-globin locus. Science 293:2453-5.
- 76. Lo, W. S., L. Duggan, N. C. Emre, R. Belotserkovskya, W. S. Lane, R. Shiekhattar, and S. L. Berger. 2001. Snf1--a histone kinase that works in concert with the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5 to regulate transcription. Science 293:1142-6.
- Lo, W. S., E. R. Gamache, K. W. Henry, D. Yang, L. Pillus, and S. L. Berger.
 2005. Histone H3 phosphorylation can promote TBP recruitment through distinct promoter-specific mechanisms. Embo J 24:997-1008.
- 78. Macdonald, N., J. P. Welburn, M. E. Noble, A. Nguyen, M. B. Yaffe, D. Clynes, J. G. Moggs, G. Orphanides, S. Thomson, J. W. Edmunds, A. L. Clayton, J. A. Endicott, and L. C. Mahadevan. 2005. Molecular basis for the recognition of phosphorylated and phosphoacetylated histone h3 by 14-3-3. Mol Cell 20:199-211.
- 79. Manning, G., D. B. Whyte, R. Martinez, T. Hunter, and S. Sudarsanam. 2002. The protein kinase complement of the human genome. Science **298**:1912-34.
- 80. Martin, C., and Y. Zhang. 2005. The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:838-49.

- McCartney, R. R., and M. C. Schmidt. 2001. Regulation of Snf1 kinase. Activation requires phosphorylation of threonine 210 by an upstream kinase as well as a distinct step mediated by the Snf4 subunit. J Biol Chem 276:36460-6.
- 82. McMahon, S. J., M. G. Pray-Grant, D. Schieltz, J. R. Yates, 3rd, and P. A. Grant. 2005. Polyglutamine-expanded spinocerebellar ataxia-7 protein disrupts normal SAGA and SLIK histone acetyltransferase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8478-82.
- 83. Melchior, F., and L. Hengst. 2002. SUMO-1 and p53. Cell Cycle 1:245-9.
- 84. Mermoud, J. E., B. Popova, A. H. Peters, T. Jenuwein, and N. Brockdorff. 2002. Histone H3 lysine 9 methylation occurs rapidly at the onset of random X chromosome inactivation. Curr Biol 12:247-51.
- 85. Min, J., Q. Feng, Z. Li, Y. Zhang, and R. M. Xu. 2003. Structure of the catalytic domain of human DOT1L, a non-SET domain nucleosomal histone methyltransferase. Cell 112:711-23.
- 86. Mizzen, C. A., X. J. Yang, T. Kokubo, J. E. Brownell, A. J. Bannister, T. Owen-Hughes, J. Workman, L. Wang, S. L. Berger, T. Kouzarides, Y. Nakatani, and C. D. Allis. 1996. The TAF(II)250 subunit of TFIID has histone acetyltransferase activity. Cell 87:1261-70.
- Morris, S. A., Y. Shibata, K. Noma, Y. Tsukamoto, E. Warren, B. Temple, S. I. Grewal, and B. D. Strahl. 2005. Histone H3 K36 methylation is associated with transcription elongation in Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Eukaryot Cell 4:1446-54.
- 88. Nath, N., R. R. McCartney, and M. C. Schmidt. 2003. Yeast Pak1 kinase associates with and activates Snf1. Mol Cell Biol 23:3909-17.
- 89. Nayak, V., K. Zhao, A. Wyce, M. F. Schwartz, W. S. Lo, S. L. Berger, and R. Marmorstein. 2006. Structure and dimerization of the kinase domain from yeast Snf1, a member of the Snf1/AMPK protein family. Structure 14:477-85.
- 90. Ng, H. H., Q. Feng, H. Wang, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, Y. Zhang, and K. Struhl. 2002. Lysine methylation within the globular domain of histone H3 by Dot1 is important for telomeric silencing and Sir protein association. Genes Dev 16:1518-27.
- 91. Ng, H. H., R. M. Xu, Y. Zhang, and K. Struhl. 2002. Ubiquitination of histone H2B by Rad6 is required for efficient Dot1-mediated methylation of histone H3 lysine 79. J Biol Chem 277:34655-7.
- 92. Nishio, H., and M. J. Walsh. 2004. CCAAT displacement protein/cut homolog recruits G9a histone lysine methyltransferase to repress transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:11257-62.

- 93. Ostman, A., C. Hellberg, and F. D. Bohmer. 2006. Protein-tyrosine phosphatases and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6:307-20.
- 94. Pal, S., S. N. Vishwanath, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, and S. Sif. 2004. Human SWI/SNF-associated PRMT5 methylates histone H3 arginine 8 and negatively regulates expression of ST7 and NM23 tumor suppressor genes. Mol Cell Biol 24:9630-45.
- 95. **Panka, D. J., M. B. Atkins, and J. W. Mier.** 2006. Targeting the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway in the treatment of malignant melanoma. Clin Cancer Res **12**:2371s-2375s.
- 96. **Papamichos-Chronakis, M., T. Gligoris, and D. Tzamarias.** 2004. The Snfl kinase controls glucose repression in yeast by modulating interactions between the Mig1 repressor and the Cyc8-Tup1 co-repressor. EMBO Rep **5**:368-72.
- 97. Pena, P. V., F. Davrazou, X. Shi, K. L. Walter, V. V. Verkhusha, O. Gozani, R. Zhao, and T. G. Kutateladze. 2006. Molecular mechanism of histone H3K4me3 recognition by plant homeodomain of ING2. Nature 442:100-3.
- 98. Peters, A. H., J. E. Mermoud, D. O'Carroll, M. Pagani, D. Schweizer, N. Brockdorff, and T. Jenuwein. 2002. Histone H3 lysine 9 methylation is an epigenetic imprint of facultative heterochromatin. Nat Genet 30:77-80.
- 99. Peterson, C. L., and M. A. Laniel. 2004. Histones and histone modifications. Curr Biol 14:R546-51.
- 100. Pray-Grant, M. G., J. A. Daniel, D. Schieltz, J. R. Yates, 3rd, and P. A. Grant. 2005. Chd1 chromodomain links histone H3 methylation with SAGA- and SLIKdependent acetylation. Nature 433:434-8.
- 101. Ricci, A. R., J. Genereaux, and C. J. Brandl. 2002. Components of the SAGA histone acetyltransferase complex are required for repressed transcription of ARG1 in rich medium. Mol Cell Biol 22:4033-42.
- 102. Rice, J. C., K. Nishioka, K. Sarma, R. Steward, D. Reinberg, and C. D. Allis. 2002. Mitotic-specific methylation of histone H4 Lys 20 follows increased PR-Set7 expression and its localization to mitotic chromosomes. Genes Dev 16:2225-30.
- Roth, S. Y., J. M. Denu, and C. D. Allis. 2001. Histone acetyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem 70:81-120.
- 104. Rudolph, M. J., G. A. Amodeo, Y. Bai, and L. Tong. 2005. Crystal structure of the protein kinase domain of yeast AMP-activated protein kinase Snf1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 337:1224-8.

- 105. Saito, S., A. A. Goodarzi, Y. Higashimoto, Y. Noda, S. P. Lees-Miller, E. Appella, and C. W. Anderson. 2002. ATM mediates phosphorylation at multiple p53 sites, including Ser(46), in response to ionizing radiation. J Biol Chem 277:12491-4.
- 106. Sakaguchi, K., S. Saito, Y. Higashimoto, S. Roy, C. W. Anderson, and E. Appella. 2000. Damage-mediated phosphorylation of human p53 threonine 18 through a cascade mediated by a casein 1-like kinase. Effect on Mdm2 binding. J Biol Chem 275:9278-83.
- 107. Santos-Rosa, H., and C. Caldas. 2005. Chromatin modifier enzymes, the histone code and cancer. Eur J Cancer 41:2381-402.
- 108. Santos-Rosa, H., R. Schneider, A. J. Bannister, J. Sherriff, B. E. Bernstein, N. C. Emre, S. L. Schreiber, J. Mellor, and T. Kouzarides. 2002. Active genes are tri-methylated at K4 of histone H3. Nature 419:407-11.
- 109. Sassone-Corsi, P., C. A. Mizzen, P. Cheung, C. Crosio, L. Monaco, S. Jacquot, A. Hanauer, and C. D. Allis. 1999. Requirement of Rsk-2 for epidermal growth factor-activated phosphorylation of histone H3. Science 285:886-91.
- 110. Saxon, E., and C. R. Bertozzi. 2001. Chemical and biological strategies for engineering cell surface glycosylation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17:1-23.
- 111. Scarano, M. I., M. Strazzullo, M. R. Matarazzo, and M. D'Esposito. 2005. DNA methylation 40 years later: Its role in human health and disease. J Cell Physiol 204:21-35.
- 112. Schmidt, M. C., and R. R. McCartney. 2000. beta-subunits of Snf1 kinase are required for kinase function and substrate definition. Embo J 19:4936-43.
- 113. Sermwittayawong, D., and S. Tan. 2006. SAGA binds TBP via its Spt8 subunit in competition with DNA: implications for TBP recruitment. Embo J.
- 114. She, Q. B., N. Chen, and Z. Dong. 2000. ERKs and p38 kinase phosphorylate p53 protein at serine 15 in response to UV radiation. J Biol Chem 275:20444-9.
- 115. Shi, X., T. Hong, K. L. Walter, M. Ewalt, E. Michishita, T. Hung, D. Carney, P. Pena, F. Lan, M. R. Kaadige, N. Lacoste, C. Cayrou, F. Davrazou, A. Saha, B. R. Cairns, D. E. Ayer, T. G. Kutateladze, Y. Shi, J. Cote, K. F. Chua, and O. Gozani. 2006. ING2 PHD domain links histone H3 lysine 4 methylation to active gene repression. Nature 442:96-9.
- 116. Shi, Y., F. Lan, C. Matson, P. Mulligan, J. R. Whetstine, P. A. Cole, R. A. Casero, and Y. Shi. 2004. Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. Cell 119:941-53.

- 117. Shi, Y. J., C. Matson, F. Lan, S. Iwase, T. Baba, and Y. Shi. 2005. Regulation of LSD1 histone demethylase activity by its associated factors. Mol Cell 19:857-64.
- 118. Shirra, M. K., and K. M. Arndt. 1999. Evidence for the involvement of the Glc7-Reg1 phosphatase and the Snf1-Snf4 kinase in the regulation of INO1 transcription in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 152:73-87.
- 119. Shirra, M. K., S. E. Rogers, D. E. Alexander, and K. M. Arndt. 2005. The Snf1 protein kinase and Sit4 protein phosphatase have opposing functions in regulating TATA-binding protein association with the Saccharomyces cerevisiae INO1 promoter. Genetics 169:1957-72.
- 120. Sims, R. J., 3rd, C. F. Chen, H. Santos-Rosa, T. Kouzarides, S. S. Patel, and D. Reinberg. 2005. Human but not yeast CHD1 binds directly and selectively to histone H3 methylated at lysine 4 via its tandem chromodomains. J Biol Chem 280:41789-92.
- 121. Smith, C. L., and C. L. Peterson. 2005. ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling. Curr Top Dev Biol 65:115-48.
- 122. Sterner, D. E., R. Belotserkovskaya, and S. L. Berger. 2002. SALSA, a variant of yeast SAGA, contains truncated Spt7, which correlates with activated transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11622-7.
- 123. Sterner, D. E., P. A. Grant, S. M. Roberts, L. J. Duggan, R. Belotserkovskaya, L. A. Pacella, F. Winston, J. L. Workman, and S. L. Berger. 1999. Functional organization of the yeast SAGA complex: distinct components involved in structural integrity, nucleosome acetylation, and TATA-binding protein interaction. Mol Cell Biol 19:86-98.
- 124. Sterner, D. E., D. Nathan, A. Reindle, E. S. Johnson, and S. L. Berger. 2006. Sumoylation of the yeast Gcn5 protein. Biochemistry **45**:1035-42.
- 125. Strahl, B. D., and C. D. Allis. 2000. The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403:41-5.
- 126. Strahl, B. D., S. D. Briggs, C. J. Brame, J. A. Caldwell, S. S. Koh, H. Ma, R. G. Cook, J. Shabanowitz, D. F. Hunt, M. R. Stallcup, and C. D. Allis. 2001. Methylation of histone H4 at arginine 3 occurs in vivo and is mediated by the nuclear receptor coactivator PRMT1. Curr Biol 11:996-1000.
- 127. Sun, Z. W., and C. D. Allis. 2002. Ubiquitination of histone H2B regulates H3 methylation and gene silencing in yeast. Nature 418:104-8.
- 128. Sutherland, C. M., S. A. Hawley, R. R. McCartney, A. Leech, M. J. Stark, M. C. Schmidt, and D. G. Hardie. 2003. Elm1p is one of three upstream kinases for the Saccharomyces cerevisiae SNF1 complex. Curr Biol 13:1299-305.

- 129. Tachibana, M., K. Sugimoto, M. Nozaki, J. Ueda, T. Ohta, M. Ohki, M. Fukuda, N. Takeda, H. Niida, H. Kato, and Y. Shinkai. 2002. G9a histone methyltransferase plays a dominant role in euchromatic histone H3 lysine 9 methylation and is essential for early embryogenesis. Genes Dev 16:1779-91.
- 130. Tibbetts, R. S., K. M. Brumbaugh, J. M. Williams, J. N. Sarkaria, W. A. Cliby, S. Y. Shieh, Y. Taya, C. Prives, and R. T. Abraham. 1999. A role for ATR in the DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53. Genes Dev 13:152-7.
- Treitel, M. A., S. Kuchin, and M. Carlson. 1998. Snf1 protein kinase regulates phosphorylation of the Mig1 repressor in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol 18:6273-80.
- 132. van Leeuwen, F., P. R. Gafken, and D. E. Gottschling. 2002. Dot1p modulates silencing in yeast by methylation of the nucleosome core. Cell 109:745-56.
- 133. Vincent, O., and M. Carlson. 1999. Gal83 mediates the interaction of the Snfl kinase complex with the transcription activator Sip4. Embo J 18:6672-81.
- 134. Vincent, O., and M. Carlson. 1998. Sip4, a Snf1 kinase-dependent transcriptional activator, binds to the carbon source-responsive element of gluconeogenic genes. Embo J 17:7002-8.
- 135. Vincent, O., R. Townley, S. Kuchin, and M. Carlson. 2001. Subcellular localization of the Snf1 kinase is regulated by specific beta subunits and a novel glucose signaling mechanism. Genes Dev 15:1104-14.
- 136. Vojnic, E., B. Simon, B. D. Strahl, M. Sattler, and P. Cramer. 2006. Structure and carboxyl-terminal domain (CTD) binding of the Set2 SRI domain that couples histone H3 Lys36 methylation to transcription. J Biol Chem 281:13-5.
- 137. Wang, H., W. An, R. Cao, L. Xia, H. Erdjument-Bromage, B. Chatton, P. Tempst, R. G. Roeder, and Y. Zhang. 2003. mAM facilitates conversion by ESET of dimethyl to trimethyl lysine 9 of histone H3 to cause transcriptional repression. Mol Cell 12:475-87.
- 138. Wang, H., Z. Q. Huang, L. Xia, Q. Feng, H. Erdjument-Bromage, B. D. Strahl, S. D. Briggs, C. D. Allis, J. Wong, P. Tempst, and Y. Zhang. 2001. Methylation of histone H4 at arginine 3 facilitating transcriptional activation by nuclear hormone receptor. Science 293:853-7.
- 139. Wang, Y., J. Wysocka, J. Sayegh, Y. H. Lee, J. R. Perlin, L. Leonelli, L. S. Sonbuchner, C. H. McDonald, R. G. Cook, Y. Dou, R. G. Roeder, S. Clarke, M. R. Stallcup, C. D. Allis, and S. A. Coonrod. 2004. Human PAD4 regulates histone arginine methylation levels via demethylimination. Science 306:279-83.

- 140. Wesierska-Gadek, J., A. Bugajska-Schretter, and C. Cerni. 1996. ADPribosylation of p53 tumor suppressor protein: mutant but not wild-type p53 is modified. J Cell Biochem 62:90-101.
- 141. Wysocka, J., T. Swigut, T. A. Milne, Y. Dou, X. Zhang, A. L. Burlingame, R. G. Roeder, A. H. Brivanlou, and C. D. Allis. 2005. WDR5 associates with histone H3 methylated at K4 and is essential for H3 K4 methylation and vertebrate development. Cell 121:859-72.
- 142. Wysocka, J., T. Swigut, H. Xiao, T. A. Milne, S. Y. Kwon, J. Landry, M. Kauer, A. J. Tackett, B. T. Chait, P. Badenhorst, C. Wu, and C. D. Allis. 2006. A PHD finger of NURF couples histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation with chromatin remodelling. Nature 442:86-90.
- 143. Yang, L., L. Xia, D. Y. Wu, H. Wang, H. A. Chansky, W. H. Schubach, D. D. Hickstein, and Y. Zhang. 2002. Molecular cloning of ESET, a novel histone H3-specific methyltransferase that interacts with ERG transcription factor. Oncogene 21:148-52.
- 144. **Zhang, H., D. N. Roberts, and B. R. Cairns.** 2005. Genome-wide dynamics of Htz1, a histone H2A variant that poises repressed/basal promoters for activation through histone loss. Cell **123**:219-31.
- 145. **Zhang, W., Y. Hayashizaki, and B. C. Kone.** 2004. Structure and regulation of the mDot1 gene, a mouse histone H3 methyltransferase. Biochem J **377:641-51**.
- 146. Zhao, Y., S. Lu, L. Wu, G. Chai, H. Wang, Y. Chen, J. Sun, Y. Yu, W. Zhou, Q. Zheng, M. Wu, G. A. Otterson, and W. G. Zhu. 2006. Acetylation of p53 at lysine 373/382 by the histone deacetylase inhibitor depsipeptide induces expression of p21(Waf1/Cip1). Mol Cell Biol 26:2782-90.

Chapter II

Histone H3 Ser10 Phosphorylation-Independent Function of Snf1 and Reg1 Proteins Rescues a *gcn5* Mutant in *HIS3* Expression

Published in Mol Cell Biol. 2005 December; 25(23): 10566-10579.

Histone H3 Ser10 Phosphorylation-Independent Function of Snfl and Reg1 Proteins Rescues a *gcn5*⁻Mutant in *HIS3* Expression

Yang Liu,1 Xinjing Xu,2 Soumya Singh-Rodriguez,2 Yan Zhao,2 and Min-Hao Kuo1,2*

Program in Genetics1 and Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology,2 Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan 48824

Received 22 August 2005/Accepted 14 September 2005

* Corresponding author. Mailing address: 401 BCH Building, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824. Phone: (517) 355-0163. Fax: (517)
353-9334. E-mail: <u>kuom@msu.edu</u>.

ABSTRACT:

Gcn5 protein is a prototypical histone acetyltransferase that controls transcription of multiple yeast genes. To identify molecular functions that act downstream of or in parallel with Gcn5 protein, we screened for suppressors that rescue the transcriptional defects of HIS3 caused by a catalytically inactive mutant Gcn5, the E173H mutant. One bypass of Gcn5 requirement gene (BGR) suppressor was mapped to the REG1 locus that encodes a semidominant mutant truncated after amino acid 740. Reg1(1-740) protein does not rescue the complete knockout of GCN5, nor does it suppress other gcn5⁻ defects, including the inability to utilize nonglucose carbon sources. Reg1(1-740) enhances HIS3 transcription while HIS3 promoter remains hypoacetylated, indicating that a noncatalytic function of Gcn5 is targeted by this suppressor protein. Reg1 protein is a major regulator of Snf1 kinase that phosphorylates Ser10 of histone H3. However, whereas Snf1 protein is important for HIS3 expression, replacing Ser10 of H3 with alanine or glutamate neither attenuates nor augments the BGR phenotypes. Overproduction of Snf1 protein also preferentially rescues the E173H allele. Biochemically, both Snf1 and Reg1(1-740) proteins copurify with Gcn5 protein. Snf1 can phosphorylated recombinant Gcn5 in vitro. Together, these data suggest that Reg1 and Snf1 proteins function in an H3 phosphorylation-independent pathway that also involves a noncatalytic role played by Gcn5 protein.

INTRODUCTION

Histone acetylation is a well-studied modification of chromatin (<u>67</u>) and has been linked to transcriptional regulation, recombination, DNA replication, and damage repair (<u>13</u>). GNAT (Gcn5 protein-related *N*-acetyltransferases) and MYST (MOZ-Ybf2/Sas3-Sas2-Tip60) families of histone acetyltransferases (HATs) generate both targeted and global acetylation of the chromatin (<u>78</u>). Other HATs, such as TAF1 (formerly TAF₁₁250) and nuclear hormone receptor coactivators, though not belonging to either family, have also been shown to play critical chromatin-related functions via their HAT activities (78).

The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Gcn5 protein is the catalytic subunit of several chromatographically distinct HAT complexes, including SAGA, ADA (32), SALSA, and SLIK (70, 71, 85). SAGA is recruited to the promoter by certain transcriptional activators and causes promoter-specific nucleosomal hyperacetylation leading to transcriptional activation (4, 5, 48, 51, 72). The SAGA complex also performs HAT-independent functions, such as TATA binding protein (TBP) recruitment and histone deubiquitinylation (8, 9, 19, 24, 38, 44, 55, 75, 86). SAGA and SALSA/SLIK complexes share TBP-associated factors with TFIID (33). Low-resolution electron microscopic studies showed that the architectures of SAGA and TFIID complexes are highly similar (3, 11, 91, 103). TFIID is critical for mostly housekeeping gene expression, and the SAGA-dominated genes (~10% of the nuclear genes) are largely stress-induced and are under the coordinated control of multiple chromatin and transcriptional regulators (43).

Although the promoter-specific histone acetylation function of Gcn5 has been firmly established (48, 51), which molecular activities are modulated by histone acetylation remains an open question. The best-known molecular event triggered directly by histone acetylation is the recruitment of bromodomain-containing proteins (20, 45, 53, 62). Besides this, however, little is known as to what other functions may be triggered or antagonized by histone acetylation. Identification of mutations that suppress defects associated with histone hypoacetylation may reveal factors downstream of histone acetylation. Thus far, the only reported screen for suppressors rescuing gcn5 null phenotypes was a multicopy suppressor hunt identifying ARG3 (69), which is likely involved in controlling the global chromatin structure via regulating the balance of nuclear polyamine. On the other hand, Gcn5 protein is important for only a portion of yeast genes (40, 43). Suppressors that display gene specificity, instead of global effects on chromatin structure, may shed light on the molecular basis for Gcn5-mediated transcriptional activation. In our first attempt to identify the bypass of Gcn5 requirement gene (BGR) suppressors, we isolated one such mutation mapped to the REG1 gene.

REG1 (also called *HEX2* and *SRN1*) was identified in several genetic screens of glucose repression and RNA processing (<u>63</u>, <u>65</u>, <u>66</u>, <u>96</u>). Reg1 protein associates physically and functionally with an essential and multifunctional protein phosphatase 1, Glc7 (<u>23</u>, <u>61</u>, <u>94</u>), whose substrate specificity is apparently determined by association with different partners, including Reg1 protein. Mutations of *REG1* cause ectopic expression of several genes under repressing conditions (<u>21</u>, <u>27</u>, <u>41</u>, <u>64</u>, <u>97</u>, <u>102</u>). Point mutations targeted at the Glc7 interaction domain of Reg1 protein derepress *ADH2* and *SUC2* (<u>23</u>). A similar transcriptional repression defect caused by a *glc7* mutation (T152K) can be suppressed by overexpressing Reg1 protein (94). These transcriptional derepression phenotypes are likely due to the inability of Glc7 to dephosphorylate the appropriate target protein(s) and consequently the ectopic increase of protein phosphorylation. Indeed, deletion of the Snf1 protein kinase suppresses the derepression defects resulting from *reg1* or *glc7* mutations (23, 28, 42), indicating an antagonistic relationship between the Snf1 kinase and the Reg1-Glc7 phosphatase complex. Consistent with this notion, Reg1 protein interacts directly with Snf1 protein in both yeast two-hybrid assays and affinity purification (61, 79). Furthermore, a hyperactive Snf1 protein caused by *reg1* Δ rescues the Spt⁻ phenotypes of *spt21* Δ cells (39). Curiously, the interaction between Reg1 protein and Snf1 protein, at least within the yeast two-hybrid context, is enhanced in glucose starvation conditions (61), raising the possibility that Reg1 protein may have a positive role in Snf1 protein action under certain conditions.

Snf1 protein acts as a cellular fuel gauge controlling responses to nutritional crises (<u>37</u>). The animal homologues of Snf1 protein are activated by AMP and are referred to as AMP-activated protein kinases. In plants, Snf1 protein-related kinases (SnRKs) fall into three large families, SnRK1, SnRK2, and SnRK3 (<u>36</u>). Snf1 protein, AMP-activated protein kinases, and SnRKs are the catalytic α subunits of a trimeric complex composed of a scaffold β protein and a regulatory γ subunit. In addition to bridging the α and γ subunits, the β protein contributes to substrate selection as well. The γ subunit of the yeast Snf1 complex is encoded by *SNF4* (<u>14</u>). At least three yeast genes encode the β subunits (<u>26</u>, <u>104</u>). Snf1 protein plays critical roles in controlling transcription of carbohydrate transporter and metabolism genes (<u>80</u>). Overexpression of Snf1 protein also causes early aging, increased rRNA recombination, and loss of rRNA locus silencing (56),

a set of functions reportedly linked to histone H3 hyperphosphorylation. Indeed, several proteins can be phosphorylated by Snf1 protein in response to glucose starvation, including Reg1 protein (79), Mig1 (92), and histone H3 (60). The histone H3 phosphorylation activity of Snf1 protein has been linked directly to transcriptional activation and TBP recruitment (58, 59). Ser10 phosphorylation facilitates acetylation by increasing the affinity between Gcn5 protein and H3 (15, 18, 60). Both modifications are important for the expression of the *INO1* gene in yeast (59, 60). In addition, genetic interactions between Snf1 protein and Srb/mediator proteins (49, 84) and TBP (83) were reported. Whether these general transcriptional factors can be phosphorylated by Snf1 protein is unclear.

In this work, evidence that a gain-of-function *BGR* allele for Reg1 protein likely adopts a novel function in facilitating transcription of *HIS3* is presented. This function appears to require a functional Snf1 kinase. However, H3 phosphorylation does not play a critical role for the suppression, nor is it important for normal *HIS3* activation. A unique allele specificity for a particular mutant Gcn5 protein is shared by the Reg1 suppressor and overproduction of Snf1 protein. Indeed, both Snf1 and Reg1 suppressor can be copurified with Gcn5 from yeast, linking these three proteins functionally and physically.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Yeast strains, plasmids, and genetic methods. Yeast strains used in this work are listed in Table <u>1</u>. All genetic methods were according to reference <u>81</u>. Yeast transformation was done with the lithium acetate method (<u>29</u>). Plasmids used in this work are listed in Table <u>2</u>.

To introduce *gcn5* point mutations into the genome, the BamHI-HindIII fragment from wild-type or mutant *GCN5* was inserted into the same sites of YIplac211 (<u>30</u>) to generate pMK284. Constructs pMK284E173H and pMK284F221A were linearized with NgoMIV and transformed into yeast. Integration results in two copies of *GCN5* separated by the YIplac211 sequence containing a *URA3* marker. 5-Fluoroorotic acid (5-FOA) selection and genomic PCR were used to obtain and verify the desired E173H and F221A mutations.

The *HIS3-lacZ* reporter was introduced to yeast by transforming the StuI-linearized pMK334 that generates *URA*⁺ integrants. pMK334 was constructed by inserting the EcoRI-DraI *lacZ* fragment of pLKC482 (90) into the EcoRI-HindIII sites of YIplac211, resulting in pMK333. An EcoRI-BgIII fragment containing the *HIS3* promoter was isolated from pMK231 where a BgIII site was introduced at the 5' end of *HIS3* open reading frame (ORF) and inserted into the EcoRI-BamHI sites of pMK333. A unique StuI site within the *URA3* gene was used for integrative transformation. All subsequent integrants were grown in the absence of uracil to maintain the integrated sequence.

To knock out the *SNF1* gene, two disruptors were constructed. *snf1* Δ -1::*LEU2* was generated by two-step subcloning. First, an ApaLI-HindIII fragment upstream of the *SNF1* ORF was inserted into the XbaI-HindIII sites of pJJ252 (<u>47</u>) to create pMK452. The 3' flanking region of the *SNF1* gene, an HpaI-SacI fragment obtained by PCR, was inserted into the BamHI-SacI sites of pMK452 to obtain pMK453. In the other disruptor (pYL45, *snf1* Δ -2::*TRP1*), the PstI-HindIII fragment of *SNF1* was first inserted into pBluescript KS+ (pMK449). The AfIII-BgIII 200-bp fragment corresponding to amino acids 109 through 176 of *SNF1* in pMK449 was replaced with the EcoRI-BgIII fragment of pJJ248 containing the *TRP1* gene (<u>47</u>). To create *snf1* deletion strains, the HindIII-BamHI fragment of pMK453 or the EcoRI-BamHI fragment of pYL45 was obtained by restriction digestion before yeast transformation.

To introduce the *REG1(1-740)* allele, plasmid pYL31 was constructed by replacing the ClaI-BgIII fragment of pKD97 (23) with a ClaI-XhoI-digested PCR product that contains the open reading frame of *REG1* up to amino acid residue 740 followed immediately by a stop codon. The ClaI-KpnI fragment of pYL31 was cloned into HindIII-KpnI sites of YIplac211 to obtain pYL35. To replace the entire *REG1* ORF with *REG1(1-740)*, pYL35 was linearized by SnaBI and integrated into the *REG1* locus by homologous recombination. The correct transformants were subjected to 5-FOA selection. Genomic PCR confirmed the correct genotype.

The *reg1* Δ strains were generated by introducing a PCR fragment containing the KanMX6 cassette flanked by *REG1* sequences outside the ORF (<u>10</u>, <u>99</u>). G418-resistant transformants were examined by genomic PCR to confirm the *reg1* Δ genotype.

To create and test histone H3 mutations, strain JHY205 (2) was first made *HIS3*⁺ by replacing the *his3* ΔI allele with the BamHI fragment of pJJ217 (47) that contains the entire *HIS3* gene, resulting in yDA10. Each histone H3 mutation was generated by the Quikchange method (Stratagene), using pJH33 as the template. All mutations were confirmed by sequencing.

The 2μ *SNF1* construct pYL41 was created by cloning the BamHI-PstI fragment containing the entire transcription unit of *SNF1* into EcoRI-PstI sites of YEplac112 (<u>30</u>). Deletion of the general control-responsive element (GCRE) was as described previously (<u>51</u>).

pMK547Gcn5 with an N-terminal hemagglutinin (HA) tag was created by cotransforming XbaI-linearized pMK547, derived from pAB8 with the Gal4 DNA binding domain deleted (<u>34</u>), and a PCR-amplified *GCN5* open reading frame. The Gcn5-TAP fusion construct (pYL54) was generated by a strategy essentially equivalent to QuikChange mutagenesis protocol (Roche) except that the mutagenic primers were PCRamplified TAP sequence (<u>74</u>) flanked with sequences around the stop codon of *GCN5*. pMK144 (<u>52</u>) was the template for mutagenesis and insertion of the TAP sequence. pYL67, a plasmid derived from pBS1479 (<u>74</u>) by replacing the TAP sequence with eight Myc repeats, was severed as PCR template to amplify the *Myc::TRP1* cassette with flanking sequence correlated with residue 740 or the stop codon of *REG1*. Gel-purified PCR products were transformed into yeast cells to generate Reg1-Myc fusions.

HAT and kinase assays. Gcn5 protein amino acids 19 to 348 lacking the bromodomain were cloned into pET21a and expressed as a His-tagged protein (pMK515).

The desired point mutations were generated by the Quikchange method (Stratagene) and verified by sequencing. The recombinant protein was induced in the BL21 strain by adding 1 mM (final concentration) IPTG (isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside) when cell culture reached an optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) of 0.5/ml. Cell cultures were grown at 37°C for 3 h. Extraction and protein affinity purification were done according to reference <u>50</u>.

Kinase assays were done with the above Gcn5 protein incubated with glutathione *S*-transferase (GST)-Snf1 (wild-type or K84R) expressed and purified from yeast according to reference <u>35</u>. The GST-SNF1 constructs were kindly provided by D. Thiele (Duke University).

Suppressor screening. The yeast genomic DNA library (#21) containing the *mTn-lacZ/LEU2* intervening sequence was provided by M. Snyder (Yale University) (77). The DNA was prepared by cesium chloride gradient and digested by NotI before transforming into yMK995. Ten micrograms of the library DNA was digested and isolated by phenol-chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation. Approximately 26,000 *LEU*⁻ transformants were replica plated to synthetic complete (SC)-His medium containing 20 mM 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole (3-AT) and incubated at 37°C for 3 to 5 days. 3-AT-resistant colonies were further transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, and the *lacZ* level was tested according to reference <u>1</u>. Colonies that showed blue color on the *lacZ* filter assays were grown in SC-Leu medium overnight and transferred to yeast extract-peptone-dextrose (YPD) (representing the repressed condition) or synthetic minimal medium (SD) containing 20 mM 3-AT for 4 h. Yeast cells (20 ml; OD₆₀₀ of 0.1/ml) were then harvested

by centrifugation (10,000 × g for 5 min at 4°C), washed, and suspended in extraction buffer (0.3 M sorbitol, 0.1 M NaCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, 5 mM EDTA, Complete protease inhibitor cocktail [Roche]). Whole-cell extracts were prepared by vigorous agitation with glass beads using a bead beater (Biospec Products). β-Galactosidase activity was quantified according to reference <u>1</u>. One clone, renamed yMK1055 henceforth, repetitively showed elevated *lacZ* expression in response to amino acid starvation and was further studied. yMK1055 was backcrossed to yMK1075 before 3-AT tests. To verify that a single *mTn* insertion event was responsible for the *BGR* phenotypes, yMK1055 was crossed to yMK1085. The diploid strain was subjected to sporulation and tetrad dissection; all *trp*⁻ segregants were tested for cosegregation of 3-AT resistance and leucine prototrophy. Recommended procedures were employed to map the integration site of the *mTn-lacZ* fragment

(http://ygac.med.yale.edu/mtn/insertion_libraries.stm). Namely, yeast genomic DNA was isolated, digested by EcoRI, and subjected to intramolecular ligation prior to bacterial transformation. Plasmid DNA was isolated from *Escherichia coli* cells and sequenced across the junction between *REG1* and *mTn-lacZ/LEU2* using a primer specific to *lacZ*.

Northern analyses. Yeast cells were grown in appropriate selection media until the OD_{600} reached 0.5. Cells were then pelleted by centrifugation (5,000 × g, 5 min, 4°C) and transferred to either YPD (for basal expression) or SD supplemented with required nutrients and 40 mM 3-AT (for induced expression). Cell suspensions were further incubated at 37°C for 2 to 3 h before harvesting for RNA preparation. Although these relatively harsh conditions for induction were not essential, such treatment generally

generated more consistent results in *HIS3* activation in our strain background. Procedures for RNA preparation and Northern blot hybridization were described previously (52).

Interaction between Gcn5 and Snf1. To test the interaction between Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins, a GST-Snf1 expression construct (<u>35</u>) or just GST (pYL44) was transformed to the strain carrying pMK547Gcn5. Purification of GST-Snf1 was as described previously (<u>35</u>). Glutathione Sepharose 4B (30 μ l; Amersham) was added to whole-cell extracts purified from 1.5 × 10⁹ cells and incubated at 4°C for 3 h under constant rocking. Beads were pelleted and washed twice with HEMGT buffer (25 mM HEPES, pH 7.9, 12.5 mM MgCl₂, 150 mM NaCl. 10% glycerol, 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 1× Complete protease inhibitor cocktail [Roche]) followed by two more washes with HEMGT buffer containing 300 or 500 mM NaCl. The bound fractions were eluted by sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) loading buffer and resolved by 8% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). The copurified HA-Gcn5 protein was detected by anti-HA antibodies (12CA5; Roche).

For Gcn5-Reg1(1-740) copurification, whole-cell extracts from cells carrying pYL54 and C-terminally Myc-tagged Reg1 or Reg1(1-740) protein were prepared with the beadbeating method in FA lysis buffer (50 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% Na deoxycholate, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 1× Complete protease inhibitor cocktail [Roche]). Lysates from 3×10^9 cells were incubated with 30 µl of immunoglobulin G Sepharose 6 (Amersham) for 2 h at 4°C. After three washes with FA lysis buffer, the beads were boiled in SDS loading buffer and resolved by 8% SDS-PAGE. Western blots were conducted with an anti-c-Myc antibody (Roche).

RESULTS

Screening and identification of a BGR suppressor. To screen for extragenic suppressors that rescue transcriptional defects caused by loss-of-function mutations of Gen5 protein, we introduced a single mutation to the catalytic domain of Gen5 protein. This mutation, E173H, is a Glu-to-His mutation at residue 173. Since Gcn5 protein participates in more than one complex, the use of this mutant likely maintains the integral architecture of these complexes (103). Previously, an E173Q mutation was shown by others to drastically reduce the in vitro and in vivo activity of Gcn5 protein (54, 73, 93). However, this E173Q mutant in our hands maintained significant activities in HIS3 expression after it was integrated back to the native GCN5 locus (data not shown). We thus designed a Glu-to-His mutation. With the slight positive charge of histidine under physiological pH, a more drastic reduction of the catalytic power of Gcn5 protein was expected (54, 89). The HAT activity of a bacterially expressed E173H mutant was tested using chicken histones as the substrates. As predicted, this mutation significantly reduced the in vitro HAT activity of Gcn5 protein (Fig. 1A). To test in vivo functions, the E173H allele was integrated to the native GCN5 locus to replace the wild-type allele. In parallel, another well-characterized F221A allele (52) was integrated in the same manner. Both alleles were controlled by the native GCN5 cis elements. Yeast strains bearing the wildtype, complete knockout, F221A, or E173H allele of GCN5 were then tested for responses to amino acid starvation. Each strain was patched to YPD medium and then replica plated to synthetic complete medium lacking histidine and supplemented with various concentrations of 3-AT, a competitive inhibitor of the His3 protein. Very minor growth defects were seen in $gcn5^{-}$ strains when assayed at 30°C in medium

supplemented with 3-AT (Fig. <u>1B</u>). However, when these cells were incubated at 37°C, 3-AT induced obvious growth defects of all three $gcn5^-$ strains. None of these cells were temperature sensitive (compare growth on YPD and SC-His without 3-AT). The clear growth defects of $gcn5^-$ cells provide a platform for suppressor screening.

We further modified the E173H mutant strain by introducing a *HIS3-lacZ* reporter to the *ura3-52* locus. Insertion of *HIS3-lacZ* did not change the cellular sensitivity to 3-AT (Fig. <u>1B</u>, bottom two patches). This *lacZ* reporter, under the control of the *HIS3* promoter, was also activated by amino acid starvation (Fig. <u>1C</u>) and hence offered a convenient means to verify the 3-AT-resistant suppressor phenotypes.

To identify suppressors, we used a minitransposon (*mTn*)-based mutagenesis approach (<u>77</u>). In this method, the *mTn-lacZ/LEU2* sequence was integrated into a yeast genomic DNA library via transposition. Yeast DNA fragments along with the interrupting sequence were excised from the plasmid pool and transformed into yeast. Each *mTn* sequence integrated to the chromatin via homologous recombination between the flanking yeast sequence and the corresponding genomic locus. *LEU⁻* transformants were replica plated to 20 mM 3-AT medium and grown at 37°C. All 3-AT-resistant clones were then screened for increased expression of β -galactosidase induced by amino acid starvation. From approximately 26,000 *LEU⁻* transformants, we identified 1 such colony (Fig. <u>1C</u>). Northern data clearly showed that the *HIS3* expression was upregulated in this suppressor strain compared with the parental *gcn5* E173H cells (Fig. <u>1D</u>). Similar complementation in transcription was seen in *HIS1*, *HIS6* (not shown), and *HIS4* (Fig. <u>2C</u>)

as well. Genetic assays showed that a single mTn insertion event was responsible for the suppression phenotypes (data not shown and see Materials and Methods).

To map the mutation, we rescued and cloned the *mTn* insertion along with the flanking veast sequences (see Materials and Methods). DNA sequencing across the junction revealed that the mutagenic fragment had inserted to the coding region of *REG1* (Fig. 2A), resulting in in-frame fusion of *lucZ* to residue 740 of Reg1 protein. While the expression of the Reg1-*mTn*-lacZ fusion protein may have contributed to some β galactosidase activity shown in Fig. 1C, the HIS3 transcript quantification results (Fig. 1D) unequivocally demonstrated the rescue of $gcn5^{-}$ defects. Nonetheless, since the inframe fusion of *lucZ* added a large mass to the truncated Reg1 protein, we were curious whether the β -galactosidase fusion was necessary for the suppression. By integrative transformation, we replaced the chromosomal copy of the native *REG1* with one that is truncated after residue 740 (without the lacZ fusion) and tested whether this "clean" *REG1(1-740)* allele was able to suppress the gcn5 E173H mutation. Figure 2B shows that with a truncated Reg1(1-740) protein, the gcn5 E173H cells also exhibited significant resistance to 3-AT (Fig. 2B, row 5) and restoration of HIS3 expression (Fig. 2B, lane 7), although the original *mTn-lacZ* insertion consistently showed better growth than Reg1(1-740). The in-frame fusion of β -galactosidase enhanced but was not essential for suppression efficacy.

We further deleted the *REG1* gene and found that the suppression phenotypes were lost (Fig. <u>2B</u>, left panel, row 4, and right panel, lane 4). Interestingly, in the presence of a functional Gcn5 protein, deleting the *REG1* gene does not seem to affect *HIS3* expression

(Fig. <u>1D</u>, lanes 7 and 8). Together, these results showed that a Reg1(1-740) truncated protein is essential and sufficient for suppressing the *gcn5* E173H mutation in *HIS3* transcription.

Gcn5, in the context of SAGA complex, is recruited to the *HIS3* promoter by the transcriptional activator Gcn4 that binds the cognate *cis* element, GCRE (51). To test whether the Reg1(1-740) suppressor exerted its function via Gcn4-GCRE or a novel Gcn4-independent mechanism, we replaced the GCRE 5' to the *HIS3* gene with an irrelevant sequence (51) and determined whether the suppression was affected. Comparison of mRNA transcribed from the GCRE-less *HIS3* with the wild-type *HIS4* control clearly showed that the GCRE was essential for Reg1(1-740)-mediated suppression (Fig. <u>2C</u>), indicating that Reg1(1-740) protein modulates an activity downstream of the normal Gcn4 functions.

One possible mechanism for the observed suppression is restoration of the HAT activity of the Gcn5 E173H mutant protein. To see if this was the case, we conducted chromatin immunoprecipitation using an antibody against histone H3 acetylated at Lys9 and/or 14 (52). Figure 2D, lane 1, shows the expected hyperacetylation at the +1 nucleosome of *HIS3* in the presence of a wild-type Gcn5 protein (51). The TATA element and the transcription initiation sites are within the +1 nucleosome. Promoter hyperacetylation was lost in the E173H background (Fig. 2D, lane 5). When *REG1* was replaced with the *REG1(1-740)* suppressor allele, H3 remained hypoacetylated at the *HIS3* promoter (Fig. 2D, lane 7), suggesting that the canonical nucleosomal H3 acetylation by the Gcn5 acetyltransferase was not affected in the *REG1(1-740)* background.

Reg1(1-740) preferentially rescues the E173H allele of gcn5 in a semidominant

manner. To characterize the Reg1(1-740) suppressor further, we first tested whether this allele was dominant or recessive. Figure <u>3A</u> shows that the $REG1^+/REG1(1-740)$ heterozygote retained a growth advantage over the parental *gcn5* E173H *REG1*⁻ homozygous strain at both 30 and 37°C. The strength of the suppression appeared to be somewhat weaker than the haploid strain, suggesting that the Reg1(1-740) protein was a gain-of-function, semidominant suppressor.

Besides E173H, the F221A mutation also causes quantitative defects of Gcn5 functions in vitro and in vivo (Fig. <u>1B</u>) (<u>52</u>). This mutation selectively impairs the ability of Gcn5 protein to bind acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA) (<u>57</u>, <u>76</u>, <u>88</u>), which is a prerequisite step for histone tail binding (<u>88</u>). It is thus likely that histone tails within the vicinity of the SAGA complex remain free from binding by the F221A mutant protein. In contrast, based on the studies of the E173Q mutant (<u>89</u>) and our yeast two-hybrid tests comparing different disabled *gcn5* mutants (M.-H. Kuo, unpublished data), the E173H allele most likely prolongs its association with both substrates because the catalytic process stalls after the ternary complex is formed. Because of the possible differential effects on histone tail accessibility, we tested whether E173H, F221A, and a knockout allele of *GCN5* responded differently to Reg1(1-740) suppressor.

To test the allele specificity, the $gcn5\Lambda$ and gcn5 F221A strains were engineered so that *REG1* was replaced with the *REG1(1-740)* allele, and the resultant strains were tested on 3-AT plates (Fig. <u>3B</u>). Neither the F221A nor the complete knockout allele of gcn5 was rescued by Reg1(1-740) (Fig. <u>3B</u>, rows 6 and 8). The strong preference for the E173H

allele suggests that Reg1 protein may interact directly with Gcn5 protein or may control Gcn5 at a step(s) subsequent to the formation of the Gcn5-acetyl-CoA-histone ternary complex.

We further tested whether Reg1(1-740) protein rescued other $gcn5^-$ phenotypes. Figure <u>3C</u> shows that all three $gcn5^-$ mutants exhibited severe growth retardation in yeast extract-peptone-glycerol and yeast extract-peptone-ethanol media, as previously reported (<u>58</u>). Moreover, $gcn5^-$ cells were also sensitive to 100 mM hydroxyurea, an inhibitor of DNA replication. However, neither the mTn allele nor the clean truncation of Reg1(1-740) protein was able to suppress any of these defects. The failure to suppress other phenotypes, such as caffeine sensitivity, and the inability to use galactose or sucrose were also observed (data not shown). In contrast, the sporulation defects (<u>12</u>) of a gcn5 E173H homozygous strain were partially rescued (not shown). We conclude that the Reg1(1-740) protein suppresses only a subset of Gcn5 target genes.

Snf1 protein plays a critical role for *HIS3* **expression.** Reg1 protein is best known to inhibit the kinase activity of Snf1 protein and consequently prevents the expression of many genes when glucose is abundant (see the introduction), a function termed glucose repression. Snf1 protein derepresses the expression of these genes via several mechanisms, including histone H3 phosphorylation (59, 60). Phosphorylated H3 was shown to bind Gcn5 protein at a higher affinity (15, 17). It thus seems plausible that the hypoacetylation phenotype caused by *gcn5* mutations may be compensated for by hyperphosphorylation of H3, which either helps anchor Gcn5 protein to the *HIS3* promoter or by itself provides an environment suitable for stronger *HIS3* expression.

To examine the link between Gcn5, Snf1, and H3 phosphorylation, we first tested whether Snf1 protein was involved in *HIS3* expression. To this end, we created two deletion alleles of *SNF1*. The *snf1* Δ -*1*::*LEU2* mutant had the entire ORF replaced with a *LEU2* marker. However, this marker was incompatible with the *mTn-lacZ-LEU2* insertion mutant; we thus created another allele, *snf1* Δ -*2*::*TRP1*, that was truncated after amino acid 108. Figure <u>4</u> shows that both *snf1* mutations caused obvious growth defects on 3-AT plates (Fig. <u>4A</u>, rows 2 to 4) as well as impaired *HIS3* expression (Fig. <u>4B</u>, lane 3, and data not shown), demonstrating that the Snf1 protein was also a critical transcriptional regulator for *HIS3*. We next tested whether the Snf1 protein was important for the suppression. Deleting *SNF1* from the original *gcn5* E173H *REG1::mTn-lacZ* suppressor strain significantly attenuated the suppression phenotypes (Fig. <u>4A</u>, rows 6 and 7, and B, lane 5). Thus, Snf1 protein is critical for normal and Reg1(1-740)-mediated *HIS3* activation.

To see how Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins may genetically interact to activate *HIS3*, we examined whether overexpressing one of these two enzymes can rescue the *HIS3* expression defects caused by a mutation of the other. While a 2μ m multicopy *GCN5* construct was unable to rescue the 3-AT hypersensitivity of the *snf1* Δ -2::*TRP1* strain (Fig. 4C, left panel), overproduction of Snf1 protein effectively rescued the E173H allele of *gcn5* (Fig. 4C, right panel, compare rows 3 and 4). On the other hand, overproduction of a catalytically inactive mutant of Snf1. K83R, failed to rescue the *gcn5*⁻ phenotypes (data not shown), suggesting that the kinase activity was essential for the suppression. Intriguingly, neither deletion nor the F221A allele of *gcn5* responded to the multicopy *SNF1* plasmid. Thus, the Snf1 multicopy suppressor displays an allele specificity similar

to that of Reg1(1-740). Furthermore, in the presence of a functional *GCN5*, overproduction of Snf1 protein yielded higher resistance to 3-AT (Fig. <u>4C</u>, right panel, row 2), very similar to the $GCN5^{-}$ REG1(1-740) strain (Fig. <u>3B</u>, row 2).

Taking together the above results, as well as the reports that Reg1 and Snf1 interact genetically and physically for transcription of several inducible genes (see the introduction), it seems likely that Snf1 may be part of the mechanism by which Reg1(1-740) protein suppresses the E173H mutant allele.

H3 Ser10 phosphorylation is not responsible for bgr suppression. To test whether H3 Ser10 phosphorylation contributes to the BGR phenotypes, we used a yeast strain in which both copies of each of the four core histone genes had been deleted (2). Viability of the cells was supported by a low-copy-number plasmid bearing wild-type histone genes and a URA3 marker. The desired histone mutations can be introduced into an otherwise identical construct containing a LEU2 nutrient marker. After transforming the latter plasmid that delivered the specific histone mutation(s), the wild-type histone genes were shuffled out by 5-FOA selection, leaving the mutant allele as the sole copy for histone expression. Additionally, GCN5 and REG1 were replaced with the E173H and REG1(1-740) alleles, respectively. 3-AT resistance was then compared among different LEU Ura strains as shown in Fig. 5. In this genetic background, Reg1(1-740) also effectively rescued the E173H mutant. However, the S10A mutation did not impose a discernible effect on cellular growth (Fig. 5, compare rows 3 and 4), ruling out a critical role played by phosphorylated Ser10 alone. Within the amino-terminal tail domain of histone H3, Ser28 and Ser31 share sequence similarity with Ser10 (⁷ARKSTGG and

²⁵ARKSAPSTGG). Although Snf1 protein has not been shown to phosphorylate either serine residue, Ser28 can be phosphorylated by the Aurora family kinases for chromatin condensation during mitosis (<u>16</u>, <u>31</u>, <u>82</u>). We were curious about the possibility that the Snf1 kinase activity might "spill over" to these two residues in the *REG1(1-740)* strain. Thus, a triple Ser-to-Ala mutant, S10A/S28A/S31A, was introduced to the *gcn5* E173H *REG1(1-740)* background. These cells still exhibited robust growth in the presence of **3**-AT (Fig. <u>5</u>, row 6), further supporting the notion that H3 phosphorylation was unlikely to be the driving force for the observed *BGR* phenotypes. Consistent with this, neither single nor triple Ser-to-Ala mutations exacerbated the 3-AT hypersensitivity caused by the E173H mutation in a *REG1⁻* background (Fig. <u>5</u>, compare rows 2, 8, and 10). We therefore conclude that Ser10 phosphorylation, though important for activation of several other genes, does not contribute appreciably to Gcn5 and Snf1 protein-mediated *HIS3* expression. Thus, Snf1 protein most likely controls *HIS3* expression by a novel, H3 phosphorylation-independent mechanism(s).

While preventing H3 phosphorylation imposes no apparent effect on the Reg1(1-740) protein-generated suppression, we were nonetheless interested in knowing whether a constitutively phosphorylated H3 would be sufficient to bring about a chromatin environment that suppresses the *gcn5* E173H transcriptional defects. Toward this end, Ser10, Ser28, and Ser31 were replaced by aspartate or glutamate that mimicked the negatively charged phosphorylation state. Cellular growth in the presence of 3-AT was then assessed. While a single S10E mutation yielded very few differences in *REG1* or *REG1*(*1-740*) background (Fig. <u>5</u>, rows 5 and 9), the triple acidic mutation clearly brought about stronger resistance to 3-AT (Fig. <u>5</u>, rows 7 and 11). Since this phenotype

55

. .

was independent of the *REG1* status, we conclude that constitutive negative charges at the amino terminus of H3 represent another bypass of Gcn5 requirement suppressor.

Physical interactions of Gcn5, Snf1, and Reg1(1-740). The above data place both Reg1 and Snf1 proteins to the regulatory circuitry of *HIS3* and likely other amino acid starvation-inducible genes. The ability of Reg1(1-740) protein and overproduced Snf1 kinase to rescue preferentially the E173H mutant suggests an intriguing possibility that Gcn5 protein is a functional target for the Snf1 kinase. To test this hypothesis, we purified a wild-type and a catalytically inactive (K84R) GST-Snf1 protein from yeast (<u>35</u>) and incubated these two preps with recombinant Gcn5 protein expressed in *E. coli.* [γ -³²P]ATP was included in the reactions to track the phosphorylation status of Gcn5. Figure <u>6A</u> shows that Gcn5 protein was indeed phosphorylated in the presence of the wild-type Snf1 protein. The K84R mutation effectively diminished Gcn5 phosphorylation, indicating that Snf1 protein was responsible for Gcn5 protein phosphorylation.

Intrigued by the in vitro phosphorylation results, we further tested whether Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins interacted in vivo. To this end, we epitope tagged Gcn5 with HA at its amino terminus. Two yeast strains expressing GST-Snf1 or GST were transformed with the HA-*GCN5* construct and subjected to one-step purification with a glutathione matrix. After extensive washing, the bound materials were resolved by SDS-PAGE and probed with an anti-HA antibody. Figure <u>6B</u> shows apparent copurification of the HA-Gcn5 protein with GST-Snf1 but not GST alone. Literally identical results were obtained in reciprocal experiments (i.e., immunoprecipitation with the anti-HA antibody, followed by

Western analyses to quantify Snf1 protein in the precipitate) (not shown), confirming the in vivo association between Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins.

We then asked whether Reg1 protein also associated with Gcn5 protein. Figure <u>6C</u> shows that a Myc-tagged Reg1(1-740) protein was also present in the crude preparation of an epitope-tagged Gcn5 protein. Intriguingly, the full-length Reg1-Myc protein was not detected under the same condition (Fig. <u>6C</u>, first two lanes), consistent with the gain-of-function trait of the Reg1(1-740) suppressor protein.

DISCUSSION

A putative noncatalytic function of Gcn5 protein. The histone acetyltransferase activity of Gcn5 protein is critical for the expression of multiple yeast genes. Point mutations that eliminate the HAT activity of Gcn5 protein cause defects in promoter acetylation and in transcriptional activation of such model genes as HIS3 and PHO5 (7, 52, 73, 100). While these results provide solid evidence that Gcn5 protein uses its HAT activity to activate transcription, microarray studies also showed that a gcn5 knockout strain has transcriptional defects in more genes than does a strain expressing a catalytically inactive mutant (43), suggesting that Gcn5 protein may perform noncatalytic roles in gene expression. Indeed, Jacobson and Pillus showed that a catalytically inactive Gcn5 protein counteracts transcriptional silencing at subtelomeric loci (46). Such noncatalytic functions of Gcn5 protein may be unveiled by characterizing point mutations that abrogate the catalytic power of Gcn5 protein but permit other functions to be exerted. This notion seems to be consistent with the data presented in this work. For example, *HIS3* and *HIS4* expression are effectively rescued by the Reg1(1-740) suppressor (Fig. 1D and 2C) in the E173H but not the knockout background. No restoration of histone H3 acetylation was detected, suggesting one possibility that the noncatalytic function of the E173H allele is selectively enhanced by Reg1(1-740) protein. This function is likely synergistic with its catalytic counterpart, as more pronounced resistance to 3-AT is exhibited by $GCN5^+$ REG1(1-740) and $GCN5^+$ multicopy SNF1 strains (Fig. 3B and 4C).

It is also intriguing that the F221A allele is refractory to Reg1(1-740) and higher doses of Snf1 protein. Several other suppressors that are currently characterized by us do not show such unique allele specificity (Y. Liu, X. Xu, and M.-H. Kuo, unpublished data). Molecularly, E173H and F221A mutations abrogate the HAT activity of Gcn5 via different mechanisms and may have different impacts on histone tails. F221A impairs acetyl-CoA binding (57, 88, 93), whereas E173H blocks the nucleophilic attack on the bound acetyl-CoA (89). Association of acetyl-CoA is prerequisite to histone tail binding (88, 89). After the transfer of the acetyl group to histone within the ternary complex, the acetylated histone dissociates first and then follows the consumed coenzyme A. Thus, blocking the association between Gcn5 and acetyl-CoA by the F221A mutation likely prevents Gcn5 protein from binding to the substrate histone, rendering the latter susceptible to other unregulated or untimely chromatin binding and modulating activities. The E173H mutation, on the other hand, may lock Gcn5, acetyl-CoA, and the histone tail in a ternary complex, thus preventing possible usage or modifications of the histone tail by other activities. In addition, it remains a strong possibility that Gcn5 protein uses nonhistone protein substrates (68). If so, the retention of one of these proteins by the E173H mutant enzyme may exacerbate the histone hypoacetylation defects.

Furthermore, only a subset of defects associated with $gcn5^-$ mutants can be rescued by Reg1(1-740) (Fig. <u>3C</u>). Together, it is highly likely that Gcn5 uses multiple mechanisms to activate transcription in a target gene (or transcriptional activator)-dependent manner.

Reg1(1-740) protein is a gain-of-function suppressor. Reg1 protein is a regulatory subunit for Glc7, an essential and multifunctional type I protein phosphatase (<u>95</u>). Reg1

protein also interacts with several other proteins, including Snf1 (<u>61</u>, <u>79</u>) and the yeast 14-3-3 homologues, Bmh1 and Bmh2 proteins (<u>22</u>). The binding domains for these proteins are all within the first 500 amino acids that are conserved among Reg1 protein homologues (<u>22</u>, <u>23</u>, <u>61</u>). These domain are preserved in our *REG1(1-740)* suppressor allele, suggesting that the prototypical functions of Reg1 protein are not impaired by the C-terminal truncation.

The Reg1(1-740) protein lacks about one third of the total length. The truncation occurs immediately before a stretch of acidic residues (15 of 19 residues are Asp or Glu), and the deleted portion is rich in serine, threonine, and acidic residues (16% Ser, 4.4% Thr, 8.8% Asp, and 7.3% Glu). Little is known about the molecular functions or potential partners of this part of the Reg1 protein. Preliminary sequence search reveals no clear homologues to this region across species (data not shown). Contrary to the gain-offunction *BGR* phenotypes, this C-terminal region is dispensable for glucose repression. For example, Dombek et al. showed that the C-terminal deletion of Reg1 protein (up to residue 693) does not cause appreciable derepression of ADH2 or SUC2 (23). Shirra and Arndt reported that a Reg1 protein missing the last 80 amino acids is able to fully complement a recessive reg1-326 mutant (83). Indeed, we have no evidence of transcriptional derepression of those glucose-repressible genes in the *REG1(1-740*) background (Y. Liu and M.-H. Kuo, unpublished). It is possible that the carboxylterminal third of Reg1 protein interacts with a negative regulator(s), or another region of Reg1 protein in *cis*, that restricts specifically the *HIS3* expression-related functions of Reg1 protein. Perhaps this negative regulator selectively controls the residual non-HAT function of the E173H mutant of Gcn5 protein. Upon deleting this Ser-Thr-Asp-Glu-rich
domain, the negative effect of this regulator diminishes, hence unleashing the non-HAT function of Gcn5 protein for *HIS3* activation. This view is consistent with the affinity purification data (Fig. $\underline{6}$) that the Reg1(1-740) but not the full-length Reg1 protein can be copurified with an epitope-tagged Gcn5 protein.

It is important that the suppressing power of Reg1(1-740) protein is abrogated by deleting *SNF1*. While this result alone does not prove that Snf1 protein acts downstream of the Reg1(1-740) suppressor, considering the well-established interaction between Reg1 and Snf1 proteins, we suggest that at least part of the suppressor function of Reg1(1-740) protein is mediated through Snf1 protein. However, we cannot rule out the existence of an intermediary step(s)/factor(s) for the suppression.

One probable factor involved in the *BGR* phenotype is the type 1 protein phosphatase Glc7. Reg1 is one of several regulators of the essential Glc7 enzyme. Unfortunately, our attempts to link Glc7 protein to the *BGR* phenotypes failed to generate conclusive data. Using several known *glc7* point mutations that cause phenotypes in glycogen metabolism and/or glucose repression, we indeed found a few able to confer strong resistance to 3-AT in the absence of a functional Gcn5 protein. However, such elevated 3-AT resistance was not accompanied by increased *HIS3* transcription (Y. Liu and M.-H. Kuo, unpublished). This disparity probably arises from the fact that Glc7 protein controls multiple cytoplasmic and nuclear functions (e.g., see references <u>87</u> and <u>101</u>). Changes in the metabolism and flux of 3-AT may render yeast cells resistant to 3-AT with a low level of *HIS3* transcription. The possible involvement of *GLC7* in *HIS3* regulation awaits further investigation when more mutant *glc7* alleles are available.

61

Reg1 protein was recently shown to be purified in a complex containing two yeast 14-3-3 homologues, Bmh1 and Bmh2 proteins, and heat shock proteins Ssd1 and Ssd2 (22). Deleting *BMH1* or *BMH2* did not appreciably alter the ability of Reg1(1-740) protein to rescue the *gcn5* E173H mutant (X. Xu and M.-H. Kuo, data not shown), indicating that these two proteins are not part of the suppression mechanism. Alternatively, functional redundancy between Bmh1 and Bmh2 proteins (92% identical) (98) may account for the lack of phenotypes in *bmh1* Δ and *bmh2* Δ strains.

Interestingly, the gain-of-function nature of the Reg1(1-740) suppressor, as well as the phenotypic similarity between Reg1(1-740) and overexpressed Snf1 protein, are at odds with the well-characterized antagonistic relationship with Snf1 protein (see the Introduction). We suggest that the functional relationship between these two proteins may be gene dependent. One precedent for this type of functional variation was reported for Spt3/8 proteins on TBP recruitment. Spt3 protein genetically and physically interacts with TBP (25). While Spt3 protein is required for TBP binding to the TATA elements of *GAL1* and *ADH2* ($\underline{8}$, $\underline{9}$, $\underline{24}$, $\underline{55}$), it also plays a negative role in TBP-TATA interaction in other cases ($\underline{7}$, 105).

Snf1 protein activates HIS3 in an H3 phosphorylation-independent mechanism.

Snf1 protein is a member of the AMP-activated protein kinase family that serves as a metabolic sensor in eukaryotic cells (<u>37</u>). It thus seems reasonable that Snf1 protein also contributes to the regulation of amino acid biosynthesis genes as shown in this work. Despite the functional interaction between Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins for *INO1* activation (<u>15, 17, 58-60</u>), the H3 phosphorylation function of Snf1 protein is unlikely to be a major

62

determinant in *HIS3* expression (Fig. <u>5</u>). However, we cannot rule out the possibility of phosphorylation at other residues or histones by Snf1 protein. In addition, genetic data showed that Srb/mediator complex and TBP are also potential substrates of Snf1 kinase $(\underline{49}, \underline{83})$.

It is interesting that Snf1 protein can modify a recombinant Gcn5 protein and that these two proteins are copurified from yeast (Fig. <u>6</u>). We do not yet know the site(s) modified by Snf1 protein in vitro, nor has it been tested whether Gcn5 protein is phosphorylated in vivo. The human Gcn5 protein was shown to be modified and inhibited by the DNAdependent kinase (<u>6</u>). In our hands, the in vitro-phosphorylated Gcn5 also seems to exhibit a slightly lower activity on histones H3 and H4 (X. Xu and M.-H. Kuo, unpublished). However, it remains an open question as to whether a phosphorylated Gcn5 protein behaves differently within the context of native complexes.

In conclusion, combining the data presented here and those reported by others, we propose a simple model that that Reg1(1-740) protein uses its newly adopted affinity for Gcn5, while maintaining the Snf1 interaction domain (79), to mediate the interaction between Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins. When Snf1 protein is brought to the vicinity of Gcn5, phosphorylation of Gcn5 protein or another factor(s) within or near the SAGA complex may provide the noncatalytic function that rescues the E173H mutation for effective activation of a subset of Gcn5 target genes.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the following people for generously supplying materials: D. Almy for DA10; C. D. Allis, M. Smith, and J.-Y. Hsu for the histone knockout strain and plasmids; K. Dombek and E. Young for *REG1* constructs; D. Thiele for GST-*SNF1* constructs; M. Snyder for the *mTn* library; K. Tatchell for mutant strains of *GLC7*; A. Acharya for chicken nuclei; and M. Carlson for *SNF1* constructs. We also thank Xuqin Wang for technical assistance. S. Triezenberg and A. Acharya are thanked for providing critical comments on the manuscript.

This work was supported by NIH R01 GM62282.

REFERENCES

1. Adams, A., D. E. Gottschling, C. A. Kaiser, and T. Stearns. 1997. Methods in yeast genetics. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.

2. Ahn, S. H., W. L. Cheung, J. Y. Hsu, R. L. Diaz, M. M. Smith, and C. D. Allis. 2005. Sterile 20 kinase phosphorylates histone H2B at serine 10 during hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis in S. cerevisiae. Cell 120:25–36.

3. Andel, F., III, A. G. Ladurner, C. Inouye, R. Tjian, and E. Nogales. 1999. Three-dimensional structure of the human TFIID-IIA-IIB complex. Science **286**:2153–2156.

4. **Barbaric, S., H. Reinke, and W. Horz.** 2003. Multiple mechanistically distinct functions of SAGA at the PHO5 promoter. Mol. Cell. Biol. **23**:3468–3476.

5. Barbaric, S., J. Walker, A. Schmid, J. Q. Svejstrup, and W. Horz. 2001. Increasing the rate of chromatin remodeling and gene activation—a novel role for the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5. EMBO J. 20:4944–4951. VOL. 25, 2005 BYPASS OF Gcn5 REQUIREMENT SUPPRESSOR 10577

6. Barlev, N. A., V. Poltoratsky, T. Owen-Hughes, C. Ying, L. Liu, J. L. Workman, and S. L. Berger. 1998. Repression of GCN5 histone acetyltransferase activity via bromodomain-mediated binding and phosphorylation by the Ku-DNA-dependent protein kinase complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18:1349–1358.

7. Belotserkovskaya, R., D. E. Sterner, M. Deng, M. H. Sayre, P. M. Lieberman, and S. L. Berger. 2000. Inhibition of TATA-binding protein function by SAGA subunits Spt3 and Spt8 at Gcn4-activated promoters. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20:634–647.

8. Bhaumik, S. R., and M. R. Green. 2002. Differential requirement of SAGA components for recruitment of TATA-box-binding protein to promoters in vivo. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:7365–7371.

9. Bhaumik, S. R., and M. R. Green. 2001. SAGA is an essential in vivo target of the yeast acidic activator Gal4p. Genes Dev. 15:1935–1945.

10. Brachmann, C. B., A. Davies, G. J. Cost, E. Caputo, J. Li, P. Hieter, and J. D. Boeke. 1998. Designer deletion strains derived from Saccharomyces cerevisiae S288C: a useful set of strains and plasmids for PCR-mediated gene disruption and other applications. Yeast 14:115–132.

11. Brand, M., C. Leurent, V. Mallouh, L. Tora, and P. Schultz. 1999. Three dimensional structures of the TAFII-containing complexes TFIID and TFTC. Science **286**:2151–2153.

12. **Burgess, S. M., M. Ajimura, and N. Kleckner.** 1999. GCN5-dependent histone H3 acetylation and RPD3-dependent histone H4 deacetylation have distinct, opposing effects on IME2 transcription, during meiosis and during vegetative growth, in budding yeast. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **96:**6835–6840.

13. Carrozza, M. J., R. T. Utley, J. L. Workman, and J. Cote. 2003. The diverse functions of histone acetyltransferase complexes. Trends Genet. 19:321–329.

14. Celenza, J. L., F. J. Eng, and M. Carlson. 1989. Molecular analysis of the *SNF4* gene of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: evidence for physical association of the SNF4 protein with the SNF1 protein kinase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 9:5045–5054.

15. Cheung, P., K. G. Tanner, W. L. Cheung, P. Sassone-Corsi, J. M. Denu, and C. D. Allis. 2000. Synergistic coupling of histone H3 phosphorylation and acetylation in response to epidermal growth factor stimulation. Mol. Cell **5**:905–915.

16. Choi, H. S., B. Y. Choi, Y. Y. Cho, F. Zhu, A. M. Bode, and Z. Dong. 2005. Phosphorylation of Ser 28 in histone H3 mediated by mixed lineage kinase like mitogen-activated protein triple kinase alpha. J. Biol. Chem. **280**:13545–13553.

17. Clements, A., A. N. Poux, W. S. Lo, L. Pillus, S. L. Berger, and R. Marmorstein. 2003. Structural basis for histone and phosphohistone binding by the GCN5 histone acetyltransferase. Mol. Cell 12:461–473.

18. Clements, A., J. R. Rojas, R. C. Trievel, L. Wang, S. L. Berger, and R. Marmorstein. 1999. Crystal structure of the histone acetyltransferase domain of the human PCAF transcriptional regulator bound to coenzyme A. EMBO J. 18:3521–3532.

19. Daniel, J. A., M. S. Torok, Z. W. Sun, D. Schieltz, C. D. Allis, J. R. Yates III, and P. A. Grant. 2004. Deubiquitination of histone H2B by a yeast acetyltransferase complex regulates transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 279:1867–1871.

20. Dhalluin, C., J. E. Carlson, L. Zeng, C. He, A. K. Aggarwal, and M. M. Zhou. 1999. Structure and ligand of a histone acetyltransferase bromodomain. Nature **399:4**91– 496.

21. Dombek, K. M., S. Camier, and E. T. Young. 1993. *ADH2* expression is repressed by REG1 independently of mutations that alter the phosphorylation of the yeast transcription factor ADR1. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13:4391–4399.

22. Dombek, K. M., N. Kacherovsky, and E. T. Young. 2004. The Reg1-interacting proteins, Bmh1, Bmh2, Ssb1, and Ssb2, have roles in maintaining glucose repression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem. 279:39165–39174.

23. **Dombek, K. M., V. Voronkova, A. Raney, and E. T. Young.** 1999. Functional analysis of the yeast Glc7-binding protein Reg1 identifies a protein phosphatase type 1-binding motif as essential for repression of *ADH2* expression. Mol. Cell. Biol. **19:**6029–6040.

24. Dudley, A. M., C. Rougeulle, and F. Winston. 1999. The Spt components of SAGA facilitate TBP binding to a promoter at a post-activator-binding step in vivo. Genes Dev. 13:2940–2945.

25. Eisenmann, D. M., K. M. Arndt, S. L. Ricupero, J. W. Rooney, and F. Winston. 1992. SPT3 interacts with TFIID to allow normal transcription in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genes Dev. 6:1319–1331.

26. Erickson, J. R., and M. Johnston. 1993. Genetic and molecular characterization of GAL83: its interaction and similarities with other genes involved in glucose repression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 135:655–664.

27. Flick, J. S., and M. Johnston. 1990. Two systems of glucose repression of the *GAL1* promoter in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10:4757–4769.

28. Frederick, D. L., and K. Tatchell. 1996. The *REG2* gene of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* encodes a type 1 protein phosphatase-binding protein that functions with Reg1p and the Snf1 protein kinase to regulate growth. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16:2922–2931.

29. Gietz, D., A. St. Jean, R. A. Woods, and R. H. Schiestl. 1992. Improved method for high efficiency transformation of intact yeast cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 20:1425.

30. Gietz, R. D., and A. Sugino. 1988. New yeast-Escherichia coli shuttle vectors constructed with in vitro mutagenized yeast genes lacking six-base pair restriction sites. Gene 74:527–534.

31. Goto, H., Y. Yasui, E. A. Nigg, and M. Inagaki. 2002. Aurora-B phosphorylates histone H3 at serine28 with regard to the mitotic chromosome condensation. Genes Cells 7:11–17.

32. Grant, P. A., L. Duggan, J. Cote, S. M. Roberts, J. E. Brownell, R. Candau, R. Ohba, T. Owen-Hughes, C. D. Allis, F. Winston, S. L. Berger, and J. L. Workman. 1997. Yeast Gcn5 functions in two multisubunit complexes to acetylate nucleosomal histones: characterization of an Ada complex and the SAGA (Spt/Ada) complex. Genes Dev. 11:1640–1650.

33. Grant, P. A., D. Schieltz, M. G. Pray-Grant, D. J. Steger, J. C. Reese, J. R. Yates III, and J. L. Workman. 1998. A subset of TAF(II)s are integral components of the SAGA complex required for nucleosome acetylation and transcriptional stimulation. Cell 94:45–53.

34. Guo, D., T. R. Hazbun, X. J. Xu, S. L. Ng, S. Fields, and M. H. Kuo. 2004. A tethered catalysis, two-hybrid system to identify protein-protein interactions requiring post-translational modifications. Nat. Biotechnol. 22:888–892.

35. Hahn, J. S., and D. J. Thiele. 2004. Activation of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae heat shock transcription factor under glucose starvation conditions by Snf1 protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 279:5169–5176.

36. Halford, N. G., S. Hey, D. Jhurreea, S. Laurie, R. S. McKibbin, Y. Zhang, and M. J. Paul. 2004. Highly conserved protein kinases involved in the regulation of carbon and amino acid metabolism. J. Exp. Bot. **55**:35–42.

37. Hardie, D. G., D. Carling, and M. Carlson. 1998. The AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase subfamily: metabolic sensors of the eukaryotic cell? Annu. Rev. Biochem. 67:821–855.

38. Henry, K. W., A. Wyce, W. S. Lo, L. J. Duggan, N. C. Emre, C. F. Kao, L. Pillus, A. Shilatifard, M. A. Osley, and S. L. Berger. 2003. Transcriptional activation via sequential histone H2B ubiquitylation and deubiquitylation, mediated by SAGA-associated Ubp8. Genes Dev. 17:2648–2663.

39. Hess, D., and F. Winston. 2005. Evidence that Spt10 and Spt21 of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* play distinct roles *in vivo* and functionally interact with MCB-binding factor, SCB-binding factor and Snf1. Genetics 170:87–94.

40. Holstege, F. C., E. G. Jennings, J. J. Wyrick, T. I. Lee, C. J. Hengartner, M. R. Green, T. R. Golub, E. S. Lander, and R. A. Young. 1998. Dissecting the regulatory circuitry of a eukaryotic genome. Cell 95:717–728.

41. Hu, Z., Y. Yue, H. Jiang, B. Zhang, P. W. Sherwood, and C. A. Michels. 2000. Analysis of the mechanism by which glucose inhibits maltose induction of MAL gene expression in Saccharomyces. Genetics 154:121–132.

42. Huang, D., K. T. Chun, M. G. Goebl, and P. J. Roach. 1996. Genetic interactions between REG1/HEX2 and GLC7, the gene encoding the protein phosphatase type 1 catalytic subunit in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 143:119–127.

43. Huisinga, K. L., and B. F. Pugh. 2004. A genome-wide housekeeping role for TFIID and a highly regulated stress-related role for SAGA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Cell 13:573–585.

44. Ingvarsdottir, K., N. J. Krogan, N. C. T. Emre, A. Wyce, N. J. Thompson, A. Emili, T. R. Hughes, J. F. Greenblatt, and S. L. Berger. 2005. H2B ubiquitin protease Ubp8 and Sgf11 constitute a discrete functional module within the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* SAGA complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. 25: 1162–1172.

45. Jacobson, R. H., A. G. Ladurner, D. S. King, and R. Tjian. 2000. Structure and function of a human TAFII250 double bromodomain module. Science **288**:1422–1425.

46. **Jacobson, S., and L. Pillus.** 2004. Molecular requirements for gene expression mediated by targeted histone acetyltransferases. Mol. Cell. Biol. **24**: 6029–6039.

47. Jones, J. S., and L. Prakash. 1990. Yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae selectable markers in pUC18 polylinkers. Yeast 6:363–366.

48. Krebs, J. E., M. H. Kuo, C. D. Allis, and C. L. Peterson. 1999. Cell cycleregulated histone acetylation required for expression of the yeast HO gene. Genes Dev. 13:1412–1421.

49. Kuchin, S., I. Treich, and M. Carlson. 2000. A regulatory shortcut between the Snf1 protein kinase and RNA polymerase II holoenzyme. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:7916–7920.

50. Kuo, M. H., and C. D. Allis. 1998. Roles of histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases in gene regulation. Bioessays 20:615–626.

51. **Kuo, M. H., E. vom Baur, K. Struhl, and C. D. Allis.** 2000. Gcn4 activator targets Gcn5 histone acetyltransferase to specific promoters independently of transcription. Mol. Cell **6**:1309–1320.

52. Kuo, M. H., J. Zhou, P. Jambeck, M. E. Churchill, and C. D. Allis. 1998. Histone acetyltransferase activity of yeast Gcn5p is required for the activation of target genes in vivo. Genes Dev. 12:627–639.

53. Ladurner, A. G., C. Inouye, R. Jain, and R. Tjian. 2003. Bromodomains mediate an acetyl-histone encoded antisilencing function at heterochromatin boundaries. Mol. Cell 11:365–376.

54. Langer, M. R., K. G. Tanner, and J. M. Denu. 2001. Mutational analysis of conserved residues in the GCN5 family of histone acetyltransferases. J. Biol. Chem. 276:31321–31331.

55. Larschan, E., and F. Winston. 2001. The S. cerevisiae SAGA complex functions in vivo as a coactivator for transcriptional activation by Gal4. Genes Dev. 15:1946–1956.

56. Lin, S. S., J. K. Manchester, and J. I. Gordon. 2003. Sip2, an N-myristoylated beta subunit of Snf1 kinase, regulates aging in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by affecting cellular

histone kinase activity, recombination at rDNA loci, and silencing. J. Biol. Chem. **278:**13390–13397.

57. Lin, Y., C. M. Fletcher, J. Zhou, C. D. Allis, and G. Wagner. 1999. Solution structure of the catalytic domain of GCN5 histone acetyltransferase bound to coenzyme A. Nature **400**:86–89.

58. Lo, W. S., L. Duggan, N. C. Emre, R. Belotserkovskya, W. S. Lane, R. Shiekhattar, and S. L. Berger. 2001. Snf1—a histone kinase that works in concert with the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5 to regulate transcription. Science 293:1142–1146.

59. Lo, W. S., E. R. Gamache, K. W. Henry, D. Yang, L. Pillus, and S. L. Berger. 2005. Histone H3 phosphorylation can promote TBP recruitment through distinct promoter-specific mechanisms. EMBO J. 24:997–1008.

60. Lo, W. S., R. C. Trievel, J. R. Rojas, L. Duggan, J. Y. Hsu, C. D. Allis, R. Marmorstein, and S. L. Berger. 2000. Phosphorylation of serine 10 in histone H3 is functionally linked in vitro and in vivo to Gcn5-mediated acetylation at lysine 14. Mol. Cell 5:917–926.

61. Ludin, K., R. Jiang, and M. Carlson. 1998. Glucose-regulated interaction of a regulatory subunit of protein phosphatase 1 with the Snf1 protein kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:6245–6250.

62. Matangkasombut, O., and S. Buratowski. 2003. Different sensitivities of bromodomain factors 1 and 2 to histone H4 acetylation. Mol. Cell 11:353–363.

63. Matsumoto, K., T. Yoshimatsu, and Y. Oshima. 1983. Recessive mutations conferring resistance to carbon catabolite repression of galactokinase synthesis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Bacteriol. 153:1405–1414.

64. Naik, R. R., V. Nebes, and E. W. Jones. 1997. Regulation of the proteinase B structural gene *PRB1* in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Bacteriol. **179:**1469–1474.

65. Neigeborn, L., and M. Carlson. 1987. Mutations causing constitutive invertase synthesis in yeast: genetic interactions with snf mutations. Genetics **115**:247–253.

66. Niederacher, D., and K. D. Entian. 1991. Characterization of Hex2 protein, a negative regulatory element necessary for glucose repression in yeast. Eur. J. Biochem. 200:311–319.

67. Peterson, C. L., and M. A. Laniel. 2004. Histones and histone modifications. Curr. Biol. 14:R546–R551.

68. **Pollard, K. J., and C. L. Peterson.** 1997. Role for ADA/GCN5 products in antagonizing chromatin-mediated transcriptional repression. Mol. Cell. Biol. **17:**6212–6222.

69. Pollard, K. J., M. L. Samuels, K. A. Crowley, J. C. Hansen, and C. L. Peterson. 1999. Functional interaction between GCN5 and polyamines: a new role for core histone acetylation. EMBO J. 18:5622–5633.

70. **Pray-Grant, M. G., J. A. Daniel, D. Schieltz, J. R. Yates III, and P. A. Grant.** 2005. Chd1 chromodomain links histone H3 methylation with SAGA- and SLIK-dependent acetylation. Nature **433**:434–438.

71. Pray-Grant, M. G., D. Schieltz, S. J. McMahon, J. M. Wood, E. L. Kennedy, R. G. Cook, J. L. Workman, J. R. Yates III, and P. A. Grant. 2002. The novel SLIK histone acetyltransferase complex functions in the yeast retrograde response pathway. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:8774–8786.

72. Qiu, H., C. Hu, S. Yoon, K. Natarajan, M. J. Swanson, and A. G. Hinnebusch. 2004. An array of coactivators is required for optimal recruitment of TATA binding protein and RNA polymerase II by promoter-bound Gcn4p. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24:4104–4117.

73. Ricci, A. R., J. Genereaux, and C. J. Brandl. 2002. Components of the SAGA histone acetyltransferase complex are required for repressed transcription of ARG1 in rich medium. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22:4033–4042.

74. Rigaut, G., A. Shevchenko, B. Rutz, M. Wilm, M. Mann, and B. Seraphin. 1999. A generic protein purification method for protein complex characterization and proteome exploration. Nat. Biotechnol. 17:1030–1032.

75. **Roberts, S. M., and F. Winston.** 1997. Essential functional interactions of SAGA, a Saccharomyces cerevisiae complex of Spt, Ada, and Gcn5 proteins, with the Snf/Swi and Srb/mediator complexes. Genetics **147:**451–465.

76. Rojas, J. R., R. C. Trievel, J. Zhou, Y. Mo, X. Li, S. L. Berger, C. D. Allis, and R. Marmorstein. 1999. Structure of Tetrahymena GCN5 bound to coenzyme A and a histone H3 peptide. Nature 401:93–98.

77. Ross-Macdonald, P., A. Sheehan, C. Friddle, G. S. Roeder, and M. Snyder. 1999. Transposon mutagenesis for the analysis of protein production, function, and localization. Methods Enzymol. 303:512–532.

78. Roth, S. Y., J. M. Denu, and C. D. Allis. 2001. Histone acetyltransferases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 70:81–120.

79. Sanz, P., G. R. Alms, T. A. Haystead, and M. Carlson. 2000. Regulatory interactions between the Reg1-Glc7 protein phosphatase and the Snf1 protein kinase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20:1321–1328.

80. Schuller, H. J. 2003. Transcriptional control of nonfermentative metabolism in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Curr. Genet. 43:139–160.

81. Sherman, F. 1991. Getting started with yeast. Methods Enzymol. 194:3-21.

82. Shibata, K., M. Inagaki, and K. Ajiro. 1990. Mitosis-specific histone H3 phosphorylation in vitro in nucleosome structures. Eur. J. Biochem. **192:** 87–93.

83. **Shirra, M. K., and K. M. Arndt.** 1999. Evidence for the involvement of the Glc7-Reg1 phosphatase and the Snf1-Snf4 kinase in the regulation of INO1 transcription in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics **152**:73–87.

84. Song, W., and M. Carlson. 1998. Srb/mediator proteins interact functionally and physically with transcriptional repressor Sfl1. EMBO J. 17:5757–5765.

85. Sterner, D. E., R. Belotserkovskaya, and S. L. Berger. 2002. SALSA, a variant of yeast SAGA, contains truncated Spt7, which correlates with activated transcription. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:11622–11627.

86. Sterner, D. E., P. A. Grant, S. M. Roberts, L. J. Duggan, R. Belotserkovskaya, L. A. Pacella, F. Winston, J. L. Workman, and S. L. Berger. 1999. Functional organization of the yeast SAGA complex: distinct components involved in structural integrity, nucleosome acetylation, and TATA-binding protein interaction. Mol. Cell. Biol. 19:86–98.

87. Tachikawa, H., A. Bloecher, K. Tatchell, and A. M. Neiman. 2001. A Gip1p-Glc7p phosphatase complex regulates septin organization and spore wall formation. J. Cell Biol. 155:797–808.

88. Tanner, K. G., M. R. Langer, Y. Kim, and J. M. Denu. 2000. Kinetic mechanism of the histone acetyltransferase GCN5 from yeast. J. Biol. Chem. 275:22048–22055.

89. Tanner, K. G., R. C. Trievel, M. H. Kuo, R. M. Howard, S. L. Berger, C. D. Allis, R. Marmorstein, and J. M. Denu. 1999. Catalytic mechanism and function of invariant glutamic acid 173 from the histone acetyltransferase GCN5 transcriptional coactivator. J. Biol. Chem. 274:18157–18160.

90. **Tiedeman, A. A., and J. M. Smith.** 1988. lacZY gene fusion cassettes with KanR resistance. Nucleic Acids Res. **16:3587**.

91. Timmers, H. T., and L. Tora. 2005. SAGA unveiled. Trends Biochem. Sci. 30:7–10.

92. Treitel, M. A., S. Kuchin, and M. Carlson. 1998. Snf1 protein kinase regulates phosphorylation of the Mig1 repressor in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18:6273–6280.

93. Trievel, R. C., J. R. Rojas, D. E. Sterner, R. N. Venkataramani, L. Wang, J. Zhou, C. D. Allis, S. L. Berger, and R. Marmorstein. 1999. Crystal structure and mechanism of histone acetylation of the yeast GCN5 transcriptional coactivator. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:8931–8936.

94. **Tu, J., and M. Carlson.** 1995. REG1 binds to protein phosphatase type 1 and regulates glucose repression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J. **14**:5939–5946.

95. **Tu, J., W. Song, and M. Carlson.** 1996. Protein phosphatase type 1 interacts with proteins required for meiosis and other cellular processes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol. Cell. Biol. **16:**4199–4206.

96. Tung, K. S., L. L. Norbeck, S. L. Nolan, N. S. Atkinson, and A. K. Hopper. 1992. SRN1, a yeast gene involved in RNA processing, is identical to HEX2/REG1, a negative regulator in glucose repression. Mol. Cell. Biol. 12:2673–2680.

97. Ulery, T. L., S. H. Jang, and J. A. Jaehning. 1994. Glucose repression of yeast mitochondrial transcription: kinetics of derepression and role of nuclear genes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14:1160–1170.

98. van Heusden, G. P., D. J. Griffiths, J. C. Ford, A. W. T. F. Chin, P. A. Schrader, A. M. Carr, and H. Y. Steensma. 1995. The 14-3-3 proteins encoded by the BMH1 and BMH2 genes are essential in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae and can be replaced by a plant homologue. Eur. J. Biochem. 229:45–53.

99. Wach, A., A. Brachat, R. Pohlmann, and P. Philippsen. 1994. New heterologous modules for classical or PCR-based gene disruptions in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Yeast 10:1793–1808.

100. Wang, L., L. Liu, and S. L. Berger. 1998. Critical residues for histone acetylation by Gcn5, functioning in Ada and SAGA complexes, are also required for transcriptional function in vivo. Genes Dev. 12:640–653.

101. Williams-Hart, T., X. Wu, and K. Tatchell. 2002. Protein phosphatase type 1 regulates ion homeostasis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics **160**: 1423–1437.

102. Wu, J., and R. J. Trumbly. 1998. Multiple regulatory proteins mediate repression and activation by interaction with the yeast Mig1 binding site. Yeast 14:985–1000.

103. Wu, P. Y., C. Ruhlmann, F. Winston, and P. Schultz. 2004. Molecular architecture of the S. cerevisiae SAGA complex. Mol. Cell 15:199–208.

104. Yang, X., E. J. Hubbard, and M. Carlson. 1992. A protein kinase substrate identified by the two-hybrid system. Science 257:680–682.

105. Yu, Y., P. Eriksson, L. T. Bhoite, and D. J. Stillman. 2003. Regulation of TATAbinding protein binding by the SAGA complex and the Nhp6 highmobility group protein. Mol. Cell. Biol. 23:1910–1921.

TABLE 1. Yeast strain list

Strain	Relevant genotype	Source or reference
yMK839	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52	<u>52</u>
yMK842	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5∆::hisG	<u>52</u>
yMK984	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 F221A	This study
yMK986	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 E173H	This study
yMK988	MATatrp1 leu2-3,112 URA3::HIS3-lacZ	This study
yMK995	MATatrp1 leu2-3,112 URA3::HIS3-lacZ gcn5 E173H	This study
yMK1055	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 URA3::HIS3-lacZ gcn5 E173H reg1::mTn	This study
yMK1085	<i>MATatrp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5</i> E173H pMK125(<i>CEN GCN5 TRP1</i>)	This study
YL232	MATatrp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 snf1Δ-1::LEU2	This study
YL328	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 E173H REG1::mTn	This study
YL338	<i>MATatrp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5</i> E173H reg1Δ::KanMX6	This study
YL351	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 E173H REG1(1-740)	This study
YL352	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 F221A REG1(1-740)	This study
YL375	MATatrp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 REG1(1-740)	This study
YL376	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 ₄ ::hisG REG1(1-740)	This study
YL558	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 snf1Δ-2::TRP1	This study
YL559	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 E173H REG1::mTn snflΔ-2::TRP1	This study
YL585	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 GCN5 REG1(1-740) snf1 Δ- 2::TRP1	This study
YL603	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 E173H REG1(1-740)- myc::TRP1	This study
YL610	MAT a trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5 E173H REG1- myc::TRP1	This study
JHY205	MAT a his3A1 leu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf-2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT pJH33[CEN URA3 HTA1-HTB1 HHT2-HHF2]	2
DA10	MAT a leu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT pQQ18[CEN	D. Almy, unpublished

Strain	Relevant genotype	Source or reference
	LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 HHT2-HHF2]	
YL372	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H pQQ18[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 HHT2-HHF2]	This study
YL381	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H REG1(1-740) pQQ18[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 HHT2- HHF2]	This study
YL407	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H REG1(1-740) pMK439S10A[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2-S10A-HHF2]	This study
YL408	MAT a leu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H REG1(1-740) pMK439S10E[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2-S10E-HHF2]	This study
YL409	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H pMK439S10A[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2-S10A- HHF2]	This study
YL410	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H pMK439S10E[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2-S10E- HHF2]	This study
YL457	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H pMK439S10A/S28A/S31A[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2-S10A/S28A/S31A-HHF2]	This study
YL458	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H REG1(1-740) pMK439S10A/S28A/S31A[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2-S10A/S28A/S31A-HHF2]	This study
YL459	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H pMK439S10E/S28D/S31D[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2- S10E/S28D/S31D-HHF2]	This study
YL460	MATaleu2A0 met15A0 ura3A0 hht1-hhf1::KAN hhf- 2hht2::NAT hta1-htb1::HPH hta2-htb2::NAT gcn5 E173H REG1(1-740) pMK439S10E/S28D/S31D[CEN LEU2 HTA1-HTB1 hht2-S10E/S28D/S31D-HHF2]	This study

TABLE 2. Plasmid construct list

Plasmid	Description	Source or reference
pMK125	pRS414-GCN5	<u>52</u>
pMK284	Integration construct for introducing point mutations to <i>GCN5</i>	This study
pMK284E173H	Integration construct for introducing E173H to <i>GCN5</i>	This study
pMK284F221A	Integration construct for introducing F221A to GCN5	This study
pMK334	Integration construct for introducing <i>HIS3-lacZ</i> reporter to <i>UR.43</i> locus	This study
pMK449	pBluescriptKS-SNF1	This study
pMK453	snf1 A:: LEU2 disruptor	This study
pKD97	pRS316- <i>HA-reg1</i> _6	<u>23</u>
pYL31	pRS316-HA-REG1(1-740)	This study
pYL35	Integration construct for introducing <i>REG1(1-740)</i> mutation	This study
pYL41	YEplacI12-SNF1	This study
pYL42	pYEX-4T-GST-Snfl	<u>35</u>
pYL44	pYEX-4T-GST	A. Acharya, unpublished
pYL45	snf1 A:: TRP1 disruptor	This study
pYL54	pYEX-4T-Gcn5-TAP	This study
pYL67	8 × <i>Myc</i> :: <i>TRP1</i> for tagging proteins with 8 Myc repeats	This study
pQQ18	pRS315-HTA1-HTB1 HHT2-HHF2	<u>2</u>
pJH33	pRS316-HTA1-HTB1 HHT2-HHF2	<u>2</u>
pMK439S10A	pQQ18 with an H3 S10A mutation	This study
pMK439S10E	pQQ18 with an H3 S10E mutation	This study
pMK439S10A/S28A/S31A	pQQ18 with an H3 S10A/S28A/S31A mutation	This study
pMK439S10E/S28D/S31D	pQQ18 with an H3 S10E/S28D/S31D mutation	This study
pMK515	pET21-6xHis-Gen5 protein	This study
pMK547Gcn5	3xHA-Gen5 overexpression	This study

FIG. 1. Identification of a BGR suppressor rescuing the gcn5 E173H mutant. (A) In vitro HAT assays. Chicken core histones were acetylated by recombinant Gcn5 proteins, and the ³H-labeled acetylated histone was detected by fluorography (right panel). CBR, Coomassie blue R250. (B) Temperature-dependent hypersensitivity to 3-AT is generated by three $gcn5^-$ alleles. The E173H and F221A alleles were introduced to the native GCN5 locus under the control of its own *cis* elements. Each strain was patched to YPD and grown at 30°C for 2 days. Cells were then replica plated to SC-His medium supplemented with various concentrations of 3-AT and incubated at 30 or 37°C for 3 to 4 days. Relevant genotypes are listed on the right. (C) The BGR suppressor rescues both 3-AT hypersensitivity and HIS3-lacZ expression. Both plates were from cultures grown at 37°C. The β -galactosidase activities (U/mg of total proteins/min) were measured from cultures grown in YPD or SD (minimal) medium to early log phase. Errors represent variation from two independent cultures of each strain. (D) Northern blot hybridization. Log-phase cells were harvested from rich or minimal medium supplemented with 20 mM 3-AT before RNA preparation and hybridization. 18S rRNA was used as the internal control. The ratio of HIS3 to 18S rRNA was measured and normalized to the basal expression of a $GCN5^+$ strain. A, activated; R, repressed. Figures of gel staining, fluorography, and culture plates were scanned with a flatbed scanner and acquired by Photoshop 7.0.

Fig. 1.



С

D

SC-His	10 mM 3-/	AT	
• • • *		G	CN5
• • • •		E	173H
		E	1 7 3H BGR
Ŋ	(PD	SD	

GCN5	7.9 ± 0.3	13.4 ± 1.8
E173H	0.5 ± 0.1	0.9 ± 0.2
E173H BGR	7.6 ± 0.6	13.0 ± 1.3



FIG. 2. Characterization of the Reg1(1-740) BGR suppressor. (A) DNA and protein sequences across the *mTn-lacZ* integration site. Insertion of the *mTn-lacZ* fragment at nucleotide 2122 results in an in-frame fusion between the Reg1 protein and the Tn3 long terminal repeat (LTR: lowercase) and the *lacZ* gene. Ser740 of Reg1 protein is marked. The nucleotide and amino acid residue numbers are relative to the start codon of the *REG1* open reading frame. (B) Reg1(1-740) protein is essential and sufficient for the BGR phenotypes. The left panel shows 3-AT tests (37°C) of isogenic strains bearing different alleles of *REG1*. The right panel shows Northern hybridization results. All samples were obtained from induced conditions (see legend to Fig. 1D). The HIS3/18S rRNA ratio of each sample was calculated and then normalized to that of the gcn5 E173H strain (lane 2 or 6). (C) Reg1(1-740) protein-mediated suppression requires the Gcn4 activator binding site, GCRE. Shown are reverse transcription-PCR results. PGK1 is an internal control. (D) Promoter H3 hypoacetylation is not affected by the Reg1(1-740) suppressor. Shown are quantitative PCR results of chromatin immunoprecipitation using an antibody against H3 acetylated at Lys9/14. ACT1 open reading frame was used as the internal control





в

SC-His		SC-His 20 mM 3-AT		GCN5	REG1		
1	9 6	0	9	• @ P	WT	WT	
2	08	9		Ø	E173H	WT	
3			0		E173H	mTn	
4	6 6	0		۰ (E173H	Δ	
5	0 6		Real Property in	• • •	E173H	(1-740)	
3 4 5	6 6	9 9	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●	E173H E173H E173H	mTn ⊿ (1-740)	

GCN5.	WT	E	173H		WT	_ <u>E</u>	173H
REG1:	WT	WT	mTr	1 4	WT	WT	(1-740)
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
HIS3	-	-	-	ě 14	٠	ing:	
18S	4.4	44	-		-	-	-
IS3/185	3.0	1	1.8	0.7	2.1	1	1.4

С



D

REG1: FL (1-740) FL (1-740) 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 ACT1 Ac.H3 HIS3 +1 ACT1 Input HIS3 +1 A B A R A B A R

FIG. 3. The *BGR* suppressor is semidominant and selectively rescues the E173H defects of the GCN pathway. (A) Semidominant features of the *REG1(1-740)* allele. Diploid strains bearing different combinations of *GCN5* or *REG1* alleles were tested for their resistance to 3-AT at 30 or 37°C. (B) Allele specificity of the suppression. The *REG1(1-740)* allele was integrated to the chromosome to replace the wild-type *REG1* gene in different *gcn5⁻* strains. Resultant strains were then spotted to 3-AT medium and grown at 37°C. (C) Growth defects in different conditions caused by *gcn5⁻* mutations are not affected by the Reg1(1-740) protein. Indicated strains were grown to log phase in YPD, spotted to yeast extract-peptone-glycerol, yeast extract-peptone-ethanol, or YPD containing 100 mM hydroxyurea (HU), and incubated at 30°C for 3 to 4 days

173H

ŧ0)

eles

of the

ns were fferent

protein

М

В

Fig. 3.

A

4

5

37°C

WT / E173H E173H / E173H E173H / E173H E173H / E173H E173H / E173H 50°C 30°C

GCN5/GCN5

REG1 / REG1

WT/WT

WT/WT

WT/WT

WT/mTn

WT/mTn

10 mM 3-AT <u>GCN5 REG1</u> WT WT

1 * 2 WT (1-740) з E173H WT 4 10 te æ 22 E173H (1-740) 5 Δ WT 6 (1-740) Δ 7 F221A WT 8 F221A (1-740)

Fig. 3.

С



FIG. 4. *SNF1* is important for *H1S3* expression and *BGR* phenotypes. (A) Deleting *SNF1* causes hypersensitivity to 3-AT in *REG1* and *REG1::mTn* strains. The *snf1* Δ -2::*TRP1* allele contains a *TRP1* insertion at amino acid 109. The *snf1* Δ -*1::LEU2* allele lacks the entire ORF of *SNF1*. (B) Northern hybridization of some of the strains shown in panel A. Only induced transcription is shown. The ratios of *HIS3*/18S rRNA were normalized to the *gcn5* E173H sample (lane 2) and are shown at the bottom. (C) Overexpression of Snf1 protein also selectively rescues the E173H allele of *GCN5*. (Left panel) A multicopy *GCN5* construct does not rescue *snf1* Δ -1. (Right panel) *gcn5* E173H was selectively rescued by a multicopy *SNF1* construct. Growth at 37°C is shown.

Fig. 4.

A

	-His	5 mM 3-AT	GCN5	REG1	SNF1
1	0000		WT	WT	WT
2		8-	WT	WT	∆-1::LEU2
3		0	WT	WT	∆-2::TRP1
4		C et alte	WT	WT	∆-2::TRP1
5	• • • • • •		E173H	mTn	WT
6	•• * *	8 - C.	E173H	mTn	4-2::TRP1
7	0 4 G	0	E173H	mTn	∆-2::TRP1

в

GCN5: WT E/H WT E/H E/H REG1: WT WT WT mTn mTn SNF1: WT WT d-/ WT J-2 1 2 3 4 5 HIS3 HIS3 HIS3/185: 65 1 0.5 2.1 0.3

С



<u>GCN5 snf1Δ-1 +</u> vector 2μ GCN5 2μ SNf1

-His	10 mM 3-AT	GCN5	2µ plasmid
1000	60 0	WT	Vector
2000	• • •	WT	SNF1
3 • • •	40 A -	E173H	Vector
4 0 0 0	⊕ 1 1	E173H	SNF1
5 0 0 0	9 · · · ·	Δ	Vector
6 0 0 0	3	Δ	SNF1
7	42 22 -	F221A	Vector
8 • • •	o	F221A	SNF1

Fig. 5.

1 WT WT WT 2 Image: Constraint of the state of th		–His	5 mM 3-AT	GCN5	REG1	<u></u> <u>H3</u>
2 •••••• •••••• E173H WT WT 3 •••••• E173H (1-740) WT 4 ••••• ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A 5 ••••• ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A 6 ••••• ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A 7 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A/28A/31A 8 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10E/28D/31D 8 ••••• E173H WT S10A 9 ••••• E173H WT S10A 10 ••••• E173H WT S10A 11 ••••• E173H WT S10A	1			WT	WT	WT
3 •••••• •••••• E173H (1-740) WT 4 •••••• •••••• E173H (1-740) S10A 5 ••••• •••••• E173H (1-740) S10A 6 ••••• ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A 7 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A/28A/31A 7 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10E/28D/31D 8 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10E/28D/31D 9 ••••• E173H WT S10A 10 ••••• E173H WT S10A 11 ••••• E173H WT S10A/28A/31A	2	• • • •		E173H	WT	WT
4 ••••• ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A 5 ••••• ••••• E173H (1-740) S10E 6 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A/28A/31A 7 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10A/28A/31A 8 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10E/28D/31D 8 ••••• E173H WT S10A 9 ••••• E173H WT S10A 10 ••••• E173H WT S10A/28A/31A 11 ••••• E173H WT S10A/28A/31A	3	• • • •		E173H	(1-740)	WT
5 •••••• •••••• E173H (1-740) S10E 6 •••••• E173H (1-740) S10A/28A/31A 7 •••••• E173H (1-740) S10A/28A/31A 8 ••••• E173H (1-740) S10E/28D/31D 9 ••••• E173H WT S10A 10 •••• E173H WT S10A 11 •••• E173H WT S10A/28A/31A	4	• • • *		E173H	(1-740)	S10A
6 •••••• •••••• E173H (1-740) S10A/28A/31A 7 •••••• E173H (1-740) S10E/28D/31D 8 ••••• E173H WT S10A 9 ••••• E173H WT S10A 10 ••••• E173H WT S10A 11 ••••• E173H WT S10A/28A/31A	5	• • • *	0000	E173H	(1-740)	S10E
7 •••••• E173H (1-740) S10E/28D/31D 8 ••••• E173H WT S10A 9 ••••• E173H WT S10E 10 ••••• E173H WT S10A/28A/31A 11 ••••• €173H WT S10E/28D/31D	6	• • • *	0003	E173H	(1-740)	S10A/28A/31A
8 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	7	• • • •		E173H	(1-740)	S10E/28D/31D
9 • • • • • • • • • • E173H WT S10E 10 • • • • • • • • • • E173H WT S10A/28A/31A 11 • • • • • • • • • • E173H WT S10A/28A/31A	8		8 3 V	E173H	WT	S10A
10 ● ● ● E173H WT S10A/28A/31A 11 ● ● ● ● ● E173H WT S10A/28A/31A	9		Q 22 4 4	E173H	WT	S10E
11 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	10		68.47	E173H	WT	S10A/28A/31A
	11			E173H	WT	S10E/28D/31D

FIG. 5. H3 Ser10 phosphorylation is not required for the *BGR* phenotypes. Yeast strains expressing the desired H3 mutants were tested on 3-AT plates at 37°C. Strains derived from this background (2) were more sensitive to 3-AT. The choice Asp or Glu in sitedirected mutagenesis was based on whether a restriction site could be generated.

FIG. 6. Biochemical interactions of Gcn5/Snf1 and Gcn5/Reg1(1-740) proteins. (A) Recombinant Gcn5 is phosphorylated by the wild-type but not the K84R Snf1 protein. GST-Snf1 or GST alone was purified from yeast and incubated in the presence of $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP with recombinant Gcn5 protein. (B) Copurification of Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins from yeast. HA-Gcn5 and GST-Sfn1 or GST alone were expressed in yeast, and the whole-cell extracts were subjected to glutathione affinity purification. The bound materials were washed with 0.3 or 0.5 mM NaC1 prior to SDS-PAGE and Western analyses using an anti-HA antibody (top). (C) Copurification of Reg1(1-740) and Gcn5 proteins from yeast. Gcn5 was Cterminally tagged with protein A and coexpressed in yeast strains with Reg1-Myc or Reg1(1-740)-Myc recombinant proteins. Whole-cell lysates were bound to immunoglobulin G beads and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and anti-Myc Western analyses.

Fig. 6.

Α





С



Supplementary Data:

Snf1 and Reg1(1-740) likely function together for the bgr phenotypes

That deleting GCN5 or SNF1 abolishes the bgr phenotypes demonstrates the importance of both Gcn5 and Snf1 proteins. While the unique allele specificity for the E173H mutation suggests that Reg1(1-740) may act directly on Gcn5, it is unclear whether Snf1 is a target for the Reg1(1-740) suppressor protein. Given that Reg1 and Snf1 can interact physically and functionally (see Introduction), and that the Snf1 interaction domain of Reg1 remains intact in the bgr allele (79), it is tempting to speculate that the Reg1(1-740) protein elicits the bgr phenotypes via the Snf1 kinase. If so, deleting SNF1 from a GCN5 reg1(1-740) strain will eliminate the suppressing power of the Reg1(1-741) protein. To test the above hypothesis, we introduced the reg1(1-740) mutant into a 3-AT sensitive GCN5 snf1 Δ strain and tested the cellular growth on 3-AT plates. Unlike the strong bgr phenotypes for E173H, the Reg1(1-740) protein fails to rescue the 3-AT sensitivity of the snfl Δ strain. Although at 10 mM 3-AT, a slightly better growth was observed in the GCN5 reg1(1-740) snf1::TRP1 strain, this improvement in 3-AT resistance is minute compared with the SNF1 + cells (row 3, Figure S1). Similarly, knocking out SNF1 from the 3-AT resistant GCN5 reg1(1-740) strain sensitizes drastically the cellular growth on 3-AT plates (data not shown). These results suggest that Snf1 is likely a key co-factor for Reg1(1-740) to carry out the *bgr* functions.

Fig. S1.



Figure S1. Reg1(1-740) protein does not rescue snf1- 3-AT hypersensitivity. The reg1(1-740) allele was introduced to the GCN5 snf1:: $TRP1(snf1^-)$ strain. After confirming the correct genotype by genomic PCR, three integrants (rows 5-7) and other control strains were tested on 3-AT plates at $37^{\circ}C$.

Fig. S2.



Figure S2. Genetic interaction between Gcn5 and Snf1 for *HIS3* expression. A. Gcn5 and Snf1are likely part of two pathways for *HIS3* expression. *SNF1* was deleted from the indicated *gcn5⁻* strains (all *snf1* strains used in this panel were *snf1::TRP1*), and the resultant strains were transformed with YCp50, an *ARS CEN* plasmid, or YCp50-*SNF1* that contained a wildtype *SNF1* gene under the control of the native *SNF1* regulatory elements.

CHAPTER III

Snf1p activates *HIS3* transcription by antagonizing the inhibitory effects of Spt3p and Spt8p

(Manuscript for Mol. Cell. Biol.)

Snf1p activates *HIS3* transcription by antagonizing the inhibitory effects of Spt3p and Spt8p

Yang Liu¹, Xinjing Xu², and Min-Hao Kuo^{1.2}*

Program in Genetics¹ and Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology², Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan 48824

* Corresponding author. Mailing address: 401 BCH Building, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824. Phone: (517) 355-0163. Fax: (517)

353-9334. E-mail: <u>kuom@msu.edu</u>.

ABSTRACT

Transcriptional activation of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae HIS3 gene requires both Gcn5 histone acetyltransferase (HAT) and Snf1 kinase. Our studies suggest Gcn5 protein is a likely target for Snf1 in *HIS3* regulation because the phosphorylation of Gcn5 in vivo is dependent on the Snf1 dosage. Moreover, the Gcn5 residues (T203, S204, T211 and Y212; TSTY) that are important for Snf1 mediated phosphorylation are critical for HIS3 activation as well. Interestingly, the HIS3 transcriptional defect caused by substitution of the above essential residues is suppressed by deleting the Spt3 component of the Gcn5 related coactivator complexes, which indicates that Spt3 protein plays negative roles in HIS3 transcription. The notion that Snf1 and TSTY residues of Gcn5 protein are in the same regulatory pathway is further supported by the observation that deleting SPT3 also rescues $snf1\Delta$ in HIS3 activation. As expected, knocking out Spt8, which is functionally related to Spt3 protein, is also able to rescue the impairment caused by $snfl \Delta$ and gcn5TSTY/4A (TSTY residues substituted to alanine) mutants. The in vitro pull-down assays demonstrate direct interaction between Gcn5 protein and Spt3 protein, suggesting that Spt3 protein inhibits Gcn5 function by physical association. Thus, one possible function of Snf1 is to disrupt the interaction by phosphorylating Gcn5 protein or Spt3 protein or both.

INTRODUCTION

Eukaryotic DNA is packaged into a structure called chromatin. Chromatin modifying enzymes, e.g. ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers and covalent histone modification enzymes, dynamically alter the chromatin structure and/or chromatin surface to change the accessibility of genetic information that is carried by DNA. Histone acetylation is a well studied covalent modification involved in the regulation of many cellular processes (5). In particular, the promoter acetylation of histones is usually coupled with gene activation; and histone deacetylases (HDACs), the enzymes that mediate deacetylation reactions, are considered to be one of the most promising targets of anticancer drugs (31).

In *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, the Spt-ADA-Gcn5-acetyltransferase (SAGA) complex is one of the histone acetyltransferase complexes that regulates transcription of about 10% of yeast genes (18). The 1.8 MDa SAGA complex is composed of more than 19 subunits and possesses multiple activities related to transcriptional regulation. The SAGA complex has two known histone modification activities. Gcn5, together with the adapter proteins Ada2 and Ngg1/Ada3, mediates histone acetylation (12, 22, 23, 34). In addition, SAGA is able to remove ubiquitin from histone H2B through the activity of Ubp8 and Sgf11 subunits (16, 19, 24). Polyglutamine extension of Sca7/Sgf73 protein is critical for HAT activity of SAGA (30). The Tra1 protein, the largest SAGA component, interacts with acidic activators for promoter recruitment of the complex (3, 4). The chromodomain containing protein Chd1 might be involved in substrate recognition by interacting with

96
methylated lysine 4 of histone H3 (33). Three backbone proteins, Hfi1/Ada1, Spt7 and Spt20, are essential for SAGA integrity (42). A group of TBP association factors (TAFs) that are shared between TFIID and SAGA (Taf5, Taf6, Taf9, Taf10 and Taf12), are also thought to help maintain the architecture of the complex (13, 50). A module containing Spt3 and Spt8 proteins regulates gene transcription by modulating TBP activity (9, 42).

Snfl is the yeast ortholog of the conserved AMPK kinase that is important for responses to metabolic stress (15). The kinase exists in several heterotrimers, each consisting of the catalytic α subunit, Snf1, the regulatory γ subunit, Snf4, and one of the three scaffold β subunits, Gal83, Sip1 or Sip2, which tether Snf1 and Snf4 together (20). The three β subunits show functional redundancy as $snfl^{-}$ phenotypes are achieved when all three subunits are deleted (37). Recent studies suggest that the selection of β subunit incorporation may affect the cellular localization of the kinase complex (45). Moreover, Snf1 protein is able to form a homodimer, based on the crystal structure study of the Snf1 kinase domain (32, 35). Snf1 is activated by upstream kinases, Sak1, Elm1 and Tos3, through phosphorylation of threonine 210 in the activation loop (17, 29). On the other hand, the Snfl activity is repressed by Reg1 protein, which helps recruit the protein phosphatase Glc7 that dephosphorylates and inactivates Snf1 (8, 36). The roles of Snf1 protein in regulating transcription of genes related to adaptation of alternative carbon sources have been well characterized. Snf1 kinase may stimulate transcription by phosphorylating activators Cat8 and Sip4 (44). Snf1 mediated phosphorylation of Mig1 protein disrupts the Mig1-Ssn6 repressor at the promoter, leading to derepression of the downstream genes (43). Genetic and biochemical studies indicated Snf1 interacts with the

mediator complex or TATA-binding protein directly (21, 39, 40). Interestingly, Snf1 also phosphorylates Ser 10 of histone H3 for INO1 activation (27). H3 phosphorylated at Ser 10 exhibits a stronger affinity for Gcn5 protein, linking H3 phosphorylation to acetylation (7, 27, 28).

Our previous studies showed that Snf1 protein positively regulates *HIS3* transcription, as deletion of *SNF1* abolished the *HIS3* activation under amino acid starvation conditions. In addition, we showed that *SNF1* is a multi-copy suppressor of the E173H mutation of *GCN5* (26). Instead of acting as a histone kinase, we found that Snf1 protein more likely regulates the function of the SAGA coactivator complex, since replacing Ser10 of H3 with alanine or glutamate neither attenuates nor augments the suppression phenotypes. Moreover, Snf1 protein interacts with Gcn5 protein *in vivo* and phophorylates Gcn5 protein *in vitro* (26). We suggested that Gcn5 phosphorylation is critical for *HIS3* activation,

We now present evidence for Snf1-dependent Gcn5 phosphorylation in *vivo*. The residues in Gcn5 protein that are important for Snf1-mediated *in vitro* phosphorylation are important for Gcn5 *in vivo* functions as well. Interestingly, transcription defects resulting from the mutations of the putative phosphorylation sites are rescued by deletion of another SAGA component, *SPT3*. Deletion of *SPT3* also suppresses the defect in *HIS3* activation caused by *snf1* Δ . Similar to Gcn5, Spt3 protein copurified with Snf1 *in vivo*. Moreover, *in vitro* pull-down assays revealed that Spt3 protein can bind Gcn5 protein directly. Together, we suggest that Spt3 protein performs a negative role in *HIS3* activation by interacting directly with Gcn5 protein, and this inhibition is alleviated by Snf1-mediated phosphorylation of Gcn5 protein or Spt3 protein.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Yeast stains, plasmids and genetic methods.

Yeast strains used in this work are listed in Table 1. All genetic methods were performed according to reference (38). Yeast transformation was done using the lithium acetate method (11). Plasmids used in this work are listed in Table 2.

The *spt3* Δ strains were created by introducing a PCR fragment containing the KanMX6 cassette flanked by *SPT3* sequences outside the open reading frame (46). G418-resistant transformants were examined by genomic PCR to confirm the *spt3* Δ genotype. The *spt8* Δ strains were generated with similar strategy except the *SPT8* open reading frame is replaced by the *TRP1* gene.

Gcn5-myc and Snf1-myc strains were generated by transforming the gel-purified PCR products using pYL67 (26) as template to amplify the 8xmyc.:*TRP1* cassette with flanking sequences of *GCN5* or *SNF1*. The integration was confirmed by genomic PCR and expression was confirmed by western blot with α -c-myc antibody (9E10, Roche).

pYL89 with an N-terminal hemagglutinin (HA) tag was created by co-transforming XbaI-linearized pMK547 (26), and a PCR-amplified *SPT3* open reading frame. The HA-Spt3-TAP fusion construct (pYL99) was generated by co-transformation of the large fragment of BamHI-NgoMIV digested pYL54 and a PCR amplified *HA-SPT3* fragment from pYL89 flanked with pYL54 sequences outside the *GCN5* open reading frame. The PCR product containing *HA-SPT3* was digested with EcoRI-XhoI and inserted into the same sites of pET21a to create pYL90 that expresses HA-Spt3 in bacteria. All of the above constructs were verified by PCR and the expression was tested by Western blot with α -HA antibody (12CA5, Roche) or Rabbit antiserum (for TAP tagged construct). Plasmids with Gcn5 mutations were created by following the QuikChange mutagenesis protocol (Roche).

RNA preparation and RT-PCR.

Yeast cells were grown in appropriate selection media until the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.5. Cells were then pelleted by centrifugation (5.000 × g, 5 min, 4°C) and transferred to SD supplemented with required nutrients and 40 mM 3-AT (for induced expression). Cell suspensions were further incubated at 37°C for 2 to 3 h before harvesting for RNA preparation. Procedures for RNA preparation was described previously (23). 10 µg of RNA was treated with 10-unit DNaseI (Roche) in 100µL (50mM Tris-HCl, pH7.5, 5mM MgCl₂), and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. The cDNA was created following the instruction of ImpronII reverse transcriptase (Amersham) kit using of 30 ng of poly(dT) for priming. The resultant cDNAs were diluted 50 fold. PCR reactions contained 50 mM KCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 9.0) at 25°C, 1% Triton X-100, 2 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM each dNTP, 0.5 µM each primer, and 1.25 U Taq DNA polymerase (Promega), and appropriately diluted DNA templates. PCR parameters were (94°C, 4 min; 50°C, 4 min; 72°C, 30 sec) for 2 cycles; (94°C, 45 sec; 50°C, 45 sec; 72°C, 30 sec) for 24 cycles; and 72°C, 3 min. PCR products were resolved in polyacrylamide gels followed by Ethyldium Bromide staining.

In vitro kinase assays.

Kinase assays were performed with recombinant Gcn5 protein incubated with glutathione *S*-transferase (GST)-tagged Snf1 (wild-type or K84R) expressed and purified from yeast according to reference (14). The GST-Snf1 constructs were kindly provided by D. Thiele (Duke University).

Affinity purification and Immunoblot.

Snf1 and Gcn5 interaction was tested as previous described (26) except the Gcn5 was myc-tagged at the c-terminus within the chromosomal copy. To test the interaction between Spt3 and Snf1 proteins, a GST-Snf1 expression construct (14) or just GST (pYL44) was transformed to the strain carrying pYL89 (HA-Spt3). Purification of GST-Snf1 was performed as described previously (26). Glutathione Sepharose 4B (10 μ l; Amersham) was added to whole-cell extracts purified from 3 × 10⁹ cells and incubated at 4°C for 1 hour with constant rocking. Beads were pelleted and washed three times with HEMGT buffer (25 mM HEPES, pH 7.9, 12.5 mM MgCl₂, 150 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 1× Complete protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche)). The bound fractions were eluted with SDS loading buffer and resolved by 8% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). The copurified Gcn5-myc protein or HA-Spt3 protein was detected by α -c-myc (9E10, Roche) or α -HA antibodies (12CA5, Roche).

In vitro interaction.

The recombinant protein was induced in the *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) strain by adding 0.1 mM (final concentration) IPTG when cell culture reached an optical density at 600 nm (OD_{600}) of 0.5/ml. Cell cultures were grown at 16°C overnight. Extraction and protein affinity purification were done according to reference (23) except the *E. coli* cells containing the recombinant HA-Spt3 were first broken with buffer containing 2% SDS, and diluted 20 fold afterwards to solve the insolubility problem. The *in vitro* pull down assays were done by incubating the immobilized protein with bacterial whole cell lysates containing the protein of interest at 4°C for 1 hour. After washing 3 times with HEMGT buffer, the proteins were eluted with SDS loading buffer and subjected for western analyses with α -HA (12CA5, Roche) or α -His-tag (BD Scientific) antibodies.

Phosphoprotein staining.

To detect *in vivo* phosphorylation of proteins, the yeast cells were grown in appropriate media at 30 °C until late log phase. Then the cultures were harvested by centrifugation and washed with PBS buffer. Whole cell lysate (WCL) from 3×10^9 cells was prepared

by agitate beating with a mini-bead-beater (BioSpec Inc.) as described (26), except the 800 μ L PiPT buffer (50 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.5; 140 mM potassium chloride; 0.1% TritonX-100; 1 mM DTT; 1 mM EDTA; 1 mM sodium orthovanadate; 10 mM sodium fluoride; 1 tablet/20 mL Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche); 1 mM PMSF) was used. Affinity purification was done by incubating the 500 μ L of WCL with 20 μ L of IgG sepharose 6G (Amersham) at 4°C for 1 hour. The IgG beads were collected with gentle centrifugation and washed twice with PiPT buffer without protease inhibitors, followed by two more washes with PiPT buffer with higher concentration of potassium chloride (500 mM).

The IgG sepharose affinity purified proteins were eluted from the beads with SDS loading buffer and resolved on an SDS-PAGE mini-gel. Then the gel was fixed with 100 mL of 50% methanol/ 10% acetic acid (v/v) for 1 hour to over night. The residual methanol and acetic acid was removed by washing with 50 mL deionized water for 10 minutes with gentle agitation. After repeating the washing for 3 times, the gel was incubated with 50 mL of Pro-Q Diamond Phosphoprotein Gel Staining solution (Molecular Probes) for 1 hour, with gentle agitation in dark. To reduce the background and non-specific staining, the gel was treated with destaining solution [50 mM NaOAc, pH 4.0; 20% acetonitrile (v/v)] for 30 minutes with 3 repeats. Finally, the gel was washed twice with deionized water at room temperature for 5 minutes per wash. The staining was detected by Molecular imagerFX-PRO Plus (BioRad). Commassie staining was performed after the gel was scanned to check the evenly loading.

RESULTS

Overproducing Snf1p causes Gcn5p hyperphosphorylation in vivo.

Previously we showed that Snf1p phosphorylates Gcn5p *in vitro* and that Snf1p and Gcn5p co-purified from yeast extracts (26). It is likely that Snf1p phosphorylates Gcn5p in a physiological environment. To test this hypothesis, we partially purified TAP-tagged Gcn5 protein from yeast with IgG affinity matrix. Phospho-staining with Pro-Q Diamond (see Materials and Methods) was used to examine the Gcn5 phosphorylation status (Fig. 1A). Clear staining of Gcn5-TAP was observed (Lane 2, about 70 KDa) and the band shifted upon TEV protease digestion that removed the Protein A moiety of the TAP-tag (Lane 1, about 55 KDa). The phospho-staining is specific, as the fluorescence signal was diminished upon λ protein phosphatase treatment (Lane 3). These results clearly demonstrate that Gcn5p can be phosphorylated *in vivo*.

To test whether Snf1 protein is responsible for Gcn5 phosphorylation *in vivo*, we compared the phospho-staining intensity of Gcn5-TAP proteins isolated from strains containing different doses of Snf1 protein (Fig. 1B). While Gcn5-TAP protein isolated from a *snf1* Δ strain showed positive, albeit weak, phospho-staining, a much stronger signal was seen in the Snf1 overproducing background. We thus conclude that Gcn5p is a substrate for the Snf1 kinase *in vivo*. The weak phospho-staining of Gcn5p in the *snf1* Δ background also suggest a Snf1-independent phosphorylation of Gcn5p *in vivo*.

Potential phosphorylation sites in Gcn5p are essential for HIS3 induction

To understand the biological function of Gcn5 phosphorylation, we first mapped the phosphorylation sites in Snf1p modified recombinant Gcn5 by mass spectrometry. The preliminary data suggested that T203, S204, T211 and Y212 might be phosphorylated (not shown). Because Snflp is a Ser/Thr kinase, we tested the *in vitro* phosphorylation efficiency of Gcn5p bearing mutations at T203, S204 and /or T211 (Fig. 2A). While none of the single mutations caused significant reduction in Gcn5 phosphorylation, T203A/S204A and T203A/S204A/T211A mutations drastically diminished the in vitro labeling, indicating that all 3 residues are likely phosphorylated by Snf1p. We consistently observed elevated phosphate labeling of T203A and T211A mutants. If Gcn5 phosphorylation is physiologically relevant to HIS3 activation, we expect that the mutation of phosphorylation site(s) will affect *HIS3* transcription. Indeed, a quadruple mutation (T203A/S204A/T211A/Y212A, TSTY/4A) impaired the cellular ability to survive under 3-AT stress and HIS3 induction as well (Fig. 2B and 2C). Without visible defects in rich (YPD) and histidine dropout media (SC-His), the TSTY/4A allele caused poor growth upon 3-AT treatment. Consistent with the 3-AT growth defect, the HIS3 expression was barely detectable by RT-PCR (Fig. 2B). These results indicate the T203/S204/T211/Y212 residues of Gcn5p, which are important for Snf1p-mediated phosphorylation in vitro, are essential for Gcn5p function in HIS3 transcription.

The gcn5 TSTY/4A mutant is suppressed by $spt3\Delta$

Spt3p is a subunit of the SAGA complex, and it interacts with the TATA-binding protein, TBP (9). Under the non-inducing condition, HIS3 expression is repressed by Spt3 protein as the deletion of SPT3 derepresses HIS3 transcription in synthetic complete media (1). Gcn5p HAT activity is still required to active HIS3 transcription as $gcn5\Delta spt3\Delta$ and $gcn5E173H spt3\Delta$ strains are sensitive to 3-AT (Fig. 2B). Different from the $gcn5\Delta$ and gcn5E173H mutations, the gcn5 TSTY/4A mutation was suppressed by spt3 Δ (Fig. 2B and 2C). The gcn5 TSTY/4A spt3 Δ strains showed robust growth under a harsh amino acid starvation condition, as evidenced by resistance to 30 mM 3-AT. HIS3 mRNA level increased significantly in a double mutation strain as well. The negative effect of Spt3p is further confirmed by complementation of the gcn5 TSTY/4A spt3 Δ strain with a multicopy plasmid carrying the wild type SPT3 gene. By overexpression of SPT3, the suppression phenotype is lost (Fig. 2D, row 8). Notably, increasing the copy number of SPT3 caused cellular sensitivity to 3-AT, even in a strain background containing wild type Gcn5p (Fig. 2D, row 4; and Fig. 3C, row 2). This result provides another piece of evidence that Spt3p functions as a repressor.

In summary, the results above confirmed the negative roles of Spt3 protein in *HIS3* expression, which are related to Gcn5 TSTY functions. Such functions related to TSTY residues of Gcn5p might be activated by Snf1 mediated phosphorylation, as these residues are essential for *in vitro* phosphorylation by Snf1. The TSTY residues of Gcn5 might represent an activity different from the canonical HAT function, since the

gcn5E173H and $gcn5\Delta$ are not rescued by removing SPT3. Moreover, the allele specific suppression of $spt3\Delta$ on gcn5 TSTY/4A implies that Spt3 protein might physically interact with Gcn5p.

The defect of HIS3 expression in $snfl \Delta$ strains is rescued by deleting SPT3

That the mutations of the likely Snf1p targets (i.e. TSTY/4A) can be rescued by $spt3\Delta$ raises a possibility that $spt3\Delta$ might also rescue the $snf1\Delta$ defects. Indeed, in a $snf1\Delta$ $spt3\Delta$ double deletion strain, the *HIS3* mRNA level is much higher than that of the $snf1\Delta$ single mutation (Fig. 3A). The 3-AT sensitivity test results conserved with the RNA quatitation data (Fig. 3B). Moreover, re-supplying *SPT3* to the $snf1\Delta$ spt3 Δ cells attenuated resistance to 3-AT (Fig. 3C), which means the $spt3\Delta$ is a genuine suppressor. Importantly, the suppression by $spt3\Delta$ requires the presence of Gcn5 HAT activity, since the introduction of E173H mutation eliminates the suppression thoroughly (Fig. 3B). Together, these data suggest that Snf1p functions upstream of Gcn5p, and that the HAT activity of Gcn5p might be subjected to regulation by both Snf1p and Spt3p.

The gcn5TSTY/4A mutation and snf1 Δ are suppressed by spt8 Δ .

Spt8p is functionally similar to Spt3p in the regulation of TBP recruitment to the promoter, as null mutations in *SPT8* are suppressed by some *spt3* mutations (10). Similar to Spt3p, Spt8p inhibits *HIS3* and *TRP3* basal expression (1). However, Spt8p and Spt3p

are not equivalent in all situations. For example, Spt8p is not required for TBP recruitment at *GAL1* promoter (2). Furthermore, Spt8p is absent in the SAGA like coactivator complex SLIK/SALSA (41). Accordingly, we were curious as to whether Spt8p behaved similarly to Spt3p in regulating Gcn5p and Snf1p. To address this question, *SPT8* was deleted from *snf1* Δ and *gcn5TSTY/4A* strains. The resultant strains were then analyzed for their 3-AT sensitivity. Fig. 4 shows that *spt8* Δ is also a suppressor for the *snf1* Δ and *gcn5TSTY/4A* mutations. These results implicate that Spt3p and Spt8p function together to achieve the inhibitory function.

Snf1p interacts with and phosphorylates Spt3p in vivo

Previously, we showed that Snf1p and Gcn5p interact *in vivo* (26). The *in vitro* kinase assay suggests that Snf1p is able to bind Gcn5p directly, although this association might be transient. Because both Snf1p and Gcn5p are associated with multi-subunit complexes, we are unsure if the Snf1p complex binds to free Gcn5 protein or in the context of SAGA or SLIK/SALSA. By examining the interaction between Snf1p and other components of the Gcn5p related complex, we believe Snf1p is likely associate with the Gcn5p in complex. In Fig.5A, an HA-epitope-tagged Spt3 protein was co-expressed in yeast with GST-Snf1 or GST. With the partial enrichment of the GST-Snf1 protein by incubating the whole cell lysate with glutathione beads, the Spt3 protein was copurified with GST-Snf1 (Lane 2) but not with GST alone (Lane 4).

The Lys84-to-arginine substitution of Snf1p is a dominant-negative mutation that eliminates the ATP binding capability (6). Presumably the K84R mutant will bind to its protein substrates more stably. Interestingly, we found a stronger interaction between Snf1K84R protein and Spt3p (Fig.5A, lane 3), but a weaker interaction between the K84R allele and Gcn5p (Fig.5B, lane 3). It suggests that Spt3p is another substrate of Snf1p in SAGA complex. Indeed, the partially purified HA-Spt3-TAP fusions were labeled by the Pro-Q Phosphoprotein staining solution (Fig. 5C). The construct bearing HA-Spt3-TAP cassette was transformed into strains in the absence of, with the chromosomal copy of or with overexpression of *SNF1* gene. By comparing the relative phospho-staining of Spt3p isolated from these strains, we observed a Snf1p dosage dependent phosphorylation of Spt3p. These results indicate that Snf1p is able to phosphorylates Spt3p and probably associates Spt3p in a direct manner *in vivo*.

Spt3p interacts with Gcn5p in vitro

The allele specific suppression of gcn5TSSY/4.4 by $spt3\Delta$ raises a possibility of direct interaction between Spt3p and Gcn5p. The Snf1p mediated phosphorylation may disrupt the association between Spt3p and Gcn5p to remove the inhibition from Spt3p.

To test the direct interaction between Gcn5p and Spt3p, we performed *in vitro* pull-down assays, using bacterially expressed Gcn5p and Spt3p. Such preparation decreases the

chance of protein phosphorylation that might affect the interaction between Gcn5p and Spt3p. Spt3p was tagged with 3xHA repeats at the amino terminus, and Gcn5p was tagged with 6xHis-tag. The fusion HA-Spt3 protein was immuno-purified and bound to Protein G agarose beads. Then the immobilized Spt3p was incubated with bacteria lysate with 6xHis-tagged Gcn5p. The bound fractions were analyzed by immunoblotting against His-tag. As shown in Fig.6A, Gcn5p was effectively pulled down by HA-Spt3 fusion (Lane 3). As a control, the protein G beads in absence of Spt3p association did not pulldown Gcn5 protein (Lane 1). The α -His-tag signal is specific because the Spt3-beads can not enrich any signal at Gcn5 position by incubation a lysate without Gcn5-6xHis protein expressed. Consistently, in the reciprocal experiment the HA-Spt3 protein is preferentially pulled down by the Ni²⁺-Talon beads with the Gcn5-6xHis protein bounded, as shown in Fig.6B. These results demonstrated that Spt3p and Gcn5p are capable of interacting with each other directly.

DISCUSSION

Snf1 protein, as a kinase regulating cellular stress responses, has been shown to play important roles in transcriptional control. It is not surprising that Snf1p is also involved in gene activation upon amino acid starvation. In this study, we showed that Snf1p is able to interact with and phosphorylate the Gcn5p related coactivator complex *in vivo*. The phosphorylation mediated by Snf1p may antagonize the inhibitory function of Spt3p by a mechanism of altering the architecture of the SAGA complex.

Snf1p interacts with and phosphorylates SAGA or SALSA coactivator complexes

Snf1 kinase plays positive roles in transcription. Snf1-mediated phosphorylation of the repressor protein Mig1p leads to the dissociation of the corepressor complex from the promoter (43). Snf1p also phosphorylates activators, such as Cat8 and Sip4 (44). As we reported in this study, the coactivator proteins, another category of protein in transcriptional regulation, can be targeted by Snf1p. At least two components of the SAGA or SALSA/SLIK complexes, Spt3p and Gcn5p are co-purified with Snf1p and are phosphorylated *in vivo* in a Snf1p dosage dependent manner. SAGA and SALSA/SLIK are closely related coactivator complexes (41). The differences between these complexes include a SALSA/SLIK-specific truncated Spt7p subunit, and SAGA specific Spt8p subunit (41). We do not know as yet which complex(es) is targeted by Snf1p. One proposed experiment, the co-purification of full-length and truncated Spt7p with Snf1p

might be helpful for addressing the question. However, our genetics results implicate Snf1p is functionally associated with SAGA complex, since the deletion of SAGA specific component, *SPT8*, suppresses the *snf1* Δ phenotypes.

Spt3p and Gcn5p represent opposite functions in HIS3 activation.

Spt3p and Gcn5p are two nonessential components of SAGA complex (42). In electron microscopy structure of SAGA, Spt3p and Gcn5p are located in two physically separate modules (50). Genomic studies showed that distinct groups of genes are regulated by Gcn5p and Spt3p (25). The different requirement of Spt3p and Gcn5p was further demonstrated by the observation that Spt3p but not Gcn5p is essential for GAL1 expression (2) and the requirement is opposite toward HIS3 activation, e.g. the SPT3 deletion or point mutation spt3-401 derepressed the HIS3 gene at the non-induced condition by interacting TATA-Binding protein (1). Moreover, under certain circumstances, the two proteins have opposite functions. For example, the defect of HO expression by $gcn5\Delta$ is suppressed by $spt3\Delta$ (51). Our results provide further supporting for the inhibitory role of Spt3p in HIS3 activation. By overproduction of Spt3p, we observed growth defects in the media containing 3-AT (Fig. 2D; Fig. 3C). On the other hand, deleting SPT3 has no effect on HIS3 induction (not shown and Belotserkovskaya et al, 1), which implies the Spt3 protein, although existed in the coactivator complex, possesses a negative effect on HIS3 expression. Interestingly, a specific gcn5 mutant allele TSTY/4A, rescues the defect of $spt3\Delta$ in alternative carbon sources usage (not shown), which indicates that Gcn5p has a possible negative effect on Spt3p, too. Such

inhibition is removed by an uncharacterized mechanism to exhibit the Spt3 function in these gene transcriptions.

Spt3 may inhibit Gcn5 function by direct association

The position of Gcn5p and that of Spt3p are spatially separated upon electron microscopy data suggested architecture of SAGA complex (50). However, our genetics and biochemical data imply that the two proteins interact closely with each other. The *in vitro* pull-down studies clearly showed the capability of direct interaction of these two proteins. Thus, we hypothesize that Spt3p binds to Gcn5p and blocks its activity in HIS3 induction. Given that the recombinant proteins are free of phosphorylation, we further hypothesize that Snf1p mediated phosphorylation of Gcn5p or Spt3p or both may disrupt the Gcn5p-Spt3p interaction and consequently abolish the inhibition. Since Gcn5p is robustly copurified with Snf1p (26), we suspect that Snf1p is present in the SAGA complex. Snf1 is automatically activated during regular protein preparation procedure (47, 49), thus the Gcn5p or/and Spt3p in SAGA is likely in its phosphorylated form that leads to the disassociation of Spt3p and Gcn5p, which results in the separation of the two modules in the electron microscopy analyses (50). Moreover, the affinity purified SAGA complex in the Wu et al study is likely an active form and Spt3p is in a flexible domain (50), which reinforce the likelihood of Spt3p dynamically regulating Gcn5p function in an intracomplex manner.

Future study

From the results and discussion above, we can clearly see the negative roles of Spt3p in *HIS3* transcription. This inhibitory function is likely downstream of Snf1p as *HIS3* transcription defect of *snf1* Δ is suppressed by *spt3* Δ . Such suppression is gene specific since the transcription of another Snf1p target, *GAL1*, is not rescued. The allele-specific suppression of the *gcn5TSTY*/4A mutation by *spt3* Δ suggests that the inhibition by Spt3p is mediated through Gcn5p. The interaction between Gcn5p and Spt3p *in vitro* raises the possibility that Gcn5p is inhibited by Spt3p *via* direct association, and that Snf1 kinase action alleviates this association. Several experiments are proposed to test the hypothesis in the near future.

First, we want to test whether phosphorylation of Gcn5p prevents its binding to Spt3p. Towards this goal, we will use purified Snf1p with Glutathione beads to phosphorylate recombinant Gcn5-Hisx6 (either purified or using bacteria lysate) *in vitro* and then test the ability to pull down Gcn5p by immobilized HA-Spt3 protein. We can not phosphorylate the Gcn5-Hisx6 bound to Ni²⁺- beads because Snf1p contains a 13xHistidine stretch that will associate with any Ni²⁺ matrix as well. Such that we can not distinguish the Spt3p bound to Gcn5p or bound to Snf1p. The phosphorylation status of Gcn5p can be monitored by isotope labeling or Pro-Q phosphoprotein staining. The importance of phosphate group(s) for Gcn5p-Spt3p association could be characterized by phosphatase treatment after the kinase reaction. If the phosphorylation is critical for

blocking the Gcn5p-Spt3p association, the Gcn5p treated with the Snf1 kinase will be sequestrated from the Spt3p and the precipitated matrix, and the interaction will be restored by incubation with phosphatase. Alternatively, we will test the impact of Spt3p phosphorylation on Spt3p-Gcn5p interaction.

Second, we are very curious about the biological function(s) that Spt3p has in *HIS3* regulation. The most obvious hypothesis is that Spt3p blocks the HAT activity of Gcn5p. The reason is that Spt3p directly binds to Gcn5p, which suggests Spt3p may regulate Gcn5p function. In addition, the suppression of *spt3* Δ on *gcn5* mutations in HAT domain (i.e. TSTY/4A, Fig. 2) implies HAT domain of Gcn5p maybe the target of inhibition.

To investigate whether Spt3p association will affect Gcn5 HAT activity, we will perform *in vitro* HAT assays with recombinant Gcn5p in the presence or the absence of Spt3p. The recombinant Gcn5p, either full length or just the catalytic domain will be enriched by Ni²⁺-talon beads followed by elution with imidazole. The recombinant HA-Spt3 protein can be affinity purified by α -HA antibody. Because the HA-Spt3 protein has poor solubility in *E.coli* cells, a newly created construct (pYL99) that expresses HA-Spt3-TAP proteins in yeast cells will be used as the backup source of Spt3p. In this case, the Spt3p could be obtained by IgG affinity purification and elution with TEV protease digestion. The Spt3 sample will be analyzed by α -Ada2 western before adding to the HAT reaction to ensure the complete removal of other HAT components that might regulate enzymic activity of recombinant Gcn5p.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the following people for generously supplying materials: D. Thiele for GST-*SNF1* constructs; F. Winston for 2μ *SPT3* construct; and M. Carlson for *SNF1* constructs. We also thank S. Triezenberg, D. Almy, and J. Luo for valuable discussions.

This work was supported by NIH R01 GM62282

REFERENCES:

- 1. Belotserkovskaya, R., D. E. Sterner, M. Deng, M. H. Sayre, P. M. Lieberman, and S. L. Berger. 2000. Inhibition of TATA-binding protein function by SAGA subunits Spt3 and Spt8 at Gcn4-activated promoters. Mol Cell Biol 20:634-47.
- 2. **Bhaumik, S. R., and M. R. Green.** 2002. Differential requirement of SAGA components for recruitment of TATA-box-binding protein to promoters in vivo. Mol Cell Biol **22**:7365-71.
- 3. **Bhaumik, S. R., and M. R. Green.** 2001. SAGA is an essential in vivo target of the yeast acidic activator Gal4p. Genes Dev **15**:1935-45.
- 4. **Brown, C. E., L. Howe, K. Sousa, S. C. Alley, M. J. Carrozza, S. Tan, and J.** L. Workman. 2001. Recruitment of HAT complexes by direct activator interactions with the ATM-related Tra1 subunit. Science **292**:2333-7.
- 5. **Carrozza, M. J., R. T. Utley, J. L. Workman, and J. Cote.** 2003. The diverse functions of histone acetyltransferase complexes. Trends Genet **19:3**21-9.
- 6. **Celenza, J. L., and M. Carlson.** 1989. Mutational analysis of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae SNF1 protein kinase and evidence for functional interaction with the SNF4 protein. Mol Cell Biol **9:**5034-44.
- 7. Clements, A., A. N. Poux, W. S. Lo, L. Pillus, S. L. Berger, and R. Marmorstein. 2003. Structural basis for histone and phosphohistone binding by the GCN5 histone acetyltransferase. Mol Cell 12:461-73.
- 8. **Dombek, K. M., V. Voronkova, A. Raney, and E. T. Young.** 1999. Functional analysis of the yeast Glc7-binding protein Reg1 identifies a protein phosphatase type 1-binding motif as essential for repression of ADH2 expression. Mol Cell Biol **19:**6029-40.
- 9. **Dudley, A. M., C. Rougeulle, and F. Winston.** 1999. The Spt components of SAGA facilitate TBP binding to a promoter at a post-activator-binding step in vivo. Genes Dev **13**:2940-5.
- Eisenmann, D. M., C. Chapon, S. M. Roberts, C. Dollard, and F. Winston. 1994. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae SPT8 gene encodes a very acidic protein that is functionally related to SPT3 and TATA-binding protein. Genetics 137:647-57.

- Gietz, D., A. St Jean, R. A. Woods, and R. H. Schiestl. 1992. Improved method for high efficiency transformation of intact yeast cells. Nucleic Acids Res 20:1425.
- 12. Grant, P. A., L. Duggan, J. Cote, S. M. Roberts, J. E. Brownell, R. Candau, R. Ohba, T. Owen-Hughes, C. D. Allis, F. Winston, S. L. Berger, and J. L. Workman. 1997. Yeast Gcn5 functions in two multisubunit complexes to acetylate nucleosomal histones: characterization of an Ada complex and the SAGA (Spt/Ada) complex. Genes Dev 11:1640-50.
- Grant, P. A., D. Schieltz, M. G. Pray-Grant, D. J. Steger, J. C. Reese, J. R. Yates, 3rd, and J. L. Workman. 1998. A subset of TAF(II)s are integral components of the SAGA complex required for nucleosome acetylation and transcriptional stimulation. Cell 94:45-53.
- 14. **Hahn, J. S., and D. J. Thiele.** 2004. Activation of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae heat shock transcription factor under glucose starvation conditions by Snf1 protein kinase. J Biol Chem **279:**5169-76.
- 15. **Hardie, D. G., D. Carling, and M. Carlson.** 1998. The AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase subfamily: metabolic sensors of the eukaryotic cell? Annu Rev Biochem **67:**821-55.
- 16. Henry, K. W., A. Wyce, W. S. Lo, L. J. Duggan, N. C. Emre, C. F. Kao, L. Pillus, A. Shilatifard, M. A. Osley, and S. L. Berger. 2003. Transcriptional activation via sequential histone H2B ubiquitylation and deubiquitylation, mediated by SAGA-associated Ubp8. Genes Dev 17:2648-63.
- 17. Hong, S. P., F. C. Leiper, A. Woods, D. Carling, and M. Carlson. 2003. Activation of yeast Snf1 and mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase by upstream kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:8839-43.
- 18. **Huisinga, K. L., and B. F. Pugh.** 2004. A genome-wide housekeeping role for TFIID and a highly regulated stress-related role for SAGA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell **13**:573-85.
- 19. Ingvarsdottir, K., N. J. Krogan, N. C. Emre, A. Wyce, N. J. Thompson, A. Emili, T. R. Hughes, J. F. Greenblatt, and S. L. Berger. 2005. H2B ubiquitin protease Ubp8 and Sgf11 constitute a discrete functional module within the Saccharomyces cerevisiae SAGA complex. Mol Cell Biol 25:1162-72.
- 20. **Jiang, R., and M. Carlson.** 1997. The Snf1 protein kinase and its activating subunit, Snf4, interact with distinct domains of the Sip1/Sip2/Gal83 component in the kinase complex. Mol Cell Biol **17:**2099-106.
- 21. Kuchin, S., I. Treich, and M. Carlson. 2000. A regulatory shortcut between the Snf1 protein kinase and RNA polymerase II holoenzyme. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:7916-20.

- 22. Kuo, M. H., E. vom Baur, K. Struhl, and C. D. Allis. 2000. Gcn4 activator targets Gcn5 histone acetyltransferase to specific promoters independently of transcription. Mol Cell 6:1309-20.
- 23. Kuo, M. H., J. Zhou, P. Jambeck, M. E. Churchill, and C. D. Allis. 1998. Histone acetyltransferase activity of yeast Gcn5p is required for the activation of target genes in vivo. Genes Dev 12:627-39.
- 24. Lee, K. K., L. Florens, S. K. Swanson, M. P. Washburn, and J. L. Workman. 2005. The deubiquitylation activity of Ubp8 is dependent upon Sgf11 and its association with the SAGA complex. Mol Cell Biol **25**:1173-82.
- 25. Lee, T. I., H. C. Causton, F. C. Holstege, W. C. Shen, N. Hannett, E. G. Jennings, F. Winston, M. R. Green, and R. A. Young. 2000. Redundant roles for the TFIID and SAGA complexes in global transcription. Nature **405**:701-4.
- 26. Liu, Y., X. Xu, S. Singh-Rodriguez, Y. Zhao, and M. H. Kuo. 2005. Histone H3 Ser10 phosphorylation-independent function of Snf1 and Reg1 proteins rescues a gcn5- mutant in HIS3 expression. Mol Cell Biol **25**:10566-79.
- Lo, W. S., L. Duggan, N. C. Emre, R. Belotserkovskya, W. S. Lane, R. Shiekhattar, and S. L. Berger. 2001. Snf1--a histone kinase that works in concert with the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5 to regulate transcription. Science 293:1142-6.
- Lo, W. S., E. R. Gamache, K. W. Henry, D. Yang, L. Pillus, and S. L. Berger.
 2005. Histone H3 phosphorylation can promote TBP recruitment through distinct promoter-specific mechanisms. Embo J 24:997-1008.
- 29. McCartney, R. R., and M. C. Schmidt. 2001. Regulation of Snf1 kinase. Activation requires phosphorylation of threonine 210 by an upstream kinase as well as a distinct step mediated by the Snf4 subunit. J Biol Chem 276:36460-6.
- 30. McMahon, S. J., M. G. Pray-Grant, D. Schieltz, J. R. Yates, 3rd, and P. A. Grant. 2005. Polyglutamine-expanded spinocerebellar ataxia-7 protein disrupts normal SAGA and SLIK histone acetyltransferase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8478-82.
- 31. **Minucci, S., and P. G. Pelicci.** 2006. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and the promise of epigenetic (and more) treatments for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6:38-51.
- 32. Nayak, V., K. Zhao, A. Wyce, M. F. Schwartz, W. S. Lo, S. L. Berger, and R. Marmorstein. 2006. Structure and dimerization of the kinase domain from yeast Snf1, a member of the Snf1/AMPK protein family. Structure 14:477-85.
- Pray-Grant, M. G., J. A. Daniel, D. Schieltz, J. R. Yates, 3rd, and P. A. Grant. 2005. Chd1 chromodomain links histone H3 methylation with SAGA- and SLIKdependent acetylation. Nature 433:434-8.

- 34. Roth, S. Y., J. M. Denu, and C. D. Allis. 2001. Histone acetyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem 70:81-120.
- 35. **Rudolph, M. J., G. A. Amodeo, Y. Bai, and L. Tong.** 2005. Crystal structure of the protein kinase domain of yeast AMP-activated protein kinase Snf1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **337**:1224-8.
- 36. Sanz, P., G. R. Alms, T. A. Haystead, and M. Carlson. 2000. Regulatory interactions between the Reg1-Glc7 protein phosphatase and the Snf1 protein kinase. Mol Cell Biol 20:1321-8.
- 37. Schmidt, M. C., and R. R. McCartney. 2000. beta-subunits of Snf1 kinase are required for kinase function and substrate definition. Embo J 19:4936-43.
- 38. Sherman, F. 1991. Getting started with yeast. Methods Enzymol 194:3-21.
- 39. Shirra, M. K., and K. M. Arndt. 1999. Evidence for the involvement of the Glc7-Reg1 phosphatase and the Snf1-Snf4 kinase in the regulation of INO1 transcription in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 152:73-87.
- 40. Shirra, M. K., S. E. Rogers, D. E. Alexander, and K. M. Arndt. 2005. The Snf1 protein kinase and Sit4 protein phosphatase have opposing functions in regulating TATA-binding protein association with the Saccharomyces cerevisiae INO1 promoter. Genetics 169:1957-72.
- 41. Sterner, D. E., R. Belotserkovskaya, and S. L. Berger. 2002. SALSA, a variant of yeast SAGA, contains truncated Spt7, which correlates with activated transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11622-7.
- 42. Sterner, D. E., P. A. Grant, S. M. Roberts, L. J. Duggan, R. Belotserkovskaya, L. A. Pacella, F. Winston, J. L. Workman, and S. L. Berger. 1999. Functional organization of the yeast SAGA complex: distinct components involved in structural integrity, nucleosome acetylation, and TATA-binding protein interaction. Mol Cell Biol 19:86-98.
- 43. **Treitel, M. A., S. Kuchin, and M. Carlson.** 1998. Snf1 protein kinase regulates phosphorylation of the Mig1 repressor in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol **18:**6273-80.
- 44. Vincent, O., and M. Carlson. 1998. Sip4, a Snf1 kinase-dependent transcriptional activator, binds to the carbon source-responsive element of gluconeogenic genes. Embo J 17:7002-8.
- 45. Vincent, O., R. Townley, S. Kuchin, and M. Carlson. 2001. Subcellular localization of the Snf1 kinase is regulated by specific beta subunits and a novel glucose signaling mechanism. Genes Dev 15:1104-14.

- 46. **Wach, A., A. Brachat, R. Pohlmann, and P. Philippsen.** 1994. New heterologous modules for classical or PCR-based gene disruptions in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Yeast **10**:1793-808.
- 47. Wilson, W. A., S. A. Hawley, and D. G. Hardie. 1996. Glucose repression/derepression in budding yeast: SNF1 protein kinase is activated by phosphorylation under derepressing conditions, and this correlates with a high AMP:ATP ratio. Curr Biol 6:1426-34.
- 48. Winston, F., and P. L. Minehart. 1986. Analysis of the yeast SPT3 gene and identification of its product, a positive regulator of Ty transcription. Nucleic Acids Res 14:6885-900.
- 49. Woods, A., M. R. Munday, J. Scott, X. Yang, M. Carlson, and D. Carling. 1994. Yeast SNF1 is functionally related to mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase and regulates acetyl-CoA carboxylase in vivo. J Biol Chem **269**:19509-15.
- 50. Wu, P. Y., C. Ruhlmann, F. Winston, and P. Schultz. 2004. Molecular architecture of the S. cerevisiae SAGA complex. Mol Cell 15:199-208.
- 51. Yu, Y., P. Eriksson, L. T. Bhoite, and D. J. Stillman. 2003. Regulation of TATA-binding protein binding by the SAGA complex and the Nhp6 high-mobility group protein. Mol Cell Biol 23:1910-21.

Table 1. Yeast strain list.

strains	relevant genotype	Source
уМК839	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52	(23)
yMK842	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5∆::hisG	(23)
yMK986	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5E173H	(26)
yYL232	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 snf1\Delta::LEU2	(26)
yYL515	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 spt3Δ::KanMX6	This study
yYL516	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5E173H spt3Δ::KanMX6	This study
yYL590	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 GCN5-8xmyc::TRP1	This study
yYL591	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 SNF1-8xmyc::TRP1	This study
yYL600	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5E173H SNF1-8xmyc::TRP1	This study
yYL607	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5E173H-8xmyc::TRP1	This study
yYL622	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 SPT7-13xmyc::TRP1	This study
yYL682	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5∆ spt3∆::KanMX6	This study
yYL683	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 snf1Δ::LEU2 spt3Δ::KanMX6	This study
yYL782	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5TSTY/4A-8xmyc::TRP1	This study
yYL783	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 gcn5TSTY/4A-8xmyc::TRP1 spt3Δ::KanMX6	This study
yYL786	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 spt8Δ::TRP1	This study
yYL787	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 spt8Δ::TRP1	This study
yYL788	MATa trp1 leu2-3,112 ura3-52 spt8Δ::TRP1	This study

T	able	2.	Plasmid	list.
---	------	----	---------	-------

Plasmid	Description	Source
pMK100	pRSET-Gcn5-6xHis	(23)
pFW32	YEp-SNF1	(48)
pYL41	YEplac112-SNF1	(26)
pYL42	pYEX-4T-GST-Snfl	(14)
pYL43	pYEX-4T-GST-Snf1K84R	(14)
pYL44	pYEX-4T-GST	(26)
pYL54	pYEX-4T-Gcn5-TAP	(26)
pYL55	pYEX-4T-Gcn5E173H-TAP	This study
pYL67	8xmyc::TRP1 for tagging proteins with 8 myc repeats	(26)
pYL72	pMK547Gcn5, 3xHA-Gcn5	(26)
pYL89	pMK547Spt3, 3xHA-Spt3	This study
pYL90	pET21a-3xHA-Spt3	This study
pYL93	pYEX-4T-Gcn5TSTY/4A-TAP	
pYL98	pRSET-Gcn5TSTY/4A-6xHis	This study
pMK284TSTY/4A	Integration construct for introducing	This study
	T203A/S204A/T211A/Y212A to GCN5	
рМК515	pET21-6xHis-Gcn5 protein	(26)

FIG. 1. Overproducing Snf1 protein causes Gcn5p hyperphosphorylation in

vivo. (A) Gcn5 is a phosphoprotein. Gcn5 was fused to the Tandem Affinity Purification (TAP) tag consisting of the calmodulin binding protein (CBP), TEV protease cleavage site, and Protein A. Gcn5-TAP was expressed and purified from yeast by IgG beads. A fraction of the bound materials was treated with the TEV protease that specifically liberates Gcn5-CBP from the IgG beads (Lane 1). Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE prior to staining with the Pro-Q Diamond Phosphoprotein Gel Staining solution as described in Materials and Methods. The λ -protein phosphatase with (Lane 3) or without phosphatase inhibitors (Lane 4) was used to treat an aliquot of sample to test the specificity of the assay. The gel was stained with Coomassie Blue R250 (CBR) after scanning with fluorometer to compare the amount of proteins loaded. (B) The level of *in vivo* Gcn5 phosphorylation is correlated with the copy number of *SNF1*. The Gcn5-TAP proteins were purified from strains without (Lane 6) or with overexpressed Snf1 kinase (Lane 7) and subjected to phosphoprotein staining.



Fig. 1

FIG. 2. The TSTY/4A mutation of Gcn5 was suppressed by deleting SPT3.

(A) The T203, S204, and T211 residues are important for Gcn5 phosphorylation in vitro. The indicated mutations were introduced into the Gcn5 HAT domain and were expressed in bacteria. Purified recombinant proteins were subjected to *in vitro* kinase assays in the presence of γ -[³²P] ATP and GST-Snf1 purified from yeast. The SDS-PAGE gel was stained by CBR prior to autoradiography. (B, C) The substitution of T203, S204, T211, and Y212 residues of Gcn5 with alanines (Gcn5 TSTY/4A) impairs HIS3 expression. The defect caused by Gcn5 TSTY/4A mutation was rescued by spt3 Δ (B) RT-PCR. RNA was isolated from indicated strains that grew under induced condition and subjected to RT-PCR analysis to determine the HIS3 expression. PGK1 was used as loading control. (C) 3-AT sensitivity test. Strains indicated were grown in YPD until late log phase. After adjusting to the same cell density, the different cultures were serially diluted and spotted onto plates in the presence or the absence of 3-AT. (D) 3-AT resistant phenotypes of gcn5TSTY/4A spt3 Δ are suppressed by overexpression of SPT3. The Spt3 overproduction construct YEp-SPT3/pFW32 was transformed into spt3 Δ , gcn5TSTY/4A, and double mutation strains. The resultant transformants were subjected for 3-AT sensitivity test as in (C). (E) gcn5E173H and $gcn5\Delta$ are not suppressed by $spt3\Delta$. SPT3 was deleted from strains containing gcn5E173H mutation or $gcn5\Delta$ and then examined for 3-AT sensitivity. Pictures were taken after the plates incubated at 30°C or 37°C for 2-5 days.

Fig. 2







HIS3/PGK1: 4.1 1 1.2 0.9 2.6



Fig. 2

D



E



gcn5E173H gcn5E173H spt3 ∆ gcn5∆ spt3 ∆ FIG. 3. Spt3p antagonizes Snf1p function in *HIS3* activation. (A) RT-PCR. Yeast strains indicated were grown in YPD until late log phase and then were transfered to SD media with 40 mM 3-AT to inducing *HIS3* transcription. RNA isolation and RT-PCR were performed as in Fig. 2B. (B) 3-AT sensitivity test. *SPT3* gene was deleted in *snf1* Δ strains. The *snf1* Δ strain showed the decreased *HIS3* transcription and 3-AT sensitivity as previously reported (26). The deletion of *SPT3* rescues the *snf1* Δ phenotypes as restored *HIS3* mRNA level and wild type-like growth on 3-AT plate were observed in a double deletion strain. The Gcn5 HAT activity is required since the E173H mutation of Gcn5 in *snf1* Δ spt3 Δ strain abolished the suppression phenotypes. (C) 3-AT resistant phenotypes of *snf1* Δ spt3 Δ were suppressed by overexpression of *SPT3*. The *SPT3* overproduction construct (YEp-*SPT3*) and epitop-tagged Spt3p (HA-Spt3-TAP) were transformed into *snf1* Δ spt3 Δ strain to complement the *spt3* Δ phenotypes.

- PCR
- ere
- RNA
- test
- eased eletion
- vild
- The
- 1.04
- l spill
- s of
- TAP
- pes





С

В

Fig. 3









FIG. 4. Both *gcn5TSTY/4A* and *snf1* Δ are suppressed by deleting *SPT8*. *SPT8* was deleted from *gcn5TSTY/4A* and *snf1* Δ strains. 3-AT sensitivity test was performed. While *gcn5TSTY/4A* and *snf1* Δ cells grow poorly in the media in the presence of 3-AT, the further deletion of *SPT8* partially suppressed the growth defect. The *spt8* Δ per se, has no obvious phenotype observed.
FIG. 5. Snf1p interaction with and phosphorylates Spt3p. (A) Snf1p linteracts with Spt3p. HA-tagged Spt3 protein was co-expressed with GST-Snf1 (WT, Lane 2 or K84R, Lane 3) in yeast cells. Glutathione-purified fractions were detected by anti-HA Westerns to examine the abundance of the co-purified HA-Spt3 protein (top). HA-tagged Gcn5 protein (Lane 1) and GST alone (Lane 4) were processed in parallel as the positive and negative controls. The CBR staining of the duplicate gel is shown at the bottom. (B) K84R mutation of Snf1p attenuates the interaction between Gcn5p and Snf1p. The chromosomal copy of GCN5 was tagged with 8xmyc tandem repeats. GST-Snf1 was overexpressed in such background. Gcn5 proteins were analyzed by anti-c-myc Western after partially purified by Glutathione Sepharose (top). The blot was stained with Indian Ink after the Western analyses (bottom). (C) Spt3p is phosphorylated in vivo in a Snf1p dependent manner. The construct expressing HA-Spt3-TAP fusion was transformed into strain backgrounds without $(snfl \Delta)$, with single copy (chromosomal copy, *Chr.*) or with multiple copies of *SNF1* gene (O/E). The WCLs from the resultant strains were partially purified by IgG beads and resolved by SDS-PAGE. Then the gel was stained by Pro-Q Diamond Phosphoprotein staining solution as described in Materials and Methods followed by CBR staining. The signals were quantified by Image J and the relative ratio of Pro-Q and CBR signals were listed at the bottom.

Fig. 5

A



B



Fig. 5.



FIG. 6. Direct interaction between Gcn5p and Spt3p. (A) Gcn5p is pulleddown by HA-Spt3 protein *in vitro*. Recombinant HA-Spt3 protein was obtained by expressing pYL90 in BL21 (DE3) cells. The HA-Spt3 fusion was enriched by IP with α -HA antibody (3F10) followed immobilized on Protein G Sepharose 4G (Amersham). Then the beads were incubated with bacteria lysate with His-tagged full length of Gcn5 protein [pMK100 in BL21 (DE3)]. The bound fractions (Lane 1-4) and the unbound fractions (Lane 5-8) were examined by Western blot with α -His-tag antibody (top) followed by a second western blot with α -HA antibody (bottom). (B) Spt3p is pulled-down by Gcn5p *in vitro*. Ni²⁺-Talon beads bound with His-tagged Gcn5 was incubated with bacteria lysate containing HA-Spt3 protein. The bound fractions (Lane 1-4) and the unbound fractions (Lane 5-8) were examined by Western blot with α -HA antibody.



Detection: α-His-tag/Gnc5

Pull-down: α-HA/Spt3

Fig. 6

A



Pull-down: Ni²⁺-Talon/Gcn5 Detection: α-HA/Spt3



APPENDIX

Identification of suppressors that bypass the Gcn5 requirement by screening an EMS mutagenesis library created from a *gcn5* strain

Identification of suppressors that bypass the Gcn5 requirement by screening an EMS mutagenesis library created from a gcn5 strain

Introduction

Gcn5-mediated histone H3 acetylation at lysine14 or lysine 18 is a key step in transcriptional activation of such genes as *HIS3*, *INO1* and *HXT4* (6, 9, 14). Similarly, other histone modifications play important roles in different cellular process, such as H3 lysine 9 methylation is a mark of chromatin silencing (11). Serine phosphorylation is critical for cell cycle regulation. Such modifications may alter the charge of the histone tails to modulate the conformation of local chromatin. In other possibilities, these extra chemical groups may provide a different binding surface for other regulators association. The 'histone code' hypothesis was suggested based on the latter assumption, which is different modifications or combination of modifications may extend the information potential of the genetic (DNA) code by recruiting different regulatory factors to the specifically modified chromatin loci (13).

Supporting the "histone code" hypothesis, many histone mark-specific binding proteins and binding motifs were found in the past few years, like bromodomain is a docking site for acetylated histones (2, 5). The chromodomain specifically interacts with lysine 9 methylated H3 (1, 4, 10). The PHD finger domain specifically recognizes methylated H3 lys4 (7, 12, 15). These facts explain the outcome of interaction between modified histones and regulatory factors perfectly. However, these findings cover only a small part of histone modifications. The proteins recognizing the phosphorylated histones and ubiquitylated histones, which are known important regulatory events, are still not unraveled. Moreover, although the "mark reader" was identified, like bromodomain may stick to acetylated H3, the significance of such association and the regulatory mechanism activated are elusive.

To understand the regulatory mechanism associated with histone acetylation during the HIS3 activation, we initiated a suppressor screening in a strain background with a catalytic inactive mutation of Gcn5 (gcn5E173H, reference (8)). The extra mutations were introduced by two separate strategies. One is EMS mutagenesis (summarized in Table 1), in which the alkaline mutagen will cause the transition to introduce the point mutation into the yeast genome randomly. The second approach employed a minitransposon derived library. The minitransposon insertion-derived mutagenesis and screening are discussed in Chapter 2. The screening is based on the cell resistance to a chemical named 3-amino-triazol (3-AT), which is a competitive inhibitor of HIS3 gene product that requires the cells to express more HIS3 to achieve the histidine biosynthesis. Thus, when we remove histidine from the media to force the cells to activate histidine production, 3-AT will kill cells that fail to induce HIS3 gene (like gcn5⁻ cells). Using the random mutagensis approaches outlined above, we are seeking extragenic mutations that survived under 3-AT treatment even in the absence of Gcn5 histone acetyltransferase activity. Given the name Bypass of Gcn5 Requirement (BGR), these mutations may

represent the regulators working downstream or in parallel with Gcn5-mediated histone acetylation. By identifying these factors functionally linked with Gcn5, we expect to draw a much clearer picture of how histone acetylation facilitates *HIS3* activation. In a more broad view, we are trying to find some clues to investigate the principles of how "histone codes" control the cellular progressing.

As with other genetic screening, a lot of false positive candidates may be picked up because of the limitation of experimental set up. The most likely pseudo-suppressors are the factors that may affect the 3-AT transport in or/and out of the cell, e.g. alter the expression or activation of the 3-AT carrier. Other mutations may enhance the production of the substrate of the *HIS3* protein, which makes 3-AT less competitive. To address this concern, β -galactosidase assay against the *HIS3-lacZ* reporter was performed after the 3-AT selection (Fig.1).

Table 1. Summary of Screening:

65% cell death

10⁸ colonies screened

144 candidates resistant to 3-AT

34 candidates verified by *HIS3-lacZ* reporter analyses

The *gcn5E173H* mutation was created by Soumya Singh-Rodriguez. The EMS mutagenesis was performed by Dr. Kuo. The initial screening and verification with β -Galactosidase

assays were done by Xin-Jin Xu and Xuqin Wang. I started the characterization of the mutations with the distinguished phenotypes. These assays include Northern analyses, spore analyses and isolation of mutations, dominance test, complementation test, and *gcn5* deletion study. This chapter presents the results for these assays.



β-Galactosidase Assay

Fig. 1. *HIS3-lacZ* reporter expression in selected BGR mutants. lacZ gene was translational fused to the 3' of *HIS3* promoter and then engineered into *URA3* locus by homologous recombination. The strains were grown in 20 mL Yeast extract-Peptone-Dextrose (YPD) media to log phase and harvested by centrifugation. Then the cell pellet was resuspended and split into 10 mL YPD (for Basal expression) or Synthetic delete (SD, for inducing *HIS3* expression) media and growing for 6 hours. The collected cells were broken by vortex with glass beads.

RESULTS:

Northern analyses

The *HIS3-lacZ* reporter assay provides us a simple and large-scale approach for analyzing *HIS3* transcription. However, the ectopic copy of *HIS3* promoter may not fully represent the endogenous gene transcription level since the local chromatin structure maybe different. Moreover, the *HIS3-lacZ* insertion at *URA3* locus results in the reporter flanked by two repeated sequences. The high frequency of recombination in budding yeast will cause the looping out of the *HIS3-lacZ* fragment. Thus the culture is a mixture of cells with or without reporter, which may under evaluate the *HIS3* induction. In such concerns, we decided to test *HIS3* expression directly by measuring the mRNA level. Fortunately, we had narrowed the number of candidates with strong phenotypes to thirty four, which is the amount feasible for Northern analyses.

Collaborating with Dave Almy in the lab, I grew different mutant strains along with the controls in YPD to log phase and then transferred the cells to SD with the supplement of 20mM 3-AT. After induction at 37°C for 6 hours, cells were harvested for RNA preparation. For each sample, 30µg of total RNA was used for Northern hybridization. The results are listed below.

Fig. 2. Northern analyses of the *bgr* candidates. The selected 34 candidates were divided into 3 sets. For each northern analysis, the strains indicated were grown to log phase and then transfered to SD media with 20mM 3-AT to induce *HIS3* transcription. The RNA isolation and northern hybridization were followed the procedure described before (7). Results from two independent inductions for each set of samples are presented. The results were quantified by PhosphoImager and the summarized results are shown as bar graph at bottom of each figure.

Set1











Set3

RNA analysis results indicate there are some false correlations between *HIS3* expression and *HIS3-lacZ* expression. However, 18 candidates repeatedly show the enhanced *HIS3* expression in both assays.

Sporulation and isolation of the mutations

EMS mutagenesis randomly introduces point mutations into yeast genome. Although the condition of EMS treatment is optimized to make most cells have only one hit with the mutagen, multi-mutations does happen inevitably. To distinguish the single mutation, spore analysis was performed for each candidate. The mutation strains were originally derived from a *MATa* gcn5 Δ cell with a replacement of *LEU2* gene by the gcn5EH gene, which provide an easy way to identify the gcn5 mutant by the Leu⁻ phenotype. After crossing with a wild type *MAT* α strain, the diploid strains carry the heterozygous of *bgr* alleles were subjected for sporulation. The spore analyses were performed by either random spore enrichment or tetrad- dissection. The isolated spores were patched on YPD plate to let cells growing for overnight then replica-plate to following plates:

- SC-Leu GCN5 genotype indicator
- SC-Ura HIS3-lacZ reporter indicator
- 3-AT *bgr* allele indicator

YPD plates pre-spread with 227a or 70a, for matting type test.

Phenotypes on each plate were recorded and listed in Table 2.

Mutant Number	Total number of Leu spores analyzed	3AT R:S*	<i>P</i> value for 2:2 segregation
#1	40	18:22	> 0.5
#2	53	25:28	> 0.7
#3	33	15:18	> 0.7
#4	25	11:14	> 0.5
#15	30	16:14	> 0.7
# 18	25	13:12	> 0.7
#29	29	20:9	<u><0.05</u>
#31	33	17:16	> 0.7
#32	236	119:117	> 0.9
#34	24	10:14	> 0.3
#35	161	81:80	> 0.95
#37	27	18:9	> 0.05
#38	195	94: 101	> 0.5
#52	210	115:95	> 0.1
#61	N/D^		
#68	221	110:111	> 0.95
#74	114	52:62	> 0.3
#79	243	109:124	> 0.3
#93	23	17:6	<u>< 0.05</u>
#98	204	104:100	> 0.7
#99	256	125:131	> 0.7
#102	242	123: 119	> 0.7
#103	26	18:8	<u>< 0.05</u>

 Table 2 Summary of Spore Analyses

Mutant Number	Total number of Leu spores analyzed	3AT R:S*	P value for 2:2 segregation
#105	175	90:85	> 0.7
#111	185	100:85	> 0.2
#112	209	79:130	<u>< 0.001</u>
#113	240	119:121	> 0.9
#115	236	125:111	> 0.3
#122	246	131:115	> 0.3
#132	33	23:10	<u>< 0.05</u>
#133	34	25:9	<u>< 0.01</u>
#134	38	30:8	<u>< 0.001</u>
#136	31	15:16	> 0.7
#137	235	123:112	> 0.3

* R: resistant; S: sensitive; ^ N/D: not determined; italic and underlined: rejected by Chi-Square test

By the statistical analyses of the above data, we noticed most of the mutations (27 out of 34) fulfill the hypothesis of 2:2 segregation for the 3-AT resistance phenotypes, which implies there is only one extra mutation besides gcn5E173H in these strains. For some of the candidates, like #133 and #134, which exhibit apparent differences for supporting the one mutation hypothesis, we think it's still early to make conclusion from them because we haven't obtained enough spores yet. The only candidate that is significant different is #112, which gives 79 3-AT resistant and 130 sensitive spores. The apparent deviation can not be explained the linkage between leu2::gcn5EH and the bgr allele, because that will make the spores with Leu⁻/3-AT^r dominate the population. Nor it can be simply explained by phenotypes require the existence of two mutations, since that will show an 1:3 segregation pattern in stead of 1:2. Before further evidence coming up, we hypothesis

that, there are two mutations in candidate #112, the lethality of one mutation is suppressed by the other to accomplish the *bgr* phenotypes.

Dominance Test

Dominant/recessive is an important feature of a mutation. Knowing the dominancy of the mutations will be helpful for understanding the nature of the mutation, as the dominant mutations are always gain-of-function mutations. Also, the dominant mutations and recessive mutations will be treated with different strategies for mutation identifications. Based on the above thinking, I did the dominance tests for the 18 candidates that repeatedly showed the suppression of *HIS3* expression (Figure 2). The mutants were backcrossed to the parental *gcn5* mutant strain. The resultant diploid strains contain two copies of *gcn5 E173H* allele and heterozygous at the *bgr* loci. The diploid strain will show *bgr* phenotypes (3-AT sensitive), it indicates that the mutation is recessive.

Fig. 3A Strategy of Dominance Test



Dominant	Recessive
#3	#52
#32	#74
#35	#98
#38	#103
#68	#111
#79	#115
#99	
#105	
#112	
#113	
#122	
#137	

Table 3 Summary of Dominance Test



Fig. 3. Dominance test. BGR candidates were backcrossed and the resultant diploid strains were grown in YPD media to log phase. The harvested cultures were 5-fold serial diluted and spotted on the SC-His plates with or without 20mM 3-AT. The pictures were taken after 3 days of incubation at 37°C. The results were repeated 3 times.

Complementation test

Complementation tests were done as described by Fasser and Winston, 1988 (3). The isolated recessive *bgr*⁻ mutants with *MATa* matting type were transformed with YCplac33, which contains *URA3* gene as selective marker. Similarly, the *bgr*⁻ alleles with *MATa* matting type were transformed with YCplac22 to introduce *TRP1* marker. Then the strains with the same matting type were grown as set of stripes on plates dropped out uracil or tryptophene respectively. Then the two sets of stripes with different matting types were replica-plated perpendicularly onto one YPD plate. After the incubation at 30°C for 6 hours, the grid of *MATa* and *MATa* mutants were replica-plated onto the plate in the absence of both uracil and tryptophene to select the diploid strains. The complementation groups were defined by 3-AT sensitivity test. The diploids with the mutation(s) at the different genes, will sensitive to 3-AT since the heterozygosity of the *bgr* genes exhibits the dominant wild type phenotypes.





Fig. 4. Complementation test. The recessive mutants with isolated *MATa* haploid and *MATa* haploid were matted to each other in pairwise. The resultant diploid cells were patched onto an YPD plate and grown for overnight. Then the patches were replica-plated to 3-AT plate and incubated at 37°C. The crossing with wild type strains were used as positive control. The diploid strains from backcrossing were also tested to ensure the recessive feature of the mutations. Self-crossing diploids are as expected to be resistant to 3-AT. However, neither 98a x 111 α nor 111a x 98 α grew well in the presence of 3-AT. Here "98a" represent the *MATa* isolation of EMS mutant #98.

The same experiments as shown in Fig. 4 were done or will be done for all the 6 recessive *bgr* mutants. So far, we identified at least two complementation groups, #98 and # 111. And the *MATa* form of #115 complement both #98 and #111, which indicates #115 mutation may represents another group of suppressors. Also the #52 and the #74 mutation are not in the same complementation group. Whether the #52 and #74 mutations overlap with #98 group or #111 group are still under investigating.

GCN5 deletion study

One group of expected suppressors is the mutations restore the HAT activity of Gcn5p. These mutations could be the reversal mutation of gcn5E173H, i.e. histidine 173 - to glutamic acid, or an extra mutation within or at other loci of the gcn5 gene that enhances the HAT activity. To identify such kind of mutations, we performed the *GCN5* deletion studies. By removing the entire open reading frame of gcn5, any factors altering the Gcn5 activity are eliminated. For instance, we got gcn5 deletion from 7 bgr candidates, which are #3, #35, #52, #68, #99, #102, and #103. The 3-AT test indicate all of them still possess the suppression power, which suggests these mutations indeed bypassed the requirement of Gcn5.

Future plan: mapping the bgr mutations

Other than finishing the above experiments, we are more interested in where do those mutations happen. For dominant and recessive mutation, we decide to apply different approaches to mapping the mutations.

To those dominant mutants, we will make yeast DNA libraries from those strains. The clones in the libraries contain the DNA fragments that contribute the BHR phenotype will rescue the 3-AT sensitivity phenotype after being transformed to the parent strain carrying the *gcn5* mutation. To those recessive mutants, a yeast genomic DNA library

will be transformed to the mutant strains. The clones that complement the *bgr* phenotypes will be sequenced to identify the mutated genes.

REFERENCES:

- Bannister, A. J., P. Zegerman, J. F. Partridge, E. A. Miska, J. O. Thomas, R. C. Allshire, and T. Kouzarides. 2001. Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. Nature 410:120-4.
- 2. Dhalluin, C., J. E. Carlson, L. Zeng, C. He, A. K. Aggarwal, and M. M. Zhou. 1999. Structure and ligand of a histone acetyltransferase bromodomain. Nature 399:491-6.
- 3. **Fassler, J. S., and F. Winston.** 1988. Isolation and analysis of a novel class of suppressor of Ty insertion mutations in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics **118**:203-12.
- 4. **Jacobs, S. A., and S. Khorasanizadeh.** 2002. Structure of HP1 chromodomain bound to a lysine 9-methylated histone H3 tail. Science **295:**2080-3.
- 5. Jacobson, R. H., A. G. Ladurner, D. S. King, and R. Tjian. 2000. Structure and function of a human TAFII250 double bromodomain module. Science 288:1422-5.
- 6. **Kuo, M. H., E. vom Baur, K. Struhl, and C. D. Allis.** 2000. Gcn4 activator targets Gcn5 histone acetyltransferase to specific promoters independently of transcription. Mol Cell **6**:1309-20.
- Li, H., S. Ilin, W. Wang, E. M. Duncan, J. Wysocka, C. D. Allis, and D. J. Patel. 2006. Molecular basis for site-specific read-out of histone H3K4me3 by the BPTF PHD finger of NURF. Nature 442:91-5.
- 8. Liu, Y., X. Xu, S. Singh-Rodriguez, Y. Zhao, and M. H. Kuo. 2005. Histone H3 Ser10 phosphorylation-independent function of Snf1 and Reg1 proteins rescues a gcn5- mutant in HIS3 expression. Mol Cell Biol **25**:10566-79.
- Lo, W. S., L. Duggan, N. C. Emre, R. Belotserkovskya, W. S. Lane, R. Shiekhattar, and S. L. Berger. 2001. Snf1--a histone kinase that works in concert with the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5 to regulate transcription. Science 293:1142-6.
- Nielsen, S. J., R. Schneider, U. M. Bauer, A. J. Bannister, A. Morrison, D. O'Carroll, R. Firestein, M. Cleary, T. Jenuwein, R. E. Herrera, and T. Kouzarides. 2001. Rb targets histone H3 methylation and HP1 to promoters. Nature 412:561-5.

- 11. Peters, A. H., J. E. Mermoud, D. O'Carroll, M. Pagani, D. Schweizer, N. Brockdorff, and T. Jenuwein. 2002. Histone H3 lysine 9 methylation is an epigenetic imprint of facultative heterochromatin. Nat Genet **30**:77-80.
- Shi, X., T. Hong, K. L. Walter, M. Ewalt, E. Michishita, T. Hung, D. Carney, P. Pena, F. Lan, M. R. Kaadige, N. Lacoste, C. Cayrou, F. Davrazou, A. Saha, B. R. Cairns, D. E. Ayer, T. G. Kutateladze, Y. Shi, J. Cote, K. F. Chua, and O. Gozani. 2006. ING2 PHD domain links histone H3 lysine 4 methylation to active gene repression. Nature 442:96-9.
- 13. Strahl, B. D., and C. D. Allis. 2000. The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403:41-5.
- 14. van Oevelen, C. J., H. A. van Teeffelen, F. J. van Werven, and H. T. Timmers. 2006. Snflp-dependent Spt-Ada-Gcn5-acetyltransferase (SAGA) recruitment and chromatin remodeling activities on the HXT2 and HXT4 promoters. J Biol Chem 281:4523-31.
- Wysocka, J., T. Swigut, H. Xiao, T. A. Milne, S. Y. Kwon, J. Landry, M. Kauer, A. J. Tackett, B. T. Chait, P. Badenhorst, C. Wu, and C. D. Allis. 2006. A PHD finger of NURF couples histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation with chromatin remodelling. Nature 442:86-90.